
Agenda

Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday 14 June 2017

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: St Aldate's Room, Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Jennifer Thompson, Committee Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 252275
Email: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the Contact Officer 
know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. 
Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, 
St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

Scrutiny Committee
Membership

Chair

Vice Chair

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan
Councillor Jamila Begum Azad
Councillor Nigel Chapman
Councillor Steven Curran
Councillor James Fry
Councillor Andrew Gant
Councillor David Henwood
Councillor Mark Ladbrooke
Councillor Ben Lloyd-Shogbesan
Councillor Mark Lygo
Councillor Jennifer Pegg
Councillor David Thomas

The quorum for this Committee is four, substitutes are permitted.



AGENDA

Pages

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  

3  REPORT BACK ON RECOMMENDATIONS 
  

9 - 20

Contact Officer: Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer, 
Tel 01865 252230, abrown2@oxford.gov.uk

Background Information
Scrutiny is empowered to make recommendations to the City 
Executive Board, which is obliged to respond in writing. 
Why is it on the agenda?
For the Committee to note and comment on recent executive 
responses to Scrutiny recommendations.  Since the last meeting the 
Board has responded to recommendations on the following items:

 Fusion Lifestyle’s 2017/18 Annual Service Plan
 South Oxford Science Village Planning Application
 The Council’s use of PSPO powers
 The local impacts of Brexit

Who has been invited to comment?
 Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer

4  PLANNING AND REGULATORY SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
6.05 PM 30 MINS 

21 - 30

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee commissioned a report from the Head of 
Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory Services on the 
progress of her service improvement plan.  The Committee 
previously considered a progress update in June 2016.
Why is it on the agenda?
For the Scrutiny Committee to consider the service improvement 
plan for Planning and Regulatory Services.  The Committee is asked 
to note and comment on the report and may also wish to agree 
recommendations to put to the City Executive Board on 18 July 
2017. 
Who has been invited to comment?
 Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning and 

Regulatory; 
 Patsy Dell, Head of Planning, Sustainable Development and 

Regulatory Services.

mailto:abrown2@oxford.gov.uk


5  OXFORD RAILWAY STATION SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT (SPD) 

6.35 PM 30 MINS 

31 - 140

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee has asked for this item to be included on the 
agenda for pre-decision scrutiny.
Why is it on the agenda?
The City Executive Board on 20 June 2017 will be asked to agree 
the Oxford Railway Station SPD for public consultation. This is an 
opportunity for the Scrutiny Committee to make recommendations to 
the City Executive Board.
Who has been invited to comment?
 Councillor Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning and 

Regulatory Services;
 Fiona Piercy, Assistant Chief Executive for Regeneration and 

Economy
 Tom Morris, Principal Economic Development and Spatial Officer

6  COMMUNITY LEASES 
7.05 PM 30 MINS 

141 - 154

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee has asked for this item to be included on the 
agenda for pre-decision scrutiny.
Why is it on the agenda?
The City Executive Board on 20 June 2017 will be asked to agree 
the process and criteria for awarding a community lease and 
approve terms for new leases for Bullingdon, Headington, 
Risinghurst and Florence Park Community Centres.  This is an 
opportunity for the Scrutiny Committee to make recommendations to 
the City Executive Board.
Who has been invited to comment?
 Councillor Dee Sinclair, Board Member for Community Services;
 Ian Brooke, Head of Community Services.

7  SAFEGUARDING REPORT 2017/18 
7.35 PM 25 MINS 

155 - 174

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee has asked for this item to be included on the 
agenda for pre-decision scrutiny.
Why is it on the agenda?
The City Executive Board on 20 June 2017 will be asked to agree 
the safeguarding action plan 2017/18. This is an opportunity for the 
Scrutiny Committee to make recommendations to the City Executive 
Board.
Who has been invited to comment?
 Councillor Hayes, Board Member for Community Safety;
 Val Johnson, Policy and Partnership Manager
 Daniella Granito, Safeguarding Coordinator



8  PERFORMANCE MONITORING - QUARTER 4 
8.00 PM 15 MINS 

175 - 180

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee has a role in monitoring Council 
performance and quarterly reports are provided on a set of selected 
corporate and service performance indicators.
Why is it on the agenda?
For the Committee to note and comment on Council performance at 
the end of 2016/17 quarter 4 (31 March 2017).

Councillor Fry was the Committee’s lead member for performance 
monitoring in 2016/17.  It is proposed that Cllr Fry continues as lead 
member in 2017/18.

Since the previous report, Councillor Fry and Councillor Chapman 
met with the Business Development and Support Manager to discuss 
performance monitoring and may wish to update the Committee on 
that meeting.
Who has been invited to comment?
 Councillor James Fry;
 Councillor Nigel Chapman.

9  SCRUTINY OPERATING PRINCIPLES 2017/18 
8.15 PM  

181 - 184

Background Information
The Council’s Constitution sets out the role and procedures of the 
Scrutiny Committee but is not prescriptive about how the scrutiny 
function will be organised and managed.  Previous Committees have 
agreed operating principles to govern key aspects of the scrutiny 
function that are not covered by the Constitution.
Why is it on the agenda?
For the Scrutiny Committee to agree a set of operating principles for 
the 2017/18 Council year which will provide clarity as to how the 
scrutiny function will be organised and managed.  
Who has been invited to comment?
 Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer

 

10  PREPARATION OF THE 2017/18 SCRUTINY WORK PLAN   185 - 194

Background Information
The Scrutiny Committee operates within a work plan which is agreed 
at the start of the Council year based on suggestions from members 
and senior officers.  These suggestions are listed in the paperwork 
and have been rated by the Scrutiny Officer against criteria 
previously used by the Committee.

The work plan will be reviewed at every meeting so that it can be 
adjusted to reflect the wishes of the Committee and take account of 



any changes to the latest Forward Plan (which outlines decisions to 
be taken by the City Executive Board or Council).
Why is it on the agenda?
For the Committee to make decisions in respect of its work plan for 
the 2017/18 Council year.

Recommendation(s): That the Scrutiny Committee resolves to:
1. Re-establish the Finance and Housing standing panels.
2. Re-establish the Shareholder Panel as a third standing panel to 

scrutinise issues and decisions relating to Council-owned 
companies.  

3. Appoint to the panels as follows:
a) Finance (4 members): Councillors Fry, Landell Mills, 

Simmons & Taylor.
b) Housing (6 members): Councillors Goff, Henwood, Pegg, 

Sanders, Thomas & Wade.
c) Shareholder (5 members): Councillors Chapman, Fry, Gant, 

Henwood & Simmons.
4. Include all suggested items rated 6 or higher in the work plan and 

agree any other items to be included.
5. Agree two priority topics for review in 2017/18 including: 

a) A Finance Panel review of the Council’s annual budget and 
medium term financial plan (December to February)

b) One other review topic (August to December), which could be 
one of the following suggestions: child obesity, Disabled 
Students’ Allowance, restorative justice, impacts of the 
Westgate Centre. 

6. Note the meeting agenda schedules for July 2017.
Who has been invited to comment?
 Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer 

11  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
  

Meetings are scheduled as followed:

Scrutiny Committee

4 July 2017
31 July 2017 – Provisional
7 September 2017

All meetings start at 6.00 pm.

Standing Panels
Finance Standing Panel – 6 July 2017, 5.30pm
Housing Standing Panel – 10 July 2017, 5.00pm
Shareholder Standing Panel – 13 July 2017, 5.30pm

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0


DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife 
or as if they were civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny recommendation tracker 2016/17 - July 2016

Total recommendations: 47
Agreed 31 66%
Agreed in part 5 11%
Not agreed 10 21%
Awaiting response 1 2%

14 JULY 2016 CITY EXECUTIVE BOARD

Report of the Equality and Diversity Review Group:
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That the Council undertakes comprehensive accessibility 
audits of its employment practices, premises, public-facing 
information (for instance, on the website) and externally 
available application forms, at appropriate intervals.  
Consideration should be given to how frequently these 
audits should take place at each workplace premises and to 
the setting of maximum intervals between audits.

N Accessibility audits were previously undertaken periodically on the 
Council’s employment premises when we had a dedicated Equalities 
Officer. More typically now, officers in various service areas provide 
expertise (e.g. Building Control) when changes are being introduced. 
We also get external advice as accessibility issues arise e.g. what 
type of devices are needed for people with hearing difficulties to 
participate more effectively in meetings, use the phone, etc. There is 
also a dedicated budget to fund specific equipment designed to assist 
with accessibility. Oversight is provided by colleagues in Human 
Resources to ensure we keep abreast of accessibility developments. 
Given this approach a regular audit would require additional 
resourcing and cost and is unlikely to add further value

2. That the Council reviews recruitment branding to better 
target any vacancies at under-represented groups and 
young people, including utilising settings or channels that 
are less traditional to local government but more inclusive.

In part All jobs are advertised using a range of media sources, including Job 
Centre Plus, Social Media and Job Boards.  Increasingly we run 
recruitment events which prove to be a successful way of reaching out 
to the wider community. Dependant on the role traditional print media 
and community magazines have also been used, but use of these is 
dependent on publication dates and cost.  We are doing more work 
with the Communication Team to look at how we can improve 
employer branding and our use of social media. Focus groups in the 
local community were used to help identify how we could become 
more attractive as an employer to under-represented groups. 

9

A
genda Item

 3



3. That the Council continues to promote itself as an 
inclusive employer through outreach activities including 
continuing to hold open recruitment sessions in community 
settings, reaching out in schools through the Business in 
the Community partnership, and attending job fairs and 
community meetings.

Y This work is already in place and continuing. We have just held a 
second recruitment roadshow this year and for the first time this was 
held in one of our Community Centres.  We aim to continue to run 
these events, however there is a significant cost in time and money to 
organise, promote and run these events and there is no budget in 
place to support this.  The organisation will also continue to attend 
local job fairs as appropriate. The successful mentoring programme 
with Cherwell School continues and we are currently exploring 
whether to open this out to more educational establishments.

4. That the Council investigates opportunities to advertise 
multiple vacancies in community settings at low cost, which 
could include making use of community newspaper social 
media platforms, as well as community newspapers and, as 
long as those running them are willing, community centres.

Y As stated above we advertise in community magazines but doing so 
depends on publication dates and costs. The infrequency of 
publication can be an issue. The HR Team will familiarise themselves 
with publications/dates/costs and work proactively with recruiting 
managers to make better use of this media. The HR Manager will also 
explore whether Community Centres would be willing to advertise our 
job vacancies on notice boards, etc.

5. That the Council makes use of its assets to promote itself 
as an inclusive employer, including Streetscene vehicles.

N This is a good way of advertising but it is very expensive (e.g. 
advertising on a refuse lorry runs to several thousand pounds per 
campaign). With no budget for this unfortunately the approach is cost 
prohibitive.

6. That the Council reviews its Talent Management 
Framework and researches whether the inclusion of a more 
targeted talent management programme would appeal to 
under-represented groups, as well as what such a 
programme would include.

Y This is a project that the OD team will be commencing in July 2016.

7. That the Council emphasises the value it attaches to the 
ability to speak a second language by including this skill in 
the desirable criteria for selected customer-facing job 
vacancies, such as Tenancy Management Officers and 
Customer Service Officers.

Y The HR Manager will work with recruiting managers to recommend 
inclusion of a second language as a desirable criterion where 
appropriate.

8. That the Council undertakes a workforce skills audit with 
the purpose of identifying priority competencies and hidden 
talents that aren’t currently being utilised but would benefit 
to the organisation, including the ability to speak a second 
language.

N The Council has a good understanding of the skills of its workforce 
locally within services. However undertaking a large skills audit would 
be a significant piece of work; to determine what data needs 
collecting, actually collecting it and not least maintaining it. The 
benefits of doing such a large piece of work are unlikely to outweigh 

10



the cost when (for example) we already know who to call on for the 
ability to speak a second language when required. 

9. That the Council considers the feasibility of having staff 
who are known to speak a second language ‘on call’ to 
communicate with customers who speak little or no English, 
and whether these staff could be rewarded with a small pay 
supplement.

N It is better to have an independent translator in these situations. The 
language line is how we currently provide this service, however there 
may be more technical solutions which we could explore.  We would 
not recommend using employees whose fluency/competency in 
speaking another language would be unknown. 

10. That all Council employees are reminded of the 
Council’s Fair Employment Statement and employment 
policies at least annually.  These documents should also be 
prominent and easily accessible on the Council’s Intranet.

Y The HR and OD Team will be reviewing the intranet content that they 
hold this year to make policies more accessible. HR Matters (a 
monthly brief to all managers) is also be used to promote policies. 

11. That all Council employees  are at least annually made 
aware of their responsibility to challenge discriminatory 
language and behaviour in the workplace, wherever that 
may be, as matter of course.

Y Every year each employee undertakes a self-assessment on how they 
position themselves against the Council’s values and behaviours – 
one of which is about valuing diversity. This self-assessment forms the 
basis of a discussion with the manager and 3 development areas are 
agreed for the year based on the values. This gives an opportunity to 
discuss discriminatory language and behaviours. 

12. That unconscious bias training is provided to the 
Council’s most frequent recruiting managers and HR 
Business Partners.  Ideally this would be followed up with 
annual refresher courses in order to maintain awareness 
and compliance with good practice.

Y The OD Team will be designing a workshop around this in 16/17 and 
this can be offered to recruiting managers.  The HR Team already 
provide recruitment training to managers and this includes information 
on unconscious bias.

13. That the Council identifies one or more Diversity 
Champions at senior levels who would help to embed 
equality in the workplace.  These Diversity Champions 
could lead on communicating the importance of diversity 
and monitoring within the organisation and co-ordinate a 
calendar of activities in support of celebrations such as 
Black History Month, Pride, etc.

N The OD Team have been trying to make diversity part of business as 
usual. Having Champions would also require additional resource to 
manage and coordinate.
The OD Team could however work more closely with the culture team 
to promote events and activities. 

14. That the Council identifies an elected member to 
oversee and externally represent the Council’s equality and 
diversity work.

Y This could be the responsibility of the portfolio holder that covers 
Equalities and Diversity, or other chosen elected member.

15. That the Council seeks to obtain better value from its 
status as a Stonewall Diversity Champion and, failing that, 
considers whether the small membership fee would be 

Referred 
back to 
Scrutiny

Funding would be better directed on more practical activity such as 
the unconscious bias training. As such the proposal is not to renew 
the Stonewall Diversity Champion accreditation

11



better invested in other means of tackling discrimination.
16. That the Council continues to ask employees to review 
and complete their personal details, including sensitive 
information such as their sexual orientation, on at least an 
annual basis, as well as continuing to target identified data 
gaps.  Explanation should be provided as to why sensitive 
personal information is held by the organisation and the 
wider benefits of doing so.

In part This is regularly promoted by the HR Team and employees are 
encouraged to review and update their details.  In May 2016 
managers were asked to remind staff about this matter. We will 
continue to promote this and will do more this year to focus on missing 
information.  Some employees actively choose not to record this 
information. 

17. That the Council sets targets for increasing disclosure 
rates to reduce data gaps for sexual orientation, disability 
and ethnicity over a fixed period of time (e.g. eighteen 
months).

N Targets would not assist with reducing data gaps.  Whilst the HR 
Team can continue to encourage and promote disclosure of this 
information, some people actively choose not to provide this 
information, which is their right to do so. 

18. That the Council maintains a watching brief on good 
practice in workforce equalities monitoring and continues to 
keep its own monitoring arrangements under review, 
including how questions are asked and the language used 
as well as the continued inclusion of a ‘prefer not to say’ 
option.

Y The Organisational Development & Learning Manager ensures the 
OD team keep up to date with this.

19. That consideration is given to whether the sensitive 
personal data of applicants and employees requested and 
held by the Council should be more inclusive of transgender 
people.  For example, the Council should consider 
consulting with appropriate individuals and Trade Unions on 
adding an appropriately worded gender identity field to its 
monitoring forms, with the clear purpose of building equality 
and identifying discrimination.

In part We will discuss with trade union colleagues and clarify best practice in 
this area. 

20. That the Council adopts gender-neutral terms on forms 
as part of its ongoing work to be as inclusive as possible, 
for instance, giving consideration to adding the title Mx in 
addition to the more established gendered titles such as Mr, 
Mrs, Miss and Ms.

Y Subject to the HR software being able to include the addition of the 
title Mx without significant costs then this option could be added.  The 
requirement to record a title could also be made optional rather than 
mandatory, again depending on the ability to change the software.  

21. That consideration is given to whether there is merit in 
phasing out the use of titles on Council forms and 
databases over the medium term.

N We do not consider that we should take away the ability for people to 
use a title on a job application, although it could be made optional.

12



Apprentices:
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That consideration is given to extending the eligibility 
criteria for apprenticeships beyond the OX1 to OX4 
postcode areas but with a preference for appointing 
applicants with these postcodes.

Y The eligibility criteria is important as it gives opportunities to 
candidates living in the city and needing support - this will still be a 
priority. However given the significant increase in the number of 
apprenticeships being recruited and to ensure a rich pool of 
candidates the extension of postcodes was trialled this year with 
success and this will form part of future campaigns. 

2. That consideration is given to making apprenticeship 
opportunities available to applicants aged 20-24.  

Y  This will allow the Council to better target NEETs and facilitate a route 
into work for early career changers and women entering work for the 
first time (where having and managing families might have interrupted 
school/ college studies and reduced career opportunities).

3. That a more co-ordinated approach is taken in schools to 
raise awareness of apprenticeship and work experience 
opportunities and promote them to pupils and their parents.

Y The Business in the Community partnership work over the past two 
years has enabled the Council to work with schools to deliver  
apprenticeship workshops, talks for specific school year groups, 
career workshops and a city wide apprenticeship “Earn while you 
Learn” awareness raising event (attended by over 100 students who 
had declared an interest in apprenticeships). The next stage of a more 
co-ordinated approach will feature a series of parents evening 
workshops with a presentation on local labour market information put 
together by our economic development team. These colleagues will 
also be presenting at an “Educating the Educators” BiTC event on July 
13th geared at informing careers advisors and teachers with work 
experience/ careers responsibilities.  The Council will further develop 
its work experience offering in consultation with schools during the 
summer and early Autumn

4. That a particular focus is put on encouraging Black and 
Minority Ethnic pupils to take up work experience 
placements and apprenticeships.

Y Some of our BME former apprentices have successfully acted as 
ambassadors to promote their experience back in schools and various 
events. It’s encouraging that 20% of our recent apprenticeship cohort 
applicants are from BME backgrounds. We will continue this 
ambassador approach and work with schools to look for other ways to 
engage with young BME and other pupils as potential future 
apprentices.  

13



Work experience placements work well in tackling barriers to work, 
e.g. qualifications, job interviews, breaking down employer 
stereotypes, english as a second language or wider access to support 
including careers advice. We will do more with schools to ensure an 
appealing work experience programme is in place attracting a diverse 
range of candidates. 

5. That the Council links in with social housing providers 
and higher education colleges in order to engage with hard 
to reach groups.

N The Council has  an agreement in place with Activate Learning;   they 
promote and place our apprenticeship vacancies on the National 
Apprenticeship website and we signpost unsuccessful applicants to 
them for advice and guidance on alternative options.

6. That the Council considers what can be learnt from the 
Change 100 internship programme, including their 
advertising and social media campaigns.

Y Whilst the Council took the decision not to engage with the Change 
100 programme on the basis it felt it didn’t represent value for money, 
we will explore what we can learn from their advertising and media 
campaigns to better engage with disabled students. For this group and 
the wider cohort we can use social media more effectively to raise 
interest in work experience and apprenticeships.

7. That further consideration is given to defining and 
promoting the Council’s brand and offer to prospective 
apprentices, including in terms of pay rates and career 
progression opportunities.

In part Wage rates are informed by the national apprenticeship picture, the 
local economy, the cost of living in Oxford and what is affordable in 
order to recruit the maximum number of apprenticeships. Our recent 
campaign was the most successful yet with over 170 applicants so the 
financial offer seems reasonable. Part of the strategy is to do more 
workforce planning so that the apprenticeship leads to a permanent 
job wherever possible. Our track record is good in achieving this but in 
hiring more apprentices we need to manage the succession planning 
more effectively.

We have developed the apprentice webpages and uploaded a series 
of films where apprentices tell their stories (led by direct local market 
research into what applicants wanted) and believe that this has 
improved the profile of Council apprenticeships. However effective 
communication needs to ‘speak’ to potential applicants in the 
language they understand and through the right method so we will 
work with our internal communications and Youth Ambition teams to 
ensure we are making best use of tools such as social media and 

14



video to connect with the widest audience.

8. That the Council seeks to influence Oxfordshire Skills 
Board to do more to promote apprenticeship opportunities.

N This is already being done through the input of leading Councillors, 
BiTC and other local business forums and we would anticipate that 
this leadership role would continue.

9. That the Council keeps the details of the Enterprise Bill 
under review and makes appropriate plans to mitigate its 
impacts, including the Apprenticeship Levy and the 
apprenticeship start targets.

Y We are planning how to manage the Apprenticeship Levy spend in 
order to maximise its impact including how we can provide accredited 
training internally as well as work with other providers. More details 
are emerging regarding apprenticeship start targets which at this 
stage is thought to mean 28 new apprenticeship starts each year. This 
would need some careful workforce planning giving the length of the 
apprenticeships e.g. 2 – 4 years and new cohorts potentially starting 
each year. We will report back to Members in the Autumn as more 
details emerge. 

Fusion Lifestyle’s 2016/17 Service Plan:
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That the Council encourages and seeks to facilitate 
stronger user representation on the Leisure Partnership 
Board, including by varying meeting times if required.

Y Current stakeholder groups represented at Leisure Partnership Board 
include Younger and Older People, Public Health, Early Intervention 
and Customers. Fusion have been tasked to increase attendance by 
users. 

The meeting times have been set following a doodle poll with 
attendees, although we are very happy to check again and set the 
meeting at the time that will ensure the best attendance.

2. That the Council encourages the formation of user 
groups at the remaining Leisure Centres and considers how 
these user groups could link in with the Leisure Partnership 
Board, perhaps with each user group having a 
representative on the Board.

Y Ferry Leisure Centre and Hinksey Outdoor Pool both have regular or 
seasonal user group meetings and we have from Fusion a 2016/17 
timetable of dates and times for all facilities. Fusion are looking to 
encourage representation by customers.

3. That the Council takes further steps to understand why 
the numbers of swimming visits have declined amongst 
some target groups and challenges Fusion Lifestyle to set a 

Y Nationally there is a picture of general decline in participation of 
swimming. Officers continue to work with the Amateur Swimming 
Society to understand the reason for this and some target groups in 

15



more ambitious target for increasing swimming visits by 
people over the age of 60 in 2016/17.

Oxford are bucking the trend being used a good practice examples.  
Swimming visits have increased by the following amounts since 
2013/14:

Fusion Swim School           156% 
Schools Swimming             92% 
Casual Swims                     69% 

We will continue to work to increase participation, with an increased 
focus on the over 60s.

4. That further consideration is given to the case for and 
expected impacts of a proposal to introduce reduced non-
concessionary membership fees at less well used leisure 
centres.

Y Customer feedback and our experience tells us that we need to avoid 
overly complicating our price structures. 

Fusion are though currently reviewing the membership offer within 
Oxford facilities, with 2017/18 fees and charges an agenda item at the 
July 2016 Leisure Partnership Board. This time line supports inclusion 
of any proposals in the Councils wider 2017/18 budget consultation 
process.

It is important to bear in mind that all the centres are well used at peak 
times, and the greatest benefit to increase participation is to 
encourage more off peak usage which is detailed in the city’s Leisure 
& Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020

Will be pleased to give this further consideration within the review of 
fees and charges to ensure we are continually looking to remain 
competitive.

We do continually monitor prices to ensure they are competitive, 
inclusive and provide value for money.  

5. That benchmarking on performance, participation and 
price is undertaken with the wider market, including the 
private sector, not just with neighbouring local authorities.

Y Fees and charges and membership offer benchmarking is compared 
across other:
 Local districts
 Fusion Lifestyle contracts
 National comparators where they have similar centres (i.e. Exeter, 

Preston, Rushmoor, Runnymede)

16



Further benchmarking on performance, participation and price is 
undertaken as part of the UK quality award scheme for sport and 
leisure QUEST. As part of this process facilities engage with the 
partnership approach of an industry National Bench Marking Service, 
which provides critical data on the performance our leisure facilities 
such as access, finance, utilisation and satisfaction. This includes 
facilities run by council’s, trusts and private operators.

6. That further consideration is given to the idea of 
introducing gym-only membership options, perhaps on a 
limited trial basis.

Y Please see our response to recommendation 4.

7. That consideration is given to the priority order of the five 
key strategic objectives for 2016/17.

N As there are only five strategic objectives we do not feel they need to 
be ranked.

Grant Allocations – Monitoring report
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That consideration is given to how to quantify the social 
value achieved from the different grant programmes for 
community and voluntary organisations and to the inclusion 
of a measure of social value in future grant monitoring 
reports.

Y This is an aspiration we are working towards, and I am also aware that 
there are many people working and volunteering in the community 
sector, and in particular in our community centres, who are keen for us 
to be able to quantify their work in their neighbourhoods.

We do though need to be very mindful around how much time and 
resources is expended by our staff which could be spent actually 
working with and supporting community and voluntary groups.

2. That consideration is given to whether and how the 
Council could better integrate its grant programmes for 
community and voluntary organisations with related aspects 
of service delivery, with a view to focusing resources as 
effectively as possible.

Y We will accept the second recommendation in principle, and identify 
examples of where we are already attempting this, for example, our 
financial inclusion work, and think about how this learning can be 
transferred to other policy areas.

Private Sector Housing Policy (Housing Panel):
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That careful thought is given to future public 
consultations on private sector housing interventions and 
that members are specifically invited to comment on the 

Y I welcome the useful discussion of alternative approaches to 
consultation that took place at the Scrutiny Panel, and which led to 
this recommendation. The next steps towards the introduction of a 

17



range and style of any consultations. PRS licensing scheme will necessarily involve very widespread 
consultation with the landlord community and with tenants, as well as 
the general public.  I will ensure, with the appropriate Board members, 
that a very thorough plan is drawn up in advance of the next stage in 
the process.

Lord Mayor’s Deposit Guarantee Scheme (Housing Panel):
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
That after the pilot year a review of the enhanced offer 
including expenditure, the number of clients assisted and 
refusal reasons is reported to the City Executive Board.

Y Agreed – this was the intention.

16 JUNE 2016 CITY EXECUTIVE BOARD

Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report 2015-16:
Recommendation Agreed? Comment
1. That anonymised case study examples of safeguarding 
referrals made by the Council are provided to elected 
members.

Y This is part of the safeguarding training that is provided for Members.

2. That the Council continues to work positively and 
proactively through partnerships to raise awareness of 
potential safeguarding issues in the City and push for action 
to investigate and address these issues, including, for 
example, high levels of pupil absence at particular schools.

Y The City Council is represented on the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Children’s Board and the Oxfordshire Children’s Trust where these 
issues are discussed.  It also leads on the Community Safety 
Partnership which is another forum for these issues.

3. That the Council continues to request feedback from 
partner agencies following safeguarding referrals.

Y The Council relies on data from the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
and will continue to seek feedback from partner agencies on how 
referrals are progressing. However, the Council’s role is not to 
investigate 

4. That the Council makes representations to government 
through appropriate channels about the need for more 
rigorous safeguarding arrangements for language school 
students aged under 18 living in private sector 
accommodation.

In part This can only happen once multi agency work has been done on 
language schools in Oxford. (see recommendation 5, below) If this 
work raises concerns that should be raised at a national level, 
representations to government should be made. 

18



5. That potential safeguarding issues around language 
school students aged under 18 living in private sector 
accommodation should be considered and discussed with 
language schools, the police and other relevant partner 
agencies.

Y This work is already underway.

6. That Safeguarding training provided to the Council’s 
HMO and Private Sector Enforcement Teams should cover 
how to recognise and report potential safeguarding issues 
around language school students aged under 18 living in 
the private sector.

Y The Council’s HMO and Private Sector Enforcement Teams are 
trained in safeguarding both children and adults. The issues relating 
specifically to language school students including a case study can be 
added to the training that is in place. 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: Scrutiny Committee
Date: 12 June 2017
Report of: Head of Planning, Sustainable Development & 

Regulatory Services
Title of Report: Update report on progress with Planning and 

Regulatory Service Plan and Improvement Plan 
2016/17
Summary and recommendations

Purpose of report: To update the Scrutiny Committee on progress with the 
2016/17 Service Plan and Service Improvement Plans for 
Planning and Regulatory Services

Key decision: No
Executive Board 
Member:

Cllr Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning & 
Regulatory

Corporate Priority: An efficient and effective Council
Policy Framework: Corporate Plan

Recommendation(s):That the Scrutiny Committee resolves to:

1. Note and comment on the report 

Appendices
Appendix 1 Planning and Regulatory Service Improvement Plan 2016 

– 2017
Appendix 2 Development Management Performance overview

Introduction and background 

1. Scrutiny Committee received a report in June 2016 on the new Planning and 
Regulatory Service Plan 2016. A service improvement plan had also been 
developed and this report provides feedback on progress with service 
improvements over the last 12 months.

Planning and Regulatory Service Overview

2 The Planning and Regulatory Services (P&R) includes a range of statutory and 
discretionary frontline services that directly or indirectly contribute to the 
Council’s corporate ambition to make Oxford a world-class city for all its citizens.   

21

Agenda Item 4



Some parts of the service are dictated by mandatory national legislative 
requirements and performance targets whereas others are discretionary and 
locally set. 

3 The services help to ensure the health and wellbeing of residents and visitors; 
the provision of housing, employment, social and recreational facilities to provide 
a strong and sustainable economy and active communities whilst protecting and 
improving the natural and built environment of the city.   

4 The service was restructured in 2016 and comprises the following teams 
(functions summarised here): 

5 Business Regulation Team – this team’s purpose is to protect public health and 
the environment through regulation and includes food safety, investigation and 
control of case of infectious disease;  control of noise and other nuisance from 
commercial premises, regulation of street trading; environmental permitting of 
nearly 30 polluting industries and processes and coordination of the Oxford City 
Safety Advisory Group. 

6 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Enforcement Team - helps to manage 
and improve the health, safety and welfare of residents living in HMOs. 

7 Private Sector Safety and combined Planning and Private Sector Safety 
Enforcement Team – the primary role is the protection of the health and 
wellbeing of those who live in the private rented sector and the investigation and 
enforcement of breaches of planning control.  

8 Home Improvement Agency – the maintenance, improvement or adaptation of 
housing for the over 60s, the disabled and those with long term illnesses through 
the provision of repairs, minor works, improvement loans, grants and key safe 
installations.   

9 Building Control – the purpose is to ensure the health and safety of persons in or 
around buildings, energy conservation and access to buildings for all persons. 

10 Planning Policy, Design, Heritage and Trees – prepares the statutory planning 
policy framework (new Local Plan) which guides development in Oxford in order 
that the area’s housing, employment, social needs are met whilst preserving 
and/or improving the quality, character and appearance of the city. Also provides 
specialist advice and expertise on urban design, in respect of the historic 
environment, trees, archaeology. Also implements the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) which secures developer contributions towards infrastructure in order 
to address the needs of new development.    

11 Development Management – implements the Council’s policy set out in the 
development plan and manages development within the City by assessing and 
determining a wide variety of planning and other applications and consents.  

12 The Planning and Regulatory Service departmental restructure that took place in 
2016 was looking to address a number of key issues and drivers for change and 
to put in place changes needed to move the service forward to meet the 
council’s ambition for it to be a national best in class performer. The service 
improvement plan priorities flowed from these drivers for change and ambitions.

13 The drivers for change were identified as:

22



 To put in place the service structure and leadership to deliver the councils 
ambition for a top performing, high quality national exemplar planning and 
regulatory service. 

 To improve current customer confidence in some key parts of the planning 
service and deliver customer service excellence in the performance, 
productivity, resilience, quality, value for money and customer experience of 
the planning development management function 

 To address current recruitment and retention issues within some key roles, 
 To enhance the specialist skills and experience supporting the planning 

functions, particularly adding urban design capacity, skills and experience, 
 To improve resilience and capacity in the enforcement functions, developing 

a single focussed enforcement team across the planning and regulatory 
service, as part of the Private Sector Safety team

 To increase focus on the delivery of key action plans and specific 
improvement projects across the service

 To increase service resilience through appropriate external funding models 
such as direct developer funding and Planning Performance Agreements;

 To improve the current resilience and sustainability of the Building Control 
(BC) function, consolidate the business offer and create an agreed and 
sustainable BC service business model for the future

Progress on implementation of the Service Improvement Plan

14 The 2016 service improvement plan has helped focus the service on the actions 
that were needed to deliver desired change and improvement. The final ‘update’ 
column in the table at Appendix A provides a picture of progress across a range 
of agreed actions that were endorsed by Scrutiny Committee last year. Overall 
significant progress has been made in the delivery and implementation of the 
service improvement plan. In summary there has been:

o Implementation of the service restructure
o Significant recruitment of permanent staff into key posts, reduction in use 

of use of agency staff and stabilisation of teams in a number of critical 
service areas

o The Best in Class ambition has been communicated to all staff and 
engagement on delivery of that ambition is in place

o ISO9001 and Customer Service Excellent accreditations were awarded in 
2015 and 2016

o Focus group feedback sessions were held with members, service users 
and staff in summer 2016

o New customer/service user groups have been set up in planning – the 
Planning Service User Group and Planning Agents Forum

o Member development was provided 2016, new member training and 
development programme in place in 2017

o A new contract for the Oxford Design Review Panel is under negotiation
o Improvement actions and changes in Development Management (DM) 

have been delivered, DM performance has and continues to improve 
meeting and exceeding government performance targets – Appendix B 
shows performance over the last 12 months

23



o Career Grades have been developed and are in place in a number of 
service teams, enabling progression for staff as they gain experience 
within the council, supporting improved staff retention

o Five Apprentice posts have been created in the service (including four 
graduate planner apprentice posts) and recruited to in October 2016 

o The reputation of Oxford City Council as an employer of choice for staff 
has being strengthened 

o Service Income targets have been resolved in the 17/18 budget working 
cycle

o New combined enforcement and public sector safety team has been 
created, greater support and resilience for enforcement function has been 
secured, the back log of enforcement work has been reduced and a more 
responsive approach to planning enforcement is in place. The new Senior 
Planning Enforcement Officer recruitment was successful

o New planning enforcement service standards and operating procedures 
have been approved by the Executive Councillor

o New ICT systems are being procured in the regulatory service area - 
Rock time and Enterprise workflow has been implemented in 
Development Management

15 The area where progress has been slower is with Building Control and the 
service has struggled with recruitment in this area. There is a very competitive 
market for building control staff at the moment and appointing permanent staff 
and good quality contractors is has been difficult. Long term sickness absence 
has also impacted upon progress in moving the desired service changes 
forward. Permanent recruitment of staff to the service will be the focus over 
coming months.

16 The 2016 – 17 service plan and draft service improvement plan were structured 
around delivering the key outcomes expected from the service and its 
restructure. This years’ service plan builds on that progress and the next steps in 
the journey to delivering the councils ambition for a best in class service.

17 Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the update report and to provide any 
feedback. 

Report author Patsy Dell

Job title Head of Planning, Sustainable Development 
and Regulatory Services

Service area or department Planning, Sustainable Development and 
Regulatory Services

Telephone 01865 252356  
e-mail pdell@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

24



Serrvice Improvement Plan Update
Service 
Improvement 
Area

Service 
Improvement 
Action

Action, Targets or Milestones Team and Action 
Owner

Notes on progress at May 2017

Service  Leadership  Selection process for Service Managers 
against revised job descriptions April 2016. 

 Revised Job descriptions for Team Leaders 
and other roles and recruitment to vacancies

Head of Service  - 
Patsy Dell

 New head of Service in post
 All Service Managers in post with new job descriptions
 Team Leaders in post in Development Management, 

Recruitment to take place for Design, Heritage and Trees 
 Sustainable Development part of wider service from April 

2017

Service 
Restructure 
Actions

Best in Class (BiC) 
service ambition and 
direction of travel

All Service teams developing team improvement 
plans setting out what BiC looks like for that 
service area: 
 External BiC service providers will be 

identified and comparative benchmarking 
undertaken;

 Teams to audit themselves against BiC and 
identify actions to move teams to BiC 

 Team plans to be in place by 1 September 
2016

 Undertake proactive service feedback 
approaches using focus groups and direct 
survey each year. 

 Review operation of the Development 
Management User Group (DMUG) with 
participants through focus groups.  July 
2016

 Implement new customer feedback process 
for all planning applications and pre-
application discussions

 Actions from Planning and Environmental 
Health ISO9001 and Customer Service 
Excellence (CSE) accreditations to be 
implemented, as a priority review of all 
existing Standard Operating Procedures 
(SPO’s) to ensure all Development 
Management and enforcement activities are 

Patsy Dell and 
Service Managers

 Service restructure, service plan and service 
improvement plan implemented and in place.

 Significant permanent recruitment has taken place across 
the service

 Best in Class ambition communicated to all staff and 
engagement on delivery of that ambition is in place

 ISO9001 and Customer Service Excellent accreditations 
awarded in 2015 and 2016

 New customer user groups set up in planning – Planning 
Service User Group and Planning Agents Forum

 New contract for ODRP being negotiated 
 Member development provided 2016, new programme 

set up for 2017
 Improvement actions and changes in Development 

Management (DM) including ICT have been delivered, 
DM performance has and continues to improve meeting 
and exceeding government performance targets – 
Appendix B demonstrates

25



Service 
Improvement 
Area

Service 
Improvement 
Action

Action, Targets or Milestones Team and Action 
Owner

Notes on progress at May 2017

as lean and efficient as possible by 
December 2016

 Reduce the number of complaints received 
regarding customer service matters by 25% 
pa – 2015/16 taken as the baseline.

 Promoting high quality development: 
enhance urban design skills and capacity 
across the planning service

 Review operation of the current Oxford 
Design Review Panel/CaBE contract, seek 
feedback from members/service users and 
others and pick up and implement any 
actions arising from the review – July 2016

 Agreed programme of member and officer 
development  - on-going

Recruitment and 
retention of 
permanent staff 

 Ambition for the service and its future 
direction of travel now clear. Recent period of 
uncertainty and change now settling down.

 New service management structure agreed, 
new manager for Development Management 
being recruited through a national campaign

 All current staff vacancies to be recruited to or 
filled by permanent staff by September 2016

 Establish career grades across the service on 
a priority basis to improve recruitment and 
retention, work with staff and Human 
Resources to develop a new career grade 
scheme for implementation by August 2016

 Establish and recruit to new Apprentice posts 
in Planning and Building Control, begin 

Patsy Dell and 
Service Managers

Patsy Dell and 
new task and 
finish group from 
across the service

Patsy Dell and 
Service Managers

 Recruitment successful in a number of key areas across 
the service. Current vacancies for Design, Heritage and 
Trees Team Leader and Building Control posts.

 Career Grades in place.
 Five Apprentice posts created (four graduate planner 

apprentice posts set up) and recruited to October 2016 
 Reputation of Oxford City Council as an employer of 

choice being strengthened by 
restructure actions

26



Service 
Improvement 
Area

Service 
Improvement 
Action

Action, Targets or Milestones Team and Action 
Owner

Notes on progress at May 2017

process of ‘growing own staff’ in service areas 
where recruitment and retention is an issue. 
Thereafter use apprentices/career 
grades/staff development and workforce 
planning to improve the supply of newly 
qualified staff available to the service.

Review service 
income targets 

 Analysis of income targets and potential in 
areas where income targets have not been 
met to be discussed with Finance team ahead 
of the start of 2017/2018 budget working 
paper process (by July 2016)

Patsy Dell and 
Service Managers

 Income targets resolved in 17/18 budget working cycle.

Service funding and 
resilience 

 Develop model working approach using 
Planning Performance Agreements (PPA) and 
contracts for enhanced planning 
service/directly funded posts by July 2016. 
Ensure full cost recovery for pre-application 
and other charges.

Patsy Dell and 
Service Managers

 PPA in place with Network Rail
 PPA’s being negotiated with a number of other 

organisations to address specific resourcing pressures 
and appetite for enhanced service offer 

Building Control (BC) 
team management 
under Environmental 
Health Service 
Manager 
responsibility 
following restructure. 

 Enhancing the Resilience of the Building 
Control Service through undertaking service 
review and developing a BC improvement 
plan by August 2016 (including full review of 
service costs, charges and recharges, 
recruitment to vacancies and market 
analysis). Improvement plan to be 
implemented once actions and timescales 
agreed with Board Member.

 External marketing of BC service to increase, 
improved opportunities for working across the 
council on OCC construction activities with 
Direct Services to be pursued

 Establish a customer/Service User feedback 
Forum – by August 2016, to meet twice yearly 
as a minimum

Patsy Dell, 
Environmental 
Health Service 
Manager (Ian 
Wright) and BC 
Team Leader.

 Building Control is struggling with appointing permanent 
staff and good quality contractors are also becoming 
more difficult to secure. 

 Long term sickness absence has impacted upon 
progress in moving the desired service changes forward

 Service resilience is closely related to permanent 
recruitment and that will be the focus over coming 
months

Implement 
Team moves 
and agreed 
new line 
management 
changes

Planning 
Enforcement 

 Planning Enforcement activities to be 
integrated in a combined enforcement team

Patsy Dell, 
Environmental 

 New team set up, greater support and resilience for 
enforcement function secured back log of work had been 

27



Service 
Improvement 
Area

Service 
Improvement 
Action

Action, Targets or Milestones Team and Action 
Owner

Notes on progress at May 2017

responsibilities 
moving to a 
combined 
enforcement team 
with the Private 
Sector Safety Team 
(PSST) in Regulatory 
Services.

 Team improvement plan and standard 
operating practices for the planning 
investigations to be developed,

 Recruitment to all vacancies by September 
2016. Improvement plan to be implemented 
once agreed.

 Develop an enforcement policy and review of 
service standards for planning enforcement 
by December 2016

Health Service 
Manager (Ian 
Wright) and PSST 
Team Leader.

reduced, more responsive approach in place
 Senior Planning Enforcement Officer recruitment 

successful. Planning Apprentice post set up in 
enforcement team

 New enforcement service standards and operating 
procedures approved by Executive Councillor

Improved 
Management 
information 
and reporting 
and 
exploration of 
Digital/mobile 
working 
capabilities 
across the 
service

 Development 
Management

 Building Control
 Food safety
 Private Sector 

Safety
 HMO 

Enforcement

 Review current use of access reports for 
management information and investigate 
alternatives with greater functionality

 Teams to investigate available mobile/digital 
solutions in use by others across these 
service areas by December 2016

 Appraisal of costs and benefits and any 
business cases for investment in new  
technology upgrades to be produced by 
March 2017 

Service Managers 
and Team 
Leaders

 New ICT systems being procured in regulatory service 
area - Rock time

 Enterprise workflow has been implemented in 
Development Management

28



Appendix B – Development Management Performance Overview: major and non-major planning applications 2016 - 2017

Development Management Performance 2016 – 2017

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 20 June 2017
Report of: Interim Assistant Chief Executive – Regeneration and 

Economy and Executive Director for Sustainable City
Title of Report: Draft Oxford Station Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) for Public Consultation

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To approve the Draft Oxford Station Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) for public consultation
Key decision: Yes
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning
Councillor Bob Price, Board Member for Economic 
Development

Corporate Priority: A vibrant and sustainable economy; Meeting housing 
needs; and a cleaner and greener Oxford

Policy Framework: The SPD will assist in the delivery of a key priority in the 
Strategic Economic Plan for Oxfordshire, the planning 
policies of the documents which make up the Oxford 
Local Plan including the West End Area Action Plan.

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Approve the Draft Oxford Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
for public consultation (Appendix 1)

2. Approve the Draft Oxford Station SPD as a material consideration in 
determining planning applications

3. Endorse the accompanying Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Combined Screening and Scoping Report (Appendix 2)

4. Delegate authority to the Head of Planning Sustainable Development and 
Regulatory Services to make any necessary editorial corrections to the 
document prior to publication, in consultation with the Assistant Chief 
Executive for Regeneration and Economy and the Board Member for 
Planning and Regulatory Services.  

31

Agenda Item 5



Appendices
Appendix 1 Draft Oxford Station SPD
Appendix 2 Combined Screening and Scoping Report
Appendix 3 Risk Assessment 

Introduction and background 
1. The City Executive Board is asked to consider the Draft Oxford Station Area 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) at Appendix 1 for formal public 
consultation.

2. The Oxford Station Masterplan was prepared by the tripartite partnership of Oxford 
City Council, Oxfordshire County Council and Network Rail in conjunction with the 
Train Operating Companies and the Department for Transport and sets out the 
overarching context for this SPD. 

3. The mission of the masterplan was:
‘To develop a rail hub and interchange for Oxford, reflecting its status as a 
world class city and a global centre for innovation and learning, and 
responding to its internationally recognised heritage assets.’

4.  The masterplan objectives, agreed in 2013, were as follows:
a. To provide an exemplary gateway to Oxford that:

i. Emphasises key links with the city centre and reinforces historic street 
patterns and character.

ii. Improves wayfinding
iii. Facilitates multi-modal interchange opportunities to ensure seamless 

integration with strategic and local transport networks.
iv. Enables high quality architectural and urban design.
v. Dovetails with planned wider development

b. To meet operational demands for expected rail growth over the next 30 years 
and offer an improved passenger experience, helping Oxfordshire deliver 
economic and housing growth.

c. To act as a catalyst to encourage wider regeneration in Oxford:
i. Maximising appropriate commercial and  economic development 

opportunities
ii. Providing a focus for investment
iii. Positively impacting on land values

d. To be deliverable, flexible and represent good value for money, protecting 
and enhancing revenue streams.

32



5. The Oxford Station Masterplan highlighted the strategic rail improvements and 
upgrades and focused on the need for a major overhaul of Oxford’s Station and its 
immediate surroundings. A significant amount of exploratory work has been 
undertaken to explore the impacts and improvements that should accompany this 
transformation.  

6. An architectural competition was undertaken in 2015, the outputs from this 
competition together with the feedback from the Oxford Design Review Panel 
masterplan workshop have helped to inform the content of this document. The 
preparation of this SPD has therefore built upon rather than reinvented the previous 
work undertaken as part of the masterplan process. The SPD will give planning 
weight to that work in supporting the regeneration and redevelopment of the station 
area. 

7. At Oxford Station, vital capacity enhancements are required for the rail and road 
corridor which will have local, regional and nationally significant network capacity 
and regeneration benefits. The regeneration benefits will be unlocked by first 
addressing the transport capacity constraints at Botley Bridge. The redevelopment 
of the station has the potential to bring further benefits to the city through the 
potential re-opening of the Cowley branch line linking the City centre to the Cowley 
area.

Early Stakeholder Engagement
8. The City Council has continued to work with its primary partners, Network Rail and 

Oxfordshire County Council in developing the SPD and has carried out early stage 
engagement with a wide range of stakeholders through the Oxford Station Working 
Group and the West End Steering Group. 

Purpose of the SPD
9. A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) gives detail to existing adopted 

policies. There are many adopted policies that are likely to be relevant to the 
development of this site, in particular in the Core Strategy and the West End Area 
Action Plan. The SPD will be a material consideration in the determination of any 
planning application made on the site. Once the landowner is ready, detailed plans 
for the site can be drawn up based on the guidance in this SPD and provide the 
framework for a planning application to be made. The advice and guidance will 
show how the site can be developed and provide certainty for both the developer 
and the public to inform a future planning application. 

10. The SPD provides a significant opportunity to enable development proposals for 
the Station area that will meet the overarching vision for the creation of a truly 
integrated transport hub, and serve as a distinctive gateway to Oxford.

11. The SPD will create a comprehensive and coherent framework which maximises 
the development potential of the station site and will act as a catalyst for the wider 
development of the West End Area of the city. 

12. The City Council has an adopted Core Strategy (September 2011) and an adopted 
West End Area Action Plan (2008) that were subject to a rigorous consultation 

33



process and public examination and is currently developing policies for the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036.  

13. The West End AAP in particular was prepared as a policy framework to ‘guide 
future development and change in the West End’ area of the city. The AAP was 
considered to be ‘both a policy and a delivery tool’. It identified both the Oxford 
Railway Station and the Becket Street car park as future development sites and 
recognised the importance of strategic infrastructure to enable the West End and its 
wider environment to function ‘particularly transport and utilities.’ 

14. The SPD is intended to build on the policy context set out within these documents 
particularly the West End AAP, which identifies these sites for future development 
and sets out key design principles for the renaissance of the West End. The SPD 
supports the delivery of development to meet planning policy objectives, helping to 
address Oxford’s social, economic and environmental needs, in particular the City’s 
growing economy, housing shortage and its transport capacity. The SPD provides a 
more detailed framework together with some design principles to help to deliver this 
development.    

15. The SPD will be a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications, supporting the policies of the adopted Core Strategy and the West 
End AAP in particular. The SPD does not set out any additional policy 
requirements, but instead provides clarity and advice on how the City Council’s 
adopted planning policies should be implemented. The SPD is a material 
consideration, its weight in planning terms will increase as it proceeds through the 
adoption process (and any objections are dealt with or fall away). 
  

Content of the SPD
Context 
16. This provides the context and background to the SPD within the vision for the 

Station area, the scope and role of the SPD, together with a summary review of the 
Oxford Station Masterplan and the shortlisted Station Design Competition entries 
undertaken to inform and scope the SPD, together with the planning policy context 
and the consultation strategy

Vision and objectives
17. The vision is that ‘the Oxford Station area development will create a distinctive new 

gateway to Oxford, contributing to a vibrant new quarter and a fully integrated 
transport hub linking the station area with the City and beyond.’ 
The objectives are:

 to be responsive to surrounding developments and the wider West End AAP 
and identify a ‘zone of influence’ for proposed enhancements;

 to define a new townscape reference for the Station area with a cluster of 
architecturally significant buildings around the Station and Frideswide 
Squares

 to highlight the need to deliver cohesive public realm between the Station 
area and surrounding context,  particularly along key station approach routes 
to the City centre

34



 to emphasise balanced east-west connectivity from Oxford Station through 
delivery of a Station building with access on both sides of the tracks

 to promote active frontages along Becket Street, Botley Road and Station 
Square

 to identify a preferred land-use mix that establishes the Station area as the 
‘gateway hub of Oxford’ with commercial, residential and networking spaces, 
which complement the surrounding developments.

Site context
18. This considers the site characteristics together with the relationship of the Station 

area to other major development site opportunities. It explores the heritage context 
of the City centre; the architectural and land use character of the immediate 
surrounding area; together with an assessment of the transport and access 
arrangements. The key constraints and opportunities are explored. 

Design principles
19. The comprehensive redevelopment of the station area provides an opportunity to 

significantly improve this part of the City centre in urban design terms and 
contribute to the character and identity of Oxford. The SPD provides advice on 
some key design principles which would inform the urban form, views and accent 
buildings; the scale and massing of future buildings; the land use mix; public realm 
and amenity space; together with guidance on pedestrian, cycle and vehicle access 
and movements. 

20. There is a clear recognition that new development should positively respond to 
climate change through the integration of sustainable design principles.

Development components
21. The SPD proposes design principles for station buildings and station squares, 

which need to be designed and built to create a prominent and high quality building 
and public spaces that will define the Station area.

Illustrative Masterplan 
22. The Illustrative masterplan which has been developed from the design principles 

provides a main illustrative layout along with possible variants that would respond 
to different design approaches to allow for flexibility.  

23. The SPD supports a phased approach to delivery recognising that the scheme is 
likely to be delivered through a mix of public and private sector investment. A key 
feature of the SPD masterplan is that it promotes viable uses including office 
space, hotel and residential making efficient use of land and optimising the 
quantum of supporting development that can attract private sector investment.

The next stages
24. The City Executive Board is asked to approve the draft SPD for public consultation 

and also to authorise the Head of Planning Sustainable Development and 
Regulatory Services, in consultation with the Assistant Chief Executive for 
Regeneration and Economy and the Board Members for Planning and Economy.  
to make any editorial corrections necessary prior to consultation. Following 
approval of the document for consultation, it will be published, advertised and made 

35



available for public comment. The consultation period will last for eight weeks 30th 
June to 25th August 2017. 

25. Representations made during the consultation period will be carefully considered 
and where appropriate will inform revisions to the SPD. The representations will be 
reported in a Consultation Statement to CEB and published on the website 
alongside a final version of the SPD. SPD’s are not subject to independent 
examination therefore CEB will be asked to approve the Supplementary Planning 
Document for adoption.   

Environmental impact
26. A Sustainability Appraisal is no longer required for SPD’s under UK law, however to 

comply with European regulations, a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Combined Screening and Scoping Report has been produced to identify whether 
the SPD would have any significant environmental impacts and Appendix 2.This 
exercise screened in further work on flooding and transport, which has now been 
completed. The statutory consultees for the SEA (Environment Agency, English 
Heritage and Natural England) had no concerns with the Combined Screening and 
Scoping Report. 

Financial implications
27. The consultation and further work on the production of the Supplementary Planning 

Document and supporting documents will be undertaken by the Partnerships, 
Regeneration and Economy Team. Any additional consultancy support will be 
funded through current resources allocated to the Oxford Station Board. 

Legal issues
28. Any person may apply to judicially review the adoption of the SPD upon adoption 

(adoption estimated for the City Executive Board in October) and must be made 
within six weeks from the date of adoption. The level of risk of a successful judicial 
review is considered to be acceptably low. 

Level of risk
29. A risk assessment has been undertaken and the risk register is attached (Appendix  

3). All risks have been mitigated to an acceptable level. 

Equalities impact 
30. Consideration has been given to the public sector equality duty imposed by s149 of 

the Equality Act 2010. Having paid due regard to the need to meet the objectives of 
that duty and of the SPD the view is taken that the duty is met. 

Report author Tom Morris

Job title Principal Economic Development and 
Spatial Officer

Service area or department Regeneration and Economy 
Telephone 01865  252143 
e-mail tmorris@oxford.gov.uk 

36

mailto:tmorris@oxford.gov.uk


Background Papers: None

1 Or - list all background papers
2
3
4

37



This page is intentionally left blank



May 2017

Oxford Station Area 
Supplementary Planning Document
DRAFT 4 FOR REVIEW

-0.50

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange
Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station

Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12 13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

0m 50m 100m

39



Date: May 2017

Project  Name Oxford Station 
Supplementary Planning Document 

Project Number 60515046
Project Director Graham Goymour
Project Manager Anagha Potbhare
Core Project Team Odysseas Diakakis

Paul Comerford
William Smith
Giulia Acuto
Simon Richardson
Caitlin Turley
James Sachon

Authorised

Document Ref Revision Date Details Name/Position Signature
Draft 01 28 Oct. 2016 Working Draft Anagha Potbhare AP
Draft 02 02 Nov. 2016 Working Draft Anagha Potbhare AP
Draft 03 10 Nov 2016 Draft for Consultation Anagha Potbhare AP
Draft 04 17 May 2017 Draft for Review Anagha Potbhare AP

40



Contents

01 Introduction.....................................................................................07 
 Background 
 The Site
 The Opportunity
 Scope and Role of the SPD
 Planning Policy Context
 Consultation Strategy
 Structure of this document

02 SPD Vision  and Objectives.......................................................17 
 Masterplan Objectives
 SPD Vision and Objectives

03 Site Characteristics, Constraints and     
 Opportunities..................................................................................21

  Site Context
 History 
 Character Areas
 Transport and access
 Land use
 Constraints
 Opportunities

04 Design Principles...........................................................................33
 Urban Form and character 
 Scale and massing
 Land Use mix 
 Access and movement
 Circulation strategy
 Public and amenity space 
 Sustainability

05 Development Components.......................................................45
 Station and Station Square East
 Corner development and station entrance 
 Western Station Entrance and Station Square West
 Bus interchange, Multi-Storey Car parking and 
 Cycle Parking 

06 Illustrative Masterplan................................................................52
 Illustrative masterplan

07 Phasing...............................................................................................71
 Phasing sequence of key components

APPENDICES.............................................................................................74

Photographs and images by AECOM unless otherwise stated.
Maps reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data under licence © Crown copyright 
2016.  All rights reserved.

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

3AECOM

41



Oxford Station Area
Bird’s eye view from south

42



The Oxford Station area development will 
create a distinctive new gateway to Oxford, 
contributing to a vibrant new quarter and 
a fully integrated transport hub linking the 
station area with the City and beyond.

Oxford Station 
Supplementary Planning Document

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

5AECOM

43



Frideswide Square

44



01Introduction

45



The Oxford Station Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is a significant opportunity to 
bring together development proposals for the 
station area with an overarching vision for creating 
a truly integrated transport hub which serves as a 
distinctive gateway to Oxford. The SPD will create 
a comprehensive and coherent framework which 
maximises the development potential of the station 
site and generates a positive dynamic with the 
surrounding opportunity sites.

Background
Oxford is a major cultural, academic and economic centre, which 
underpins the prosperity of the county and the wider region. 
Oxford’s unique historic character attracts many more visitors 
than most towns or cities of comparable size. In this context, 
the proposed redevelopment of Oxford Station is a unique 
opportunity to provide an improved gateway to the City for 
visitors, the workforce and residents.

Oxford Station and the Oxford Rail Corridor provide for inter-
regional passenger connectivity through Oxfordshire, with 
Oxford being the main traffic destination. However, the station 
and its immediate surroundings do not currently provide visitors, 
commuters and local residents with an experience befitting 
Oxford’s reputation for excellence. 

The Oxford Station Master Plan  (July 2014) includes details of 
the context for comprehensive redevelopment, opportunities 
and constraints and an appraisal of redevelopment options to 
enable the station area’s transformation. The masterplanning 
process was informed by stakeholder discussions, including 
Network Rail, the train operating companies and the local 
community. The masterplan was prepared in conjunction with 
the Train Operating company and Network Rail. Changes to 
station operation will need to be further tested as the design is 
developed.

Oxford City Council (OCC) has commissioned a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to promote and guide the 
redevelopment of the station area in line with planning 

and design objectives established through the previous 
masterplanning exercise completed in July 2014. 

Network Rail has previously undertaken rail improvement work 
to the Great Western Mainline and other strategic rail network 
projects which will help deliver the economic and housing 
growth set out in the Oxfordshire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP).  
Further improvements to the network are planned to increase 
efficiency and capacity. The proposed redevelopment of the 
station area will complement the wider network improvements.

The area around the railway station is set to change significantly 
over the next 10 -15 years with major developments underway or 
planned at the Westgate Centre, Oxpens, land around Frideswide 
Square and Osney Mead Industrial Estate.  It is important that 
the redevelopment of the station area complements these 
planned developments so as to ensure the western side of the 
City Centre forms a well-integrated and highly connected urban 
quarter.

Process
The preparation of the SPD comprises a number of stages prior 
to its final adoption. 

The previously developed Oxford Station Masterplan has been 
reviewed in order to identify previously agreed objectives and 
technical design requirements. In this respect the SPD builds on 
rather than reinvents the previous masterplan process.

The current and emerging planning policy context has been 
reviewed with a focus on recognising the relevant planning 
policy objectives and requirements specific to the Station Area.

The process of reviewing the masterplan has included 
identification of which elements of the Oxford Station 
Masterplan (July 2014) are fixed and therefore must be delivered 
and which elements are more flexible. A series of design 
principles have been developed in the form of parameter plans 
covering topics including land use and building scale. The SPD 
includes an updated version of the masterplan which represents 
one way in which the development could be delivered adhering 
to the principles.

The preparation of the SPD includes stakeholder engagement 
and consultation which will be taken into account in finalising the 
document.

Background

Historic 
Centre

New
 Hinksey

Botley

Summer-
town

Headington

Cowley

Station

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

8 AECOM

46



The Oxford Station area is the gateway 
for the City of Oxford and should create 
a positive dynamic with the surrounding 
context and emerging developments in 
Oxpens, Jam Factory, Island site, Osney 
Mead and the wider western area in Oxford 
City.

The station sits opposite the Said Business School, 
which announces the unique academic character of 
the City. This, together with the recent improvement to 
Frideswide Square, offers a high quality design context.

Site Boundary and Ownership
The site currently comprises a mix of operational railway 
land, public highway, and the Becket Street operational 
railway car park. The majority of the study area falls 
within Network Rail owned land (leased to First Group).

Station
The  railway station currently comprises a main station 
building, north and south bound platforms, associated 
buildings and structures, and a station forecourt which 
provides a taxi rank and bus interchange. To the north of 
the Station building is a staff and short stay car park and 
former parcel depot. The station’s main cycle parking 
area is located between the station forecourt and Botley 
Road to the south. This is partially screened from the 
highway by an area of trees and shrubs.

Becket Street car park
The car park provides circa 480 spaces and caters for 
rail users. It is linked to the main station building by a 
pedestrian footbridge which crosses over Botley Road. 
The rectangular car park runs parallel between the 
railway line and Becket Street. There is a fall in levels to 
the south west that could provide some opportunity for 
increased height. 

The pedestrian footbridge has been subject to various 
unrealised designs over the years to enable improved 
access and appearance. The bridge and associated 
ramps are linked to Becket Street by an area of adopted 
highway. This area, located to the south of the existing 
pedestrian / cycle bridge, also provides access to an 
emergency level crossing, which is no longer in active 
use.

West Side of station
The west side of the station has various operational 
buildings; an occasionally used west entrance and a 
busy road crossing the site with Roger Dudman Way 
leading towards the student accommodation, off site 
to the north. The YHA sits on a strategically important 
piece of land previously owned by Network Rail. The 
land (or part of) is however key to enabling the a new 
western track and, potentially, for an entrance on this 
side. The Co-op Nursery site is located adjacent to the 
bridge above the Castle Mill Stream. The existing tracks 
run nearby alongside Roger Dudman Way that provides 
Right of Way access to the student development at Port 
Meadow. The proposed Rail Enhancement project may 
impact on this land as it crosses the stream.

The Site

Plan showing site boundary

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

9AECOM

47



The SPD area covers the railway station which comprises the 
existing main station building, north and south bound platforms 
and associated building structures, the station forecourt which 
currently provides a taxi rank and bus  interchange and an area 
of cycle parking to the south. To the north of the station are a 
staff and short stay car park and former parcel depot. The SPD 
also covers the Becket Street Car Park the pedestrian footbridge 
across Botley Road and the west side of the station along Roger 
Dudman Way.

Scope and Role of SPD

The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
aims to create a robust framework to deliver a 
comprehensive and coherent development for the 
Oxford Station Area. 

Existing Masterplan 
The Oxford Station Masterplan set out the overarching context 
for the SPD, highlighting the strategic rail improvements and 
upgrades that pointed to the need for a major overhaul of 
Oxford’s station and its immediate surroundings. A significant 
amount of work has already been therefore undertaken to 
explore the impacts and improvements that should accompany 
this transformation.

Beyond the rail and interchange components of the station 
transformation, the urban context of the ‘western gateway 
area’ gives important clues for what should be achieved 
by redevelopment. The area currently fails to provide the 
appropriate ‘welcome’ to the City. Visitors (whether business 
visitors, academic or tourists) arrive with high expectations 
driven by the City’s global reputation; however, many of these 
expectations are undoubtedly let down by the present station.

The new station should provide a vastly improved level of 
amenity and experience and the 2015 architectural competition 
has pointed towards the kind of design responses needed. The 
challenge goes beyond the functional requirements for a new, 
enlarged interchange. Specifically, the issue of character must 
also be addressed to ensure that the design response makes a 
positive addition to Oxford’s list of world-renowned architectural 
achievements.

Role of the SPD
The station SPD will help deliver a number of objectives and 
priorities in translating the Station Masterplan into an SPD that:

 − Promotes an outward-looking development that creates 
synergies with neighbouring development sites;

 − Acts as an effective gateway into Oxford (and through Botley 
Road and points west);

 − Is safe and convenient for pedestrians and cyclists;

 − Promotes an excellent / maximised connectivity network with 
the station at its core;

 − Maximises development potential of the station area;

 − Responds imaginatively and sensitively to Oxford’s heritage 
context;

 − Incorporates progressive and sound urban design principles 
and guidance;

 − Address the three-dimensional design issues in its massing 
strategy;

 − Addresses opportunities to maximise value as well as 
development quantum;

 − Helps to ensure that the vision for high quality public realm 
and integrated transport hub and associated development 
are accompanied with appropriate flexibility in design and 
implementation.

The SPD provides a series of design principles for the station 
and its immediate surroundings which must be considered and 
responded to in order to achieve the overarching vision for 
the station area. The SPD includes an illustrative masterplan 
which represents one way in which the design principles could 
be interpreted. The illustrative masterplan largely reflects the 
previously agreed masterplan, although resolves certain key 
elements of the design based on the latest discussions with 
stakeholders. 

Context plan including future developments.

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

10 AECOM

48



Oxford Station 
SPD

Oxford Station 
Development

Saved Oxford Local Plan 
Policies (2001-2016)

Oxford City Council

Emerging Local Plan 
(2016-2036)

Oxford City Council

Oxford Core Strategy
Oxford City Council

West End AAP (2007 - 2016)
Oxford City Council

Sites and Housing Plan
Oxford City Council

The SPD builds on Oxford City Council’s existing and emerging 
Development Plan, in particular the West End Area Action 
Plan and the emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 which is due 
to replace the Saved Oxford Local Plan Policies 2001-2016, 
Oxford Core Strategy, and the Sites and Housing Plan. The SPD 
supports the delivery of development to meet planning policy 
objectives, helping to address Oxford’s social, economic and 
environmental needs, in particular the City’s housing shortage, 
growing economy and transport capacity. The Oxford Station 
SPD also identifies the opportunity for the development of the 
station area to establish strong connections with other nearby 
development sites, such as Oxpens, land around Frideswide 
Square, the Westgate Centre and Osney Mead Industrial Estate.

A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report 
has been undertaken. The proposed Oxford Station SPD will 
supplement the existing policies set out in the West End AAP, 
which has already been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal 
that incorporates the requirements of SEA.  This Assessment 
concludes that no Strategic Environmental Assessment of 
the Station SPD is required.  In accordance with the SEA 
Regulations, the consultation bodies were notified for their 
comments, and were in general agreement that no SEA was 
required.

The Station SPD will form part of the framework for the 
development of the site.  It will sit underneath the “parent” 
document – the West End AAP.  The Station SPD will become a 
material consideration when determining planning applications. 
It is not anticipated that the Station SPD will add unnecessarily 
to the financial burdens of development.  Instead it is intended to 
help applicants make successful applications and provide a co-
ordinated approach to infrastructure delivery.

The Opportunity
Oxford Station SPD will become an important component of the 
City Council’s planning policy framework which will promote high 
quality development and help support City-wide ambitions for 
economic and housing growth. This will be through establishing 
a framework for a high quality architectural and technical design 
response to the site and context  as well as establishing strong 
connections with nearby development sites, such as Oxpens, 
land around Frideswide Square and the Westgate Centre, as well 
as the Botley Road.

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

11AECOM

49



The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
aims to create a robust framework to deliver a 
comprehensive and coherent development for the 
Oxford Station Area. 

A review of the relevant planning policy context is set out in 
Appendix 1. 

National planning policy is set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), published in March 2012. The NPPF 
states that Local Planning Authorities should plan positively 
for new development and includes a set of core land use 
planning principles to underpin plan making and development 
management.  The NPPF identifies that transport system should 
be balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes. It also 
states that emphasis should be placed on sustainable design 
solutions to create better places for people with access for all.

The current development plan for the Station Area, which 
forms the statutory basis for planning decisions, comprises the 
following documents:

 − Oxford Core Strategy (2011)
 − West End Area Action Plan (2008)
 − Sites and Housing  Plan (2013)
 − Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 (saved policies) and Proposals 

Map 
The City Council is currently preparing its draft Local Plan that 
will supersede the existing development plan documents.  The 
SPD does not form part of the development plan but provides 
site specific planning guidance in relation to how development is 
expected to be delivered.
As summarised in the diagram opposite, other policy 
considerations include County Council transport policy and 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) strategy.

A review of existing and emerging planning policy has identified 
the following key policy topics and issues for the Station Area. 
Further information in relation to planning policy is set out in 
Appendix 1.

Site specific policies
The West End Area Action Plan (AAP) identifies Oxford Railway 
Station as a key opportunity site and sets out its development 
potential. For instance, any development of the station must 
improve the experience for passengers and create a strong 
sense of arrival to Oxford. The Core Strategy further recognises 
the key role the Oxford railway station plays for both the City 
and wider area and identifies the need for specific infrastructure 
improvements, for example, the existing single storey structure 
of the station has limited passenger circulating and waiting 
space, basic facilities and poor retail offering. 
The Oxford Transport Strategy (OTS), which forms part of the 
Local Transport Plan (LTP) 2015-2031, provides a wider impact 
assessment of the proposed station improvement and states 
that enhanced rail network and connections should be included 
where they support the County’s objectives for economic 
growth. It further adds that the development of the rail network 
should provide inter-regional links and better integration 
between the rail and strategic bus networks. More specifically, 
the expansion of the station should include a new bay platform, 
better facilities, improved interchange with other sustainable 
modes of transport and widening of Botley Road Bridge.  Oxford 
Railway Station has also been recognised in the LTP as a major 
constraint within the Oxford-Didcot corridor, which affects the 
reliability of trains on the strategic national rail network. Without 
expansion it will hinder economic growth in Oxfordshire including 
growth of the ‘Knowledge Spine’. In order to introduce a new 
inter-regional service to the East Midlands and South West, a 
fourth track south of Oxford Station at Oxford Station is required.

Economic development
Oxford seeks to maintain and strengthen its regional role as 
a primary focus for shopping, employment, innovation and 
research, tourism, leisure and cultural activities. As the county’s 
main travel destination, transport infrastructure is key to 
maintaining and enhancing the City’s strategic position. Oxford 
Railway Station has been identified as being a major constraint 
on the Oxford-Didcot corridor, which without an expansion 
will hinder economic growth in Oxfordshire. The following key 
policies support the City’s economic growth:

 − Saved Local Plan Policy EC.1, CP.5, CP.6
 − Core Strategy Policy CS1, CS5, CS27, CS31, CS32
 − West End Area Action Plan Policy WE20, WE23, WE26 

Planning and Transport Policy Overview

West End Area Action Plan
2007-2016
Volume 1 of 2

A D O P T E D J U N E 2 0 0 8
Building a world-class city for everyone

Sites and
Housing Plan
2011 - 2026
Adopted February 2013

Oxford
Core Strategy 2026

Adopted 14th March 2011

National Planning Policy Framework

www.communities.gov.uk 
community, opportunity, prosperity

Key existing planning policy documents

Planning Policy structure

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

12 AECOM

50



15-27 m

3-5 
storeys

West End AAP reference for Station Area

West End AAP provides guidance for streets, public realm and 
development, which also includes specific guidance for the station area 
and its immediate surroundings. Whilst majority guidance has been 
followed in this SPD, a select few elements have been challenged and 
suggestions for change in these elements have been made through the 
proposed design principles set out in this SPD.

Some of the key points are:

INDICATIVE LAND USES
North Site (Railway Station)

 − Primary: Transport
 − Secondary: Public space

South Site (Becket St Car Park)
 − Primary: Houses, Transport; 
 − Secondary: Hotels 
 − Minor element: Flats, Amenities for housing

STREET AND ROUTE TYPES
Type 1 (Becket St)
Scale

 − Range of street width: 15-27 metres
 − Range of Building Heights: 3-5 storeys 
 − Breaks and gaps in the frontage should be no wider than 5 metres 

unless it is for a special public space.
Continuity of building frontages

 − The building line should coincide with the Plot Frontage Line for 95-
100% on the plot width. Coincide is defined as between 0 and 1 metre.

 − The remaining 5% may be composed of either breaks in the frontage 
or set backs of the building line from the plot frontage line

 − Breaks and gaps in the frontage should be no wider than 5 metres 
unless it is for a special public space.

Active frontage
 − A, B and C grade frontage: 6-20 entrances/doors per 100 metres of 

street frontage. 
 − Transparency of facade to occupied or inhabited space: equal to or 

greater than 30% of the street facade in addition to the entrance/ 
doorway. 

Design and Heritage
Oxford’s unique heritage is recognised as highly important to 
the City’s identity. As such, planning policy requires that new 
development must respond sensitively to Oxford’s heritage through 
high quality design and ensure that changes to the townscape are 
informed by an understanding of context as set out in planning 
guidance including Oxford’s Heritage Plan, the Oxford View Cones 
Study and emerging High Quality Design in Oxford SPD. . The 
following key policies seek to preserve and promote the Council’s 
design and heritage standards: 

 − Saved Local Plan Policy HE.9 and HE10
 − Core Strategy Policy CS18
 − West End Area Action Plan Policy WE1, WE10

Sustainability
New development proposals are required to reduce carbon 
emissions and mitigate the impact of climate change. The emerging 
Local Plan 2016-2036 seeks to ensure that Oxford is a healthy place 
to live and environmentally sustainable. The redevelopment of the 
station should therefore embrace the principles of sustainable 
design including relating to energy performance. The following 
policies address the Council’s key sustainability principles:

 − Core strategy Policy CS9, CS10 and CS12
 − Sites and Housing Plan Policy HP9, HP11
 − West  End Area Action Plan Policy WE13

Transport
The County Transport Strategy focuses on supporting jobs and 
housing growth, through reducing congestion; reducing transport 
emissions by reducing the need to travel; enhancing air quality, 
safety and the environment; as well as focusing on developing links 
and efficiency along Oxfordshire’s ‘Knowledge Spine’, an economic 
corridor linking growth locations in the south of the county with 
Oxford City and Bicester to the north. The delivery of an integrated 
transport hub at Oxford Railway Station has the potential to 
contribute to transport policy objectives. In addition to the County 
Council Transport Local Plan, a number of key policies are contained 
in the Council’s Development Plan:

 − Core Strategy Policy CS13, CS14
The City Council sets out a range of detailed policy requirements in 
relation to access and parking; where relevant these are reflected in 
the guidance set out in elsewhere in this SPD.

New urban structure for the West End (including essential 
mesh with red and optional mesh with dashed red lines)

Street section identifying scale and maximum storeys for Type 
One streets (Becket St)

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

13AECOM

51



Oxford Station SPD consultation will continue to 
engage with key stakeholders and wider public 
and help build a positive consensus in support of a 
comprehensive development of the station area. 

Stakeholder Engagement and Consultation Overview
The Oxford Station SPD builds on the dialogue with key 
stakeholders and the wider public established as part of the 
masterplan completed in 2014.  Accordingly, the engagement 
strategy for the SPD encompasses the following:

 − Identification of key stakeholders based on previous 
masterplan exercise, recognising that there may have been 
changes since the previous work.

 − Developing key messages and FAQs based on the 
consultation draft SPD.

 − Key stakeholder engagement - an initial engagement exercise 
will take place with key stakeholders that have a direct interest 
in the site; this is anticipated prior to Christmas 2016. The 
draft SPD will also be presented to Oxford City Councillors.

 − A wider public consultation exercise in relation to the draft 
SPD will be undertaken in early 2017 over a six week period, 
to include a public exhibition, providing opportunities for 
member of the public to discuss the SPD with the project 
team, and online consultation.

 − Feedback gathered during the consultation period will be 
analysed and used to inform the final draft of the SPD.

 − At the end of the process a detailed consultation report will be 
produced. It will include a detailed analysis of the feedback, an 
overview of the approach as well as details of how feedback 
has been incorporated in the final SPD.

Stakeholder engagement and consultation strategy 

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

14 AECOM

52



The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
provides a clear set of design principles that will 
help deliver a coherent development in a phased 
manner. 

Document Structure

The Supplementary Planning Document is structured as follows:

 − Section 1 provides context and background to the SPD in 
relation to Oxford City Council’s vision for the station area, 
scope and role of the SPD, summary review of Oxford Station 
Masterplan and shortlisted Station Design Competition 
entries undertaken to inform the SPD, planning policy context 
and consultation strategy; 

 − Section 2 sets out the vision and objectives for the SPD, 
which have informed the design principles and illustrative 
masterplan;

 − Section 3 summarises the key characteristics of the station 
area in reference to the surrounding city context and more 
importantly the emerging development context of major sites 
surrounding the station area and sets out constraints and 
opportunities for the station area development;

 − Section 4 sets out the key design principles for the station 
area, which will be the key reference for the design teams in 
the future stages of Oxford Station development;

 − Section 5 provides further guidance for the key components 
of the station area development; 

 − Section 6 sets out Illustrative Masterplan for the station area 
exploring layout for the station area based on the vision and 
design principles set out in this SPD

 − Section 7 sets out indicative phasing of the key components 
of the station area.

Structure of the SPD

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

15AECOM

53



Oxford City - Bird’s Eye view

54



02SPD Vision and 
Objectives

55



‘To develop a rail hub and interchange for Oxford, 
reflecting its status as a world class city and a 
global centre for innovation and learning, and 
responding to its internationally recognised 
heritage assets.’

1. To provide an exemplary gateway to Oxford that:
 − Emphasises key links with the city centre and reinforces 

historic street patterns and character

 − Improves wayfinding

 − Facilitates multi-modal interchange opportunities to ensure 
seamless integration with strategic and local transport 
networks

 − Enables high quality architectural and urban design…

 − Dovetails with planned wider development

2. To meet operational demands for expected rail growth 
over the next 30 years and offer an improved passenger 
experience, helping Oxfordshire deliver economic and 
housing growth.

3. To act as a catalyst to encourage wider regeneration in 
Oxford

 − Maximising appropriate commercial, economic, development 
opportunities

 − Providing a focus for investment

 − Positively impacting on land values

4. To be deliverable, flexible and represent good value for 
money, protecting and enhancing revenue streams

Masterplan Mission Statement and Objectives

Illustrative masterplan

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

18 AECOM

56



‘The Oxford Station area development will create a 
distinctive new gateway to Oxford, contributing to a 
vibrant new quarter and a fully integrated transport hub 
linking the station area with the City and beyond.’

 − Station SPD to be responsive to surrounding developments and wider 
Western Area AAP and identify a ‘zone of influence’ for proposed 
enhancements

 − Define new townscape reference for Station area with cluster of 
architecturally significant buildings around Station and Frideswide 
Squares

 − Highlight the need to deliver cohesive public realm between Station 
area and surrounding context – particularly along key station approach 
routes

 − Emphasise balanced east-west connectivity from Oxford Station 
through delivery of station building and retain access on both sides of 
the tracks

 − Active frontages along Becket Street, Botley Road and Station Square

 − Deliver enhanced pedestrian and cycle infrastructure along Botley 
Road, whilst supporting improvements to link north of Castle Mill 
stream, pedestrian bridge off Osney Lane exploring alternative 
solutions for ramp access on the eastern side and proposed bridge 
south of Oxpens connection with Osney Mead  

 − Identify preferred land-use mix that establishes station area as 
the ‘gateway hub of Oxford City’ with commercial, residential and 
networking spaces which complement the surrounding developments

 − It is critical for the Oxford Station Area development proposals to 
make the most efficient use of land to maximise the contribution that 
can be secured from development to secure the station and public 
realm following the design principles set out in Oxford Station Area 
SPD.

 − Maximise potential of private investment to secure the viability of 
the development  and the future options that follow the key design 
principles set out in Oxford Station Area SPD.

SPD Vision and Objectives

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

19AECOM

57



Station area in Oxford City context - Aerial view

58



03Site Characteristics, 
Constraints and Opportunities

59



Oxford and the surrounding area is made up of a number of different centres with varying influence 
over the development of the City as a whole. Cowley Road, Headington and Summertown District 
Centre and the new Cowley Primary District Centre are lower order centres around the City’s core 
where the Station Areas located. The City also includes two strategic development sites subject to 
their own Area Actions Plans: Barton Area and Northern Gateway Area. 

The site sits on the edge of the City Centre boundary, and within the West End renaissance area 
which is almost entirely located within the City Centre.

The site is located close to a number of major development opportunity sites which are at different 
stages of the planning process.

Osney Mead

Osney Mead Industrial Estate is located to the south west of the City Centre and the Botley Road. 
The 18ha site is an under-occupied industrial site to the west of the City Centre, close to the 
Westgate Shopping Centre, Oxpens and the railway station, but currently has poor connectivity to 
these areas. The area is currently identified in planning policy as a protected employment site but 
the University has stated an aspiration to develop the site for a mix of land uses.

Oxpens

The Oxpens site sits between Oxford Railway Station, Westgate and the River Thames and 
provides an opportunity for much needed housing, offices, research and development space, 
a hotel, local amenities and public open space. An SPD has been produced by the Oxford City 
Council and sets out the Council’s expectation for the development of the site. However, this is 
currently being reviewed and updated.

Westgate

The Westgate development is located in the City Centre, within walking distance of the station. It 
will establish a strong connection between the City’s main shopping artery and Oxpens Road. 

The previous shopping centre is currently being refurbished and adjacent land redeveloped to 
provide retail, leisure and residential floorspace together with approximately 1,000 car parking 
spaces. The new Westgate development is expected to open in late 2017.

Frideswide Square

Frideswide Square is the main thoroughfare between the station and the City Centre. It is located 
immediately to the east of the railway station and is bound by the Said Business School, and Royal 
Oxford Hotel. 

Recent redevelopment work has transformed the square to create a more welcoming public realm 
and wider pedestrian walkways. The area is now decongested and safer for cyclists and public 
transport users to navigate.  

Site Context

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

22 AECOM

60



2

1

5

6

8

7

3
4

Frideswide Sq 
Recently completed, it enhances the arrival 
experience from and to the station

The Island site - Various proposals. Oxford Station Masterplan site

Worcester Street Car Park - Potential 
development

Southside, Frideswide Square Westgate shopping centre - Currently under construction1

2

3

4 Oxpens Masterplan - SPD adopted in 2013 
6 ha mixed-use development (with academic / residential); 
enhancing riverfront setting with new links to Osney Mead; 
fully integrated with city context

Osney Mead Development -
Potential: 16 ha / mixed-use development (with employment / residential); 
enhancing riverfront setting with new links to Oxpens; fully integrated 
with city context

5

6

7

8

Context plan including surrounding opportunity sites

1

9

Co-op Nursery 9

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

23AECOM

61



‘Oxford has a wide variety of building types, with 
buildings of the Colleges and University contrasting 
with those of the town; and distinctive buildings that 
illustrate the life and working of the town (railways, 
canal, Covered Market), religion (churches and 
other places of worship), and leisure (theatres, 
cinemas, ice rink). Often minor and ‘unknown’ 
buildings have a history and significance at more 
than local level.’ Oxford Heritage Statement

Oxford City has a unique and important heritage and 
archaeological context made up of a variety of building types 
and contrasting architectural features. The City Centre includes 
a number of conservation areas and heritage assets, including 
the historic colleges and University buildings, which need to be 
considered when new development proposals are being put 
forward.

The Station Area is located within an area of archaeological 
potential and close to scheduled monuments. 

In addition the City Centre including the Station Area is subject 
to q height restriction which limits building heights to 18.2 
metres within 1,200m radius from Carfax Tower. The site also 
falls in part within the scope of the Oxford View Cones which 
seek to preserve the City’s townscape character and unique 
historic skyline.

The medieval precinct of Osney (or Osney) Abbey, is located 
30m from the scheduled remains of the medieval Rewley Abbey 
and may be crossed by the line of the Royalist Civil War defences 
which are known from map evidence to encircle the west end of 
St Thomas’ Church.

The historic route way of Osney Lane, which linked the town 
with Osney Abbey, a now scheduled monument, crosses the 
site as does the heavily truncated historic causeway route from 
Oxford to Botley (i.e. the Botley Road). The industrial archaeology 
relating to the post 1851 development of the railway in this area 
may be of limited local interest, including the upstanding brick 
pedestrian tunnel under the railway on Botley Road.

The scheduled 19th -20th century monument at railway 
swing bridge over the Sheepwash Channel. Whilst previous 
investigations suggest that significant disturbance and land 
raising can be expected in areas adjacent to the railway, there 
remains a degree of uncertainty over the survival of important 
archaeological remains in specific locations.

A number of listed buildings are located near the site.

1. Church of St Thomas the Martyr - Grade II Listed (LBS 
245883).

2. The Lodge St Thomas Street - Grade II Listed (LBS 245884)

3. ST Thomas Vicarage, Becket Street, Grade II Listed (LBS 
245328)

4. John Coombes House St Thomas Street, Grade II Listed (LBS 
245882)

5. Nr 27 Coopers Marmalade Factory, Grade II Listed (LBS 
481530)

Heritage Context

Heritage assets and conservation areas

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

24 AECOM

62



The surrounding context includes a variety of 
architectural character areas, building types and 
scales.

 − The area west of the station is characterised by low rise 
terraced housing aligned with the railway tracks and station 
buildings. Some larger buildings can be found along the 
waterway. 

 − The area south of the station is characterised by a loose and 
low density urban grain, with a large area of open land towards 
Oxpens. The Oxpens Masterplan SPD proposes to densify 
and animate this part of the West End, creating, together with 
Westgate, a new western focus for the City Centre. The urban 
grain in this location is expected to increase in density.

 − The existing City Centre is predominantly located to the east 
of the station and is characterised by a dense streetscape. 
It includes a variety of architectural styles and is set at a 
higher scale than the rest of the City. It is characterised by the 
network of enclosed spaces relating to the colleges and the 
University, mixed with commercial and civic buildings.

 − Frideswide Square, Hythe Bridge Street and Park End Street 
form a clear east-west route from the Station Area to the City 
Centre.

Character Areas

Character Areas plan

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

25AECOM

63



The Oxford Station area is to become a truly 
integrated transportation hub providing a range of 
public transport options within and beyond the city.

Overview and projection
The population of Oxford is anticipated to grow by around 
13,000 people over the next decade, from approximately 
152,000 currently. Additionally, current demand for employment 
in the city significantly exceeds the resident workforce due 
to a large shortage in housing supply within the City. As such 
there is significant commuting into the City from neighbouring 
areas - almost half the City’s workforce travels into Oxford and 
commuting distances are increasing with work journeys needing 
to ‘jump’ the Green Belt. 
The City’s rail connections are also used by those living in the 
City and nearby to travel to jobs in London and the Thames 
Valley, which underlines the important bilateral relationship 
between the City, adjacent cities and the rest of the County. With 
the increasing in-commuting, overcrowding and congestion 
on key transport routes inhibit growth and add pressure on the 
City’s infrastructure.

Oxford’s capacity and demand
Oxford rail station is currently served by a mix of Cross Country 
(up to two peak services an hour in both direct between Reading 
and the north of England) and Great Western Railways eight 
peak hour services an hour between London Paddington and 
the north (Worcester and Hereford) – 12 two-way train services 
in total.  The rail station is served by two mainline service 
platforms, whilst two further lines allow for non-stopping 
services to operate through the station i.e. freight trains.   A 3rd 
terminating platform that will be served by Chiltern railways via 
their service between London Marylebone, Bicester Village and 
High Wycombe which commenced operation at the end of 2016. 
The introduction of the Chiltern terminating service will serve 
a growth in services with the addition of four trains an hour, 
providing a total of 16 peak hour service’s an hour via Oxford 
station.
From 2019 Oxford station is anticipated to serve the western 
section of the East-west rail connection between Milton Keynes 
/ Bedford and Cambridge, this will include two new rail lines and 
platforms at Oxford station to accommodate this.

Phase 2 works which are under way will result in the following 
alterations / additions to the current station over the course of 
the next year or so, up to 2018:

 −  Demolition of buildings as required for CP5 Infrastructure 
scheme

 −  Demolition of Station Services Buildings & associated car 
parking 

 −  Widening of the bridge over Botley Road
 −  Construction of widening bridge over Canal
 −  Construction of new western through track
 −  Construction of new Island Platform

The Oxford Station Area recognises one of the key objectives 
is to meet the operational demands of anticipated rail growth 
over the next 30 years.  The future design will ensure, through 
dialogue with stakeholders in Network Rail the ability to future 
proof the design of the station and allow for passive provision for 
development such as for example provision on the eastern side 
of the station for track widening. 
Demand for buses in Oxford is high and is reflected in the 
network of routes and services. The city bus network comprises 
city bus routes, Park & Ride services and an established and well 
utilised long distance coach network. 
City Centre Park & Ride routes generally utilise the bus 
interchange fronting the existing station and bus stops located 
on Frideswide Square and the wider City Centre. Coaches in the 
City generally utilise the Gloucester Green Bus Station, which is 
the Oxford terminus for long-distance coach services, including 
the frequent services to London and to Cambridge. The bus 
network is currently constrained by:

 − Inadequate space within the station four court to 
accommodate the demand for buses and routes;

 − Poor multi modal linkages / way finding between buses, taxis, 
rail and coaches is evident; and

 − The clear headroom clearances beneath Botley Bridge are 
constrained, which impacts bus routing 

Cycling is central to the ethos of Oxford, with a high percentage 
of residents and visitors cycling. The recent Census data 
suggests that approx. 15-20% of commuter trips are undertaken 
by cycling with the City boundary. The appetite for cycling is 
reflected in a large area of cycle parking located in the station 
forecourt (approx. 600 spaces). Equally new improved shared 
cycle/footway arrangements have been installed within 

Transport and Access

Bus routes around the Station area.

Frideswide Square which provides an improved environment 
for part of the strategic east-west Oxford dual cycle route along 
Botley Road. 
The OXONbike mixed fleet (pedal / electric) cycle hire scheme 
is now rolling out across the city, with 8 cycle hire stands 
available at the station, with many other locations now up and 
running. A Brompton Cycle hire docking station is also located 
at the station providing an alternative to OXONbike and further 
reflecting the appetite and changing face of cycling as an 
integrated multi-modal transport choice for stations. 

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

26 AECOM

64



The Oxford Station area context has a wide range 
of land uses such as academic, commercial and 
residential, which define this urban neighbourhood.

 − The Station Area acts as clear dividing line between the 
land uses represented in the City Centre and immediate 
surroundings. 

 − The area west of the station is mainly residential, while on the 
south corner the Osney Mead industrial estate is made up of 
large floorplate storage, distribution and business uses.

 − East of the station, where most of the City Centre sits, there is 
a mix of land uses which includes: 

 - Residential: found in the heart of Oxford and surrounding 
the core of the City Centre.

 - Retail floorspace: located in the existing Westgate Centre 
and other main retail arteries of the City Centre.

 - University and college buildings are located throughout  
the City Centre.

 - There is a small number of hotels in the City Centre.

 - Civic and cultural buildings.

Land use

Existing land use plan

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

27AECOM

65



The station area with its railway corridor creates 
severance between neighbourhoods to the east 
and west, a key issue which the Station Area 
development should prioritise in addressing 
through placemaking, design principles, and 
modifications to Botley Road.

Key constraints
The Station Area has some key constraints that the development 
will need to address:

 − The railway corridor creates severance, which restricts 
access and connectivity between east and west; 

 − The Botley Road under passage creates an unwelcoming 
pedestrian gateway to the west of the City;

 − The elevated railway splits the site into a significant east 
facing parcel and narrower parcels to the west;

 − Issues of flooding will need to be fully considered and 
consulted up on;

 − The existing station area and station building create poor 
frontage with the surrounding streets and public realm;

 − The station building does not have a visual presence from any 
of the station approach routes, hence offers poor legibility as 
a major transport hub within and beyond the city;

 − The quality of public realm immediately in front of the station 
is poor and does not relate to the high quality public realm in 
Frideswide Square;

 − Carfax tower height restrictions apply to the Station Area, 
limiting the height of buildings within the development;

 − The City’s architectural quality needs to be preserved and 
enhanced through the station’s architectural features;

 − The exact position and design for transfer deck should be 
subject to detailed pedestrian flow analysis;

 − Network Rail’s safety and operational demands and 
future requirements will need to be addressed in design 
development Oxford Station Area.

Constraints

Constrains diagram

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

28 AECOM

66



Site Constraints

Osney Cemetery

Twenty PoundMeadowAllotments

Frideswide Square

Botley Rd

Becket St

Park End St

Osney Ln

Becket Street(Long Stay)Parking

P

WorcesterCollege

R
iver Tham

es

St Thomas the Martyr

A
bbey R

d

M
ill S

t

C
ripley R

oad

Rewley Road

Castle Mill Stream

H
ollybush R

ow

St Thomas Street

R
oger D

udm
nan W

ay

18/08/2016

OXFORD STATION SPDSite Analysis 1:2000 @A3

0m 20m 40m

The trees in front of the existing station and 
next to the existing cycle parking will need to 
be removed.

Improvement works to Botley Road bridge 
to create additional height and new footpath 
and cycle lanes will result in disruption to 
access routes.

The Youth Hostel building (YHA) will need to 
be removed.

Osney lane footbridge will need to remain  
functional and allow pedestrian access 
during redevelopment of station area.

Existing structures/ trees to be removed

Tree preservation orders (TPOs)

Rail expansion area

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

Cripley Rd

Existing Station building

Structures to be removed
and ground levels to be reduced

0m 10m 20m
0 20 40

Site plan with existing structures that will be removed.

to create a continuous and 
accessible public realm

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

29AECOM

67



It is crucial that the Station Area development 
responds to its immediate context, including 
nearby development sites, in order to support the 
emergence of a new quarter of the City as well as 
the existing City Centre and Oxford as a whole.

Key opportunities
The Station Area should be developed as a fully integrated 
transport hub supported by appropriate land uses to maximise 
the opportunities for the area:

 − To create a well-connected access and movement network 
linking the Station Area to the surroundings with improved 
east-west connectivity as well as the wider area; 

 − Create a new townscape reference for the Station Area, where 
taller buildings around the Station and Frideswide Squares 
define this important quarter of the City;

 − Appropriate orientation of the new Station building to frame 
and accentuate key local views providing visual presence and 
legibility to the Station Area from the key approach routes and 
particularly Frideswide Square;

 − Create positive frontage along all the key streets and public 
realm;

 − Establish the new western station entrance and a gateway 
from the western part of the City;

Opportunities

Opportunities diagram

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

30 AECOM

68



Station Area - Bird’s eye view from east

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

31AECOM

69



Frideswide Square

70



04Design Principles

71



Comprehensive redevelopment of the station area 
provides an opportunity to significantly improve 
this part of the City Centre in urban design terms 
and contribute to the character and identity of 
Oxford.

Design Principles
The existing Oxford Station buildings and surrounding open 
spaces currently detract from the character of the City and 
provide a poor sense of arrival and don’t make best use of land in 
an accessible and prominent location.

A high quality design response to be detailed within a 
comprehensive Design and Access Statement will include the 
following:
1. Proposals should set out a comprehensive approach 

to development of the site including consideration of 
development phasing; a piecemeal or partial redevelopment 
proposal is unlikely to be considered acceptable.

2.  Development should provide an exemplary architectural 
response with particular regard to the most visually prominent 
parts of the site adjacent to Botley Road, both east and west 
of the railway line.

3.  Development should provide high quality ground floor 
frontages where appropriate including along Botley Road, the 
new Station Square and Beckett Street; blank façades along 
the key frontages are unlikely to be acceptable;

4.  Development should enhance local views towards the site; 
this should be demonstrated via a Townscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment.

5.  Development should include high quality design details and 
building materials that contribute to and complement Oxford’s 
architectural character and heritage.

6. The exact position and design of the transfer deck may 
require refinement but that this should not compromise the  
juxtaposition of the  station building front entrance with the 
forecourt and Frideswide  Square.

Urban form, views and accent buildings

Figure DP1: Urban form, views and accent buildings design principles  

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

34 AECOM

72



Scale and Massing

The station area development provides the 
opportunity for a high quality architectural 
response. Oxford’s skyline is a distinctive and 
valuable aspect of the City’s heritage and as such 
must be preserved by any new development.

Design Principles
The Oxford View Cones Assessment sets out details of the key 
views towards Oxford’s skyline. Under existing policy set out in 
the Local Plan and Core Strategy, new development is required 
to preserve and not detract from the views. In addition, Oxford’s 
saved Local Plan policy HE.9 identifies an 18.2 (60ft) AOD 
limitation on building height within 1,200 metres of Carfax Tower.

However, it is recognised that variation in building height within 
Oxford can add to the City’s character and certain parts of the 
station area offer potential for instances of height to contribute 
to Oxford’s skyline. It is anticipated that the development 
proposals will be include assessment via a comprehensive 
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment to be submitted as 
part of a planning application:

1. Development within the station area should in general not 
exceed the height established by the Carfax Tower of 18.2 
metres (60 ft) AOD.

2. The scale of new development should  be consistent with 
ranges identified on the scale plan shown in Figure DP2.

3. Instances of taller development may be acceptable in the 
locations identified in Figure DP2, subject to an assessment 
of the design in relation to Oxford’s protected views as set out 
in the Oxford View Cones Assessment 2015. As well as the 
impact on views, any proposals for taller development should 
provide an outstanding and sensitive architectural approach, 
a strong relationship with the streetscape, improved legibility 
for the area and consideration of micro-climatic conditions, 
including daylight, sunlight and overshadowing where 
relevant.

Figure DP2: Scale and Massing design principles  

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

35AECOM

73



The SPD envisages a comprehensive and mixed 
use development of the station area that will 
contribute to the creation of an exemplary gateway 
for Oxford, positively impacting on land values and 
assisting with wider regeneration in the west of the 
City.

Design Principles
The land uses envisaged include retail, business, hotel and 
residential uses alongside the station concourse, operational 
uses and areas for cycle and vehicle parking.

The operational requirements of the station redevelopment 
as well as the proximity to existing land uses as identified in 
Chapter 2 place certain constraints on the location of particular 
land uses. Figure DP3 identifies the parts of the site in which the 
different land uses are considered appropriate.

1. The development should include a mix of land uses alongside 
the station concourse, station concourses, operational uses, 
cycle and car parking to include retail, business, hotel and 
residential uses.

2.  The location of the land uses should be broadly consistent 
with the flexible land use plan shown in Figure DP3.

3.  The amount of development should fall within the ranges:

• Station and facilities: 6,500 sqm

• Commercial / Residential: 13,000 - 16,000 sqm

• Additional development beyond the ranges identified will be 
acceptable where it can be demonstrated that development 
objectives and other design principles can still be met by the 
development.

4.  Any residential development, including student 
accommodation, must provide good standards of amenity 
for residents to include good access to daylight and sunlight, 
amenity space and acceptable noise levels; residential 
development should adhere to policy requirements set out in 
the Council’s other planning policy documents.

Land use mix

Figure DP3: Land use mix design principles

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

36 AECOM

74



Comprehensive redevelopment of the station area 
provides an opportunity to significantly improve 
the site in urban design terms and contribute to the 
function and character of Oxford.

Design Principles
Recently completed public realm improvements at Frideswide 
Square near to the station provide greatly improved public 
space as well as allowing for efficient vehicle movement and 
bus stops. New public space forming part of the redevelopment 
of the station area can complement Frideswide Square, 
create high quality arrival spaces and improve connections 
with the surroundings.  It is important that the potential of the 
development to provide high quality public and amenity space 
is not compromised by operational and servicing requirements. 
Development proposals for the station area development should 
therefore include a comprehensive landscape and public realm 
strategy.
1. Development must include high quality public spaces 

adjacent to the station building entrances to contribute to an 
improved sense of arrival to the City;

2. Public space should include high quality seating areas, street 
lighting and way finding signage whilst avoiding unnecessary 
clutter

3. Materials used in the hard landscape should be 
complementary to the new buildings and recently completed 
Frideswide Square public realm improvement works.

4. Areas for vehicular and taxis drop off and pick up should be 
successfully and safely designed so as not to detract from the 
quality of public amenity and open arrival space, particularly in 
relation to the new station square.

5. Consideration should be given to the potential for public art to 
be included within the development.

6. Consideration should be given to opportunities for inclusion 
of soft landscaping where appropriate, including replacement 
and additional tree planting.

7. Potential to explore alternative land uses fronting the 
Secondary station square.

Public Realm and amenity space

Figure DP4: Public realm and amenity space design principles

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

37AECOM

75



Access and Movement

The redevelopment of the station area aims to 
provide a multi-modal transport interchange that 
supports a choice of sustainable transport modes 
including rail, bus, cycling and walking. 

Design Principles
Transport Orientated Development (TOD) locates development 
in close proximity to ‘transport hubs’  / transport corridors and in 
walking distance of amenities, services and employment which 
can in turn successfully justify reduced car parking provision at 
both origins and destinations. 

To ensure TOD prevails within the masterplan given that the 
complementary land uses are situated within the boundary 
of the station, the level of car parking for residential and 
employment uses is a major factor to ensure the ability to 
influence the use of modes of transport other than the private 
car is inherent in the design of the development.

Reducing local car dependency is of paramount importance.  
This should therefore be commensurate with the reduction of 
parking allocation for all land uses: residential areas as well as 
activity/leisure/shopping centres and offices, importantly in 
tandem with well-planned and frequent public transport and 
high quality options for the regular use of active mode for both 
commuting and leisure.  

The office, hotel and residential uses should therefore must 
be car-free development save for the provision of blue badge 
spaces where deemed required, to comply with the parking 
standards in the West End AAP.  Due consideration should be 
given to operational and servicing access requirements of 
development for both the operational railway and commercial 
uses.

Figure DP5: Access and movement design principles

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

38 AECOM

76



Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

Access routes

Station square

Station accesses

Pedestrians

P P

P

Cycle parking

Underground Cycle parking
Cycle hire

Pedestrian and cycling movement

Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

Access routes

Station square

Station accesses

Pedestrians

P P

P

Cycle parking

Underground Cycle parking
Cycle hire

Design Principles

1. Development must provide convenient pedestrian access to 
the station north and south of Botley Road to the east of the 
railway and on the north side of Botley Road to the west of the 
railway. The design will seek to enhance pedestrian and cycle 
provision.  The widening of footways under Botley Bridge 
and along Becket Street as well as the use of shared surface 
treatments in around the station will support and enhance 
pedestrian permeability and the integration of current and 
future routes such as the Cycle Super Route under Botley 
Bridge and beyond.

2.  Development proposals should enhance pedestrian and cycle 
connectivity enhancing links to the surrounding context and 
integrating with the existing transport network. The use of 
improved signage and wayfinding will be a key consideration 
for the masterplan

3.  Development proposals must provide secure cycle parking: 
2,450 covered cycle stands in the form of Josta (or similar)
style double stacking stands.  Provision for improved 
OxonBike and Brompton cycle hire provision designated 
within the public realm. Provision of a high quantum of cycle 
parking ensures future proofing of the scheme to meet future 
demand. The development of the station will be phased and 
therefore cycle parking provision can also be phased in line 
with this.

Figure DP6: Pedestrian and cycling design principles

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

39AECOM

77



Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

Bus routes

Bus interchange

Bus stops

Station entrance

Bus routes
Osney Cemetery

Twenty Pound
Meadow

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange

1
3

5 6 7

8
9 10 11

2
12 13 14

15
16 17 18 19 20

0m 50m 100m

Bus movement and interchange

Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

Bus routes

Bus interchange

Bus stops

Station entrance

Bus routes

Design Principles
1. Development proposals must provide a bus interchange to 

be located on Beckett Street  with bus parking for minimum 
15 to maximum 24 stands (3 x 15m) including space for non-
designated bus replacement stands.

2. Bus interchange could be provided in any preferred 
configuration option, considering the following key points:

 - Generally, reversing layouts are ill-suited to high 
frequency services which sometimes experience 
‘bunching together’ of buses on the same route. 

 - In a bus station with ‘forwards-in/reverse out’ bays, 
bunching would result in buses queuing for a particular 
bay, creating hazardous tail-backs onto the highway or 
across the area required for the arrival and manoeuvring 
of other services. 

 - Issues with alighting points on two door vehicles and ‘low 
floor’ bus specification where access for wheelchair users 
is through the centre doors.

 - The orientation of bus bays within the interchange are 
considered on the basis of left hand drive vehicles 
in the main, however right hand drive vehicle can be 
accommodated. The exact layout of the bus interchange 
will be subject to further detailed design 

3. It is anticipated that Buses could use the Becket Street 
extension in future as well as or as an alternative to the 
routing of city buses via Osney Lane.  Buses routed to the 
interchange can use Beckett Street from Frideswide Square 
as well as the route from Osney Lane and Becket Street 
extension.

Bus interchange alternative layout with Islands: 

Figure DP7: Bus interchange design principles

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

40 AECOM

78



Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

P

P

Short stay parking

Long stay parking

Drop off

Cars

Station accesses

Car routes

Car movement

Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

P

P

Short stay parking

Long stay parking

Drop off

Cars

Station accesses

Car routes

Design Principles

1.  Development proposals should provide for vehicular drop off 
and pick up with each space as per NR standards.

2. Development should provide maximum car parking provision 
of:

 - Short Stay Car Parking – 51 spaces including 8 accessible/ 
blue badge bays

 - Long stay car parking – 480 spaces
 - Operational car parking – 53 parking spaces including 3 

disabled bays  

3. Through high quality design, it should seek to ensure that 
any conflicts between multiple users (pedestrians, bicycles, 
services vehicles, buses and cars) are minimised where 
possible given the constrained nature of this area.  The use 
of surface treatments, demarcation, signage (located in 
key locations to ensure minimal street furniture clutter) and 
controls should be used to ensure the safety of vulnerable 
users.  Areas should be designed with active modes ahead of 
vehicular borne movements.

Figure DP8: Car access and parking design principles

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

41AECOM

79



Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

TAXI

Taxis access routes

Station entrance

Taxis

Taxi movement

Twenty Pound

Allotments

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

0m 50m 100m

TAXI

Taxis access routes

Station entrance

Taxis

Design Principles

1.  Development proposals should provide space for maximum 
of taxis 24 spaces, based on the dimensions set out within 
the local design standards preferably on the northern end of 
Station Square East.

2. Taxi parking provision and access should avoid causing 
conflict with pedestrian and cycle access in the station area.

3. The area will be utilised by taxis, retained service access to 
the Said Business School, servicing for the station related 
activity (outside of peak periods) as well as cycling and 
walking.

4. Pedestrian and cycle safety will be ensured through 
appropriate design.  The future design will ensure a hierarchy 
whereby pedestrian and cyclists are given priority, shared 
surface treatments, traffic calming and appropriate signage 
and demarcation will help to ensure taxi movements are 
conscious of other users and the busy interaction of users in 
the area.

5.  Vehicular movements other than taxis will be restricted and or 
in the case of service and delivery vehicles restricted to off-
peak periods.   

Figure DP9: Taxi access design principles

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

42 AECOM

80



Sustainability

New development should respond to the 
challenge of climate change through integration 
of sustainable design principles responding to the 
policies of the development plan. 

Sustainability

Oxford City Council’s Suitability Strategy for Oxford 2011-
2016 recognises that a high quality environment is integral to 
delivering a high quality of life for local residents and is attractive 
for business. As a key hub, the environment of this new multi-
modal transport interchange will have a direct impact on the 
quality of life for local residents that use it, and will be the first 
impression of Oxford for many visitors and investors for years 
to come. As such, the development of the station area should 
embrace the principles of sustainable development not only 
for a high quality environment today, but in delivering a resilient 
future in the face of a changing climate. 

Design Principles
The City Council’s Development Plan Policies set out the 
principles for sustainable development, and specifically 
the Natural Resources Impact Assessment SPD identifies a 
range of resource efficient measures for building design and 
construction. Improvements to the public realm should also 
reduce environmental impacts and improve urban resilience 
as set out in the OxLEP Strategic Environment and Economic 
Investment Strategy. 

The design principles here draw on this best practice to create a 
new station area that: 

1.  Aims to meet the ‘target standard’ outlined in the Natural 
Resource Impact Analysis SPD for development energy 
efficiency, renewable energy provision, embodied impacts, 
materials selection and water management. Passive 
approaches will be prioritised. The principles of reducing the 
embodied impacts and materials selection should also apply 
to the development of the public realm as well as buildings. 

2.  Demonstrates that development will not have an adverse 
impact on the local climate, taking into consideration future 
climate projections, impact on wind speeds, urban heat island 
and flood risk. 

3.  Development will not results in a net loss in species or 
ecological value and should aim to provide a net gain in 
Biodiversity Action Plan priority species through a Green 
infrastructure strategy that helps adapt to climate change 
Any development resulting in a loss of trees and habitat must 
compensate for this loss on-site  

4.  Provide a sustainable approach to drainage that targets 
green-field run off rates, demonstrating consideration of 
the drainage hierarchy including the potential for surface 
water reuse, infiltration, discharge to a surface water body, 
discharge to a water course, discharge to a separated 
sewer and as a last resort discharge to a combined sewer. 
Consideration of an appropriate treatment train should 
be given to ensure that the quality of run-off is improved 
and does not have a negative impact on the receiving 
environment.   

5.  Contribute towards the development of a sustainable 
approach to waste management by providing space for the 
appropriate separation and storage of waste in line with the 
city’s waste management arrangements.   

6.  Support a shift towards more sustainable modes of transport 
include provision of appropriate space for walking, cycling 
and public transport. 

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

43AECOM

81



Station Approach from north

82



05Development 
Components

83



Development Components 

Station and Station Square East

The station building and station squares are the most crucial components in the station 
area and must be designed and built to create a prominent and high quality building and 
public open space that defines the station area as the gateway for Oxford.

Design Principles
1. Western end of Station Square East should be pedestrian priority public realm with 

cycle access;

2. Taxis and other vehicular access route should be located towards the eastern edge of 
Station Square ;

3. Station Square East should be well accessed by fully accessible routes;
4. The Station building should be appropriately orientated to provide prominence and 

excellent visibility from all station approach routes;

5. All the buildings fronting Station Square East should maximise active frontage with 
the square;

6. Appropriate signage should be provided along all the key routes to and from the 
station area;

7. Access to Said Business School car park ramp as well as future development at the 
northern end of the site should be provided from the Station Square;

8. Taxi drop-off (24 spaces) should be located within one consolidated zone at the 
northern end of the square, also providing access to station operations and the Hotel;

9. Service vehicle access should be maintained through the square and be restricted to 
off peak periods, to reduce impact on pedestrian moment during peak times but to 
ensure their disruptive impact on operations within the square;

10. Improved wayfinding should be provided to ensure a clear route toward Gloucester 
Green Bus Station from both, Station Square East and bus interchange to promote 
complimentary multi-modal  interchange within the city;

11. The city cycle hire provision could be provided on Station Square East, with 
appropriate visibility and signage;

12. Public Art could be provided in Station Square East.
13. Pedestrian and cycle safety will be ensured through appropriate design.  Measures to 

avoid conflict could include appropriate signage to ensure cyclists dismount in this 
area once off designated cycle routes up to and beyond the station forecourt.  Vehicle 
speeds reduced to 10mph and pedestrian priority through the design of surface 
treatments and demarcation will also play a part.

Figure DP10: Station and Station Square East design principles 
(Note: This diagram is illustrative of SPD design principles)

Precedent for Station square: Kings Cross arrival square Precedent for Station square: Proposed Barking Riverside arrival sq.

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

46 AECOM

84



Corner development and station entrance

The development site on the corner of Becket Street and Botley road is  a major 
opportunity in the station area and will need to contribute to and enhance the 
station and its immediate surroundings.

Design Principles
1. Station entrance should be provided from the corner development, providing 

clear and legible access to station through the pedestrian footbridge over 
Botley Road;

2. Pedestrian bridge should be designed as a high quality architectural feature 
complementing the station building and provide a continuous accessible route 
to the station from Becket Street;

3. Development on this site should be the tallest element within the Station area, 
not exceeding 18.2m in height or ordnance datum 79.3m (whichever is the 
lowest). All relevant guidance for compliance with Carfax height restrictions and 
Oxford view cones should be duly followed to assess impact of development on 
this site;

4. This site could be developed higher than Carfax height only if all due compliance 
and considerations to relevant policies are followed and the approach consulted 
with and agreed by the relevant authorities; 

5. In-set loading / servicing bay should be provided on Becket Street as servicing 
facility for the commercial use in this development;

6. No parking should be provided at ground level of this site;

7. Commercial land uses should provide active frontages at the ground level;

8. The building should be sufficiently stepped back on ground level to allow 
recommended width of pedestrian and cycle access route along the entire 
length of Becket Street in both directions. 

Figure DP11: Corner development and station entrance design principles
(Note: This diagram is illustrative of SPD design principles)

Precedent for corner development Precedent for station entrance: Proposed Bond Street Crossrail 

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

47AECOM

85



Western Station entrance and Station Square West

This new station entrance will create a new gateway to Oxford that relates positively 
to the western part of the city and provide access to a well developed transport 
interchange with connections within and beyond the city.

Design Principles
1. The Station building should be of excellent architectural quality, provide 

prominence and excellent visibility from all station approach routes from the 
western side of the city; 

2. A high quality public realm should be provided as the Station Square West, 
providing a complimentary forecourt to the station;

3. Drop-off arrangement should be located close to the western station entrance 
and should be well integrated with the station public realm, avoiding conflict with 
pedestrian access and circulation;

4. Servicing of commercial units should be integrated with the drop-off facility and 
used during off peak station operation hours; 

5. Short stay parking of 43 spaces and 8 accessible spaces should be provided 
close to the western station entrance; 

6. Junction of Botley Road with Cripley Road could be signalised to provide 
adequate traffic management and flow capacity following the required traffic 
assessment and approvals from relevant authorities;

7. Station operations car park (54 spaces) should be provided at the northernmost 
end of the western station entrance area;

8. Land uses including rail related retail and ticketing facilities at the ground level of 
the station building should maximise active frontage with Station Square West;

9. Appropriate signage should be provided along all the key routes to and from the 
station area.

Figure DP12: Western Station and Station Square West design principles
(Note: This diagram is illustrative of SPD design principles)

Precedent for Station Square Northampton station arrival square Precedent for Station concourse: Proposed HS2 concourse Euston

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

48 AECOM

86



Bus interchange, Multi-storey car parking and Cycle parking

It is of vital importance that the development of Oxford station area creates a truly 
integrated transport hub which provides the maximum range of public transport 
opportunities to passengers and is developed as a coherent  new station quarter.

Design Principles
1. The bus interchange and multi-storey car parking facilities should have a positive 

frontage on to Becket Street with the passenger concourse for bus station located 
along the street and clearly visible from all station approach routes;

2. A new fully accessible pedestrian access should be provided for the pedestrian 
footbridge through the development, preferably at the corner of Becket Street and 
Osney Lane;

3. An efficient layout for bus interchange with appropriate passenger facilities should 
be provided to accommodate the recommended range of 15 - 24 buses;

4. The access from Becket Street should designed  such that it ensures flexibility of 
future bus routing and time tabling and the buses can access both from the north 
and east (Osney Lane);

5. Multi-storey Car park should provide a maximum of 480 spaces and accessed by 
appropriate entry / exit arrangement, to alleviate the impact of queuing vehicles on 
Becket Street; 

6. A minimum clear headroom of 2.6m should be provided for each usable floor of the 
Multi-storey Car park;

7. Buildings to be set back on the ground floor to allow a 3m wide continuous 
pedestrian and cycle access along Becket Street in both directions and well 
integrated with bus interchange and public realm of Becket Street.

8. A long-stay cycle parking facility with a minimum of 2,450 spaces should be 
provided at below ground level of the station development with a clearly visible, 
legible and prominent access to the facility;

9. The passenger concourse for the bus interchange could provide views to the 
surrounding heritage buildings and green spaces. 

10. The use of Variable Message Signing should be considered and upgraded across 
the city to ensure the parking (both cycle and car) are appropriately advertised 
before arrive in the station area.

Figure DP13: Bus Interchange design principles

Figure DP14: Multi-storey car parking design principles Figure DP15: Cycle Parking design principles

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

49AECOM

87



Station  Area - Existing

88



06Illustrative 
Masterplan

89



Illustrative Ground Floor Plan

± 0.00

-0.50

-1.00

-0.60

+2.00

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

+2.00

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P AccessHotel

12 13 14

16 17 18

15

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail
Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

0m 50m 100m

± 0.00

-0.50

-1.00

-0.60

+2.00

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

+2.00

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P AccessHotel

12 13 14

16 17 18

15

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail
Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

0m 50m 100m

1

1

3

2

4

5

2
3

4

5

Multi storey Car Park with retail units 
(cycle repair shops / cafés) along 
Becket St. 

Commercial building with retail units on 
the ground floor and station entrance 
through pedestrian bridge; Cycle parking 
on the lower ground / basement level, with 
potential for cycle repair shop at ground 
level

Bus Interchange with waiting area 
and capacity for 18 buses.  

Station building with ticket hall and 
retail units on the ground floor

Hotel with active frontage along the 
Station Square East

The redevelopment of the station 
adhering to design principles set out 
in the SPD. 

Illustrative masterplan
The illustrative masterplan is developed from 
the design principles set out for the site wide 
and component specific design principles in 
chapters 04 and 05 of this SPD. 

The illustrative masterplan, sections and 
indicative visualisations explore the various 
spatial organisations firstly as the main 
illustrative layout and then as possible 
variants to represent a range of possible 
design approaches that could be undertaken 
in the next stages of Oxford Station area 
redevelopment. 

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

52 AECOM

90



-0.50

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange
Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station

Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12 13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

0m 50m 100m

± 0.00

-0.50

-1.00

-0.60

+2.00

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

+2.00

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P AccessHotel

12 13 14

16 17 18

15

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail
Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

0m 50m 100m

Illustrative Concourse Level Plan

6

6

8

8

7

7

9

9

10

11

10

11

Station Concourse with 
retail, F & B units and 
access to the platforms

Osney lane bridge reconfigured, 
with access from the MSCP’s 
vertical circulation

Operations building 
connected with the main 
station building

Residential building /
student housing

Residential building with 
flats. 

Single row of houses.

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

53AECOM

91



± 0.00
-0.50

-1.00

-0.60

+2.00

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

+2.00

FrideswideSquare

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange

Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P Access

Hotel

12
13

14

16 17 18
15

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail
Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail

Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPDDraft Proposal GF Plan 1:500@A1

0m
25m

50m

-0.50

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange
Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station

Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12 13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD

Draft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1
0m 25m 50m

Illustrative Ground Floor Plan - Station Square

Station Entrance

Station internal spaces

Retail

Residential

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

54 AECOM

92



-0.50

FrideswideSquare

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange

Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station
Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12
13

16 18
15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPDDraft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1

0m
25m

50m

-0.50

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange
Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station

Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12 13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD

Draft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1
0m 25m 50m

Illustrative Concourse Level Plan - Station Square

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

55AECOM

93



-0.50

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange
Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station

Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12 13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD

Draft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1
0m 25m 50m

Illustrative below Ground Level Plan

Cycling Parking 2 (1178)

31x38

15x38

Cycle Parking 1 (670)

B
ot

le
y 

R
oa

d

Frideswide Sq

Becket St

OUTLINE OF BUILDING OVER

FrideswideSquare

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

28/10/2016

0m
25m

50m OXFORD STATION SPDDraft Proposal LGF Plan 1:500@A1

Twenty Pound
Allotments

FrideswideSquare

Said BusinessSchool

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

River Thames

St Thomasthe Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Castle
 M

ill S
tre

am

Hollybush Row

St Thom
as Street

0m
50m

100m

P

P P

Cycle access routesCycle storageCycle storage (underground)Brompton bike hire

Cycles

Oxon bike hireStation accesses

Cycling movement diagram

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

56 AECOM

94



Cross Sections

+59.00

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Platform Level
6.0

Cycling Parking

Botley Road underpass

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Retail

Becket St

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Pedestrian Path

Platform Level
6.0 Nom

+58.70 Cycle P
Entrance

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Becket Street MSCP 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

+59.00

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Platform Level
6.0

Cycling Parking

Botley Road underpass

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Retail

Becket St

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Pedestrian Path

Platform Level
6.0 Nom

+58.70 Cycle P
Entrance

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Becket Street MSCP 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

+59.00

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Platform Level
6.0

Cycling Parking

Botley Road underpass

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Retail

Becket St

+79.30 (Carfax Tower)

Pedestrian Path

Platform Level
6.0 Nom

+58.70 Cycle P
Entrance

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Becket Street MSCP 1:500@A2

OXFORD STATION SPD

Bottley Street Long Section 1:500@A2

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

0m 10m 20m

Osney Cemetery

Twenty PoundMeadowAllotments

FrideswideSquare

Said BusinessSchool

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomasthe Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Castle
 M

ill S
tre

am

Hollybush Row

St Thom
as Street

0m
50m

100m

A B C

Cross section through multi-storey car park along Becket St (

Section  along Botley Road Bridge 

Section C-C

Section B-B

Section A-A

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

57AECOM

95



Oxford Station SPD 28/10/2016
Area Schedule

Landuse
Floor 

Area (m2)
Levels

Total 
GFA Subtotals

Number 
of spaces

Station and facilities
Main building  3,338 3,338
Operation Building 790 2.0 1,580
Retail within Station building 1,589 1.0 1,589
Subtotal 6,507
Commercial
Corner Building 1,520 3.0 4,560
Hotel 1,230 3.0 3,690
GF Retail 1,160 1.0 1,160
Subtotal 9,410
Residential
NE building 1 830 3.0 2,490
NE building 2 298 2.0 596
Botley Rd building 325 3.0 975
Subtotal 4,061

Total 19,978

Bus Interchange 18
Multi‐Storey Car Park 480
Cycles 2,468
Short stay 43+8D

Indicative development schedule

Oxford Station SPD

Parking Schedule

Existing Masterplan SPD

Bus/Coach 6 18 18
Taxi 8‐24 24 24
Cycles (approx) 600 1200 2500

Short Stay P (+ Disabled) 43 (8) 43 (8) 43 (8)*  
Staff P 54 54 54
Lond Stay P 480 480 480

* Including dedicated area for drop‐ off

Land use plan 

max.

min.  2,450 

Long Stay P

max.
max.

max.
max.

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

58 AECOM

96



± 0.00

-0.50

-1.00

-0.60

+2.00

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

+2.00

Osney Cemetery

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Cas
tle

 M
ill 

Stre
am

Hollybush Row

S
t Thom

as S
treet

Bus interchange Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P AccessHotel

12 13 14

16 17 18

15

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail
Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

0m 50m 100mIllustrative Masterplan

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

59AECOM

97



1

2
The Station Building and Square

The Station building and Square along with the Frideswide 
Square, will be the first spaces of the passengers’ arrival 
experience. 

The Station building will welcome the visitors with a generous 
space with high ceilings and views to the city centre.

The complex with the square will offer the opportunity to pause 
and orientate, before starting the journey to the city, as a first 
step in the passengers’ experience arriving in and leaving 
Oxford. 

Views and vistas

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

60 AECOM

98



1

1 2 3 4 5 6

2

3

4

5

6

Station building 
with retail units on the 
ground floor and upper 
concourse

Hotel
with active frontage on the 
ground floor

Corner development
Commercial building with retail units 
on the ground floor and entrance 
to the station through pedestrian 
bridge

Bus interchange
with waiting areas and 
capacity for 18 buses. 

Multi storey Car Park with 
retail units along Becket St. 

Operations Building
adjacent to the staff parking

Illustrative aerial view from the north east

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

61AECOM

99



Approaching the Station from the city

The Station will have a clear presence both from the East 
(Frideswide Square) and West side (Botley Road).

The scale and architectural articulation will reflect its identity 
while the entrances will be visible from the various station 
approach routes. 

At the same time the buildings will help in framing the Frideswide 
Square and will complete the surrounding cityscape.

1

2

The arrival experience

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

62 AECOM

100



Illustrative aerial view from the south east

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

63AECOM

101



Illustrative Masterplan Layout Variants

Bus interchange

5 6 7

12 13 14

18 19 20

Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station
Concourse

Staff P (54)

Operations

Drop-off

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

0m
25m

50m

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD
Draft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1

-0.50
± 0.00-0.50

+2.20

-1.00

-0.60

+2.20

-0.50

Bus interchange

1 3 5 6 7

8 9 10 11

2

12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20

Retail

Service

Retail
Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

Service Access

Said P Access

Hotel

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail
Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

'Standard' Rigid Bus

'Standard' Rigid Bus 'Standard' Rigid Bus

10/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD
Draft Proposal 1:500@A1

0m
25m

50m

1. Residential development along Becket Street

In this option  the Bus interchange follows a different layout with 
pedestrian islands (Drive In and Out), while the MSCP sits on top 
on the south side. 

That allows for an additional building with active frontage along 
Becket St that with retail on the ground floor and residential on  
the upper floors.

Considerations for this option include construction challenges 
and cost implications as well as the single aspect residential 
units.

1

2

3

Bus

P

Ret

Res

Typical upper floor plan

Ground floor plan

The Masterplan allows a number of flexible 
solutions that follow the design principles, 
some of which are explored in the following 
variants:

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

64 AECOM

102



-0.50

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange

Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station
Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12
13

16 1815

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

0m
25m

50m

28/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD
Draft Proposal 1F 1:500@A1

± 0.00-0.50

+2.20

-1.00

-0.60

+2.20

-0.50-0.50

+1.70

Frideswide
Square

Said Business
School

Becket St

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Bus interchange

Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Service Access

Said P Access

Hotel

12
13 14

16 17 1815

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Service

Retail Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail

Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

10/10/2016

OXFORD STATION SPD
Draft Proposal 1:500@A1

0m
25m

50m

2. Station building alignment parallel to Botley Road

In this option the Station building is rotated to face Frideswide 
Square, aligning with the Botley Road. That makes the Station 
building more visible when arriving from Park End St and Hythe 
Bridge St. In addition the building will have wider views to the city 
centre from the concourse level. 

A main consideration in this option is the relation of the Station 
building facing Frideswide Square with the retail, hotel and the 
Station Square East in front of them.

1

2

3

Bus

P

Ret

Res

Typical upper floor plan

Ground floor plan

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

65AECOM

103



Illustrative Masterplan Layout Variants

± 0.00
-0.50

+2.20

-1.00

-0.60

+2.20

-0.50

-0.50

+1.70

Osney Cemetery

FrideswideSquare

Said BusinessSchool

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Castle
 M

ill S
tre

am

Hollybush Row

St Thom
as Street

Bus interchange

Taxis (24)

Staff P (54)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Service Access

Said P Access

Hotel

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482

12
13

14

16 17 18
15

Short stay (8 Dis + 43)

Drop-off

24

22

22

Retail

Service

Retail

Service

Retail

Retail

Bike Store 3 (31x20=620)

Retail

Retail

Operation/WC

Retail

0m
50m

100m

-0.50

Osney Cemetery

FrideswideSquare

Said BusinessSchool

Botley R
d

Becket St

O
sney Ln

W
orcester

C
ollege

River Thames

St Thomas
the Martyr

Abbey Rd

Mill St

Cripley Road

Rewley Road

Castle
 M

ill S
tre

am

Hollybush Row

St Thom
as Street

Bus interchange

Taxis

Service Access

Said P Access

Bike Store

Hotel

Station
Concourse

Staff P (54)

MSCP 22+46*6+46*4 = 482
24

22

22

24

Operations

Drop-off

12
13

16
18

15

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Retail

Retail

Retail

WC

14

17

0m
50m

100m

3. Alternative Station Square layout

In this option the open space in front of the station is unified 
with the one in front of the Hotel (taxi drop-off and pick up).  The 
L shape hotel building turns to a single rectangular volume and 
the station building is extending within the square so that it has a 
clear presence in the unified open space.

1

2

3

Bus

P

Ret

Res

Typical upper floor plan

Ground Floor plan

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

66 AECOM

104



Illustrative aerial view from the south east

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

67AECOM

105



Becket Street Car Park and pedestrian bridge - Existing

106



07Phasing 

107



Approach to phasing of key components

Phase 2
 - Construction of Bus Interchange
 - Construction of ground staff parking and short stay parking
 - Construction of operational building 

Phase 1
 - Construction of MSCP
 - Rebuilding of Botley bridge
 - Botley Road improvement works
 - Modifications to Osney Lane bridge

Phasing of the key components of Oxford Station 
development is crucial in delivering a coherent 
vision and successful development of the station 
area.

A strategic approach to phasing the key components of the 
station development is set out here as a recommendation. 
This phasing approach is indicative only and will need to be 
developed further with construction phasing strategy informing 
the process.

The key considerations are:

• Development to allow continued Station operations 
throughout development phases

• Phasing to create rationalisation and consolidation of the 
various  facilities within the station area i.e. relocation of Pick-
up / drop-off, taxi rank and long-stay car park to create clear 
passenger distribution and circulation

• Initial phases to address operational components in order to 
create development opportunity in the subsequent phases 
which could be brought forward for development as serviced 
plots for commercial uses in this prime city centre location

Phasing and Delivery Strategy
The commercial and residential land uses proposed in the 
masterplan are value generating and have the potential to attract 
private sector investment. These uses are expected to make a 
contribution to delivery of the operational buildings and related 
works which will require further funding to implement.  Funding 
is anticipated to be obtained from a range of different sources 
and organisations with some Local Growth Deal funding already 
allocated to the scheme and bids submitted for the western 
platform as part of CP6. A phased approach will be required. 
The City Council will continue to work actively with key partners, 
Network Rail, DFT, County Council and OxLEP to help to deliver 
the proposed development.

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

70 AECOM

108



Phase 4
 - Construction of corner commercial building 
 - Construction of retail and hotel buildings north of the new 

Station building
 - Public realm works in front of the Station

Phase 5
 - Construction of residential buildings in NE and SW sites.

Phase 3
 - Construction of cycle parking below station building
 - Construction of Station building

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

71AECOM

109



View from Becket Street looking towards Station Area

110



AAppendices

111



National Planning Policy
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)
The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied. The purpose 
of the document is to achieve sustainable development through 
the balance of economic, social and environmental objectives. 

Significant weight is placed on the need to support economic 
growth through the planning system to create jobs and 
prosperity. Local planning authorities should recognise 
town centres at the heart of their communities. Residential 
development can for instance play an important role in ensuring 
the vitality of centres.

The transport system should be balanced in favour of 
sustainable transport modes. Simultaneously,  great emphasis 
should be placed on sustainable design solutions to create 
better places for people with access for all.

Local Planning Policy
Oxford Core Strategy (2011)
The Core Strategy sets out the spatial planning framework 
for the development of Oxford up to 2026, and is the principal 
document in Oxford’s Local Development Framework. The Core 
Strategy aims to deliver the Council’s vision for growth and 
regeneration in Oxford. 

Being a regional hub, it is acknowledged that Oxford requires 
transport improvements including increased capacity and 
function of the railway station to assist in the City’s economic 
growth. Improvements should include a new bay platform, 
better facilities and improved interchange with other sustainable 
modes of transport.

Design solutions in Oxford should seek to preserve the City’s 
historic legacy, important views and distinctive townscape 
characteristics. All new development should deliver high quality 
urban design, architecture and public realm.

The Council will promote housing development in sustainable 
locations. As such, and due to the constrained nature of sites 
within it, the City centre should generally allow for higher 
densities.

West End Area Action Plan (2008)
The West End is an area of the city centre from Carfax to the 
railway station and down to the Oxpens Road area. The AAP 
aims to create a vibrant quarter of the city centre with a mix of 
uses and facilities, which includes significant housing provision 
(approximately 700-800 dwellings). 

The West End is recognised as a suitable location for 
housing where there is a desire to create mixed and balanced 
communities. Hotel accommodation should also be increased 
as there is a shortage of mid-range accommodation in the City 
centre. Sites of 0.2ha or greater should nonetheless incorporate 
more than one use to help achieve the diversity which forms part 
of the vision of the West End. 

The AAP recognises that Oxford Railway Station performs a 
vital role and that development of the railway station should 
seek to create a strong sense of arrival into the City. It is further 
suggested that car parking is maintained on Becket Street Car 
Park and achieved by decking part of the site, without harming 
the setting of St Thomas’ Church. 

Furthermore, creating an attractive environment for pedestrians 
and cyclists will encourage bus provision to and from the station.

Saved Local Plan 2001 - 2016
The majority of policies within the Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 
have been superseded by Core Strategy policies. However, some 
have been saved pending the adoption of future Development 
Plan Documents. The Plan includes detailed policies and Policies 
Map.

The Oxford Railway Station is located within the City Centre 
Commercial Area and is surrounded by an indicative pedestrian 
& cycle path and adjacent to two scheduled monuments. Both 
the main railway station building and associated car parking area 
are surrounded by a flood zone.

Sites & Housing Development Plan (2013)
The Sites and Housing Development Plan Document (DPD) 
allocates sites for development for housing, employment 
and other uses and sets out detailed planning policies for 
residential development to improve the balance of residential 
accommodation types across the city.

Infrastructure requirements include the creation of a new bay 
platform for services terminating from the south and link building 
to existing station.

Emerging Planning documents
Local Plan 2016 - 2036
The Council is currently preparing a new Local Plan  schedule 
for adoption in October 2019. The new Local Plan will replace 
the Saved Oxford Local Plan Policies 2001-2016, Oxford Core 
Strategy, and the Sites and Housing Plan.

Economic Strategy

County Transport Policy
Connecting Oxfordshire - Local Transport Plan 2015 - 2031
This Local Transport Plan sets out Oxford County Council’s 
vision for developing the transport system in Oxfordshire up to 
2031. The document is developed around 3 over-arching goals 
which seek to promote economic growth, mitigate the impacts 
of climate change and improve the environment and quality of 
life.

The Oxford Transport Strategy includes three components: 
mass-transit, walking and cycling, and managing traffic and 
travel demand.  

Rail network and connections will be enhanced where it supports 
the county’s objectives for economic growth. Oxford’s unique 
character attracts much more travel than most towns or city of 

Appendix 1

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

74 AECOM

112



comparable size, with tourism, business and academia at the 
heart of its economy.  

More specifically, Oxford Railway Station has been identified 
as being a major constraint on the Oxford-Didcot corridor, 
which without an expansion will hinder economic growth 
in Oxfordshire. A major upgrade to this station is therefore 
necessary and should including new platforms and through lines, 
new station building, transport interchange and widening of 
Botley Road bridge.

More widely, there should be a clear wayfinding strategy in town 
centres to and from the railway station. 

Design and Heritage
The Government aims to preserve the historic environment 
and its heritage assets for the quality of life they bring to this 
and future generations. The NPPF requires local authorities 
to identify opportunities for change in the setting of heritage 
assets that would enhance or better reveal their significance. At 
the local level, a number of documents set out the importance 
of Oxford’s heritage legacy and development restrictions 
to preserve these. The heritage of Oxford is recognised as 
important to the City’s identity. As such, all new developments 
must respond to Oxford’s heritage through sensitive and high 
quality design.

The Oxford Heritage Plan which includes the View Cones Study 
and Oxford Heritage Statement but also the Conservation Area 
Appraisal, Oxford Archaeological Plan; and Oxford Character 
Appraisal Toolkit form part of the main relevant local documents 
to be considered. In addition to these, Oxford City Council is 
currently working on an emerging High Quality Design in Oxford 
SPD which will support design and heritage policies outlined in 
the development plan.

The Heritage Plan, produced by Oxford City Council, Oxford 
Preservation Trust and Historic England, aims to bring the 
management of Oxford’s historic environment into line with 
the requirements of national policy and standards; providing 
a model of best practice that will demonstrate how a local 
authority can apply the principles contained in the Government’s 

heritage protection reform programme, and English Heritage 
Conservation Principles.

The aim of the Oxford View Cones Study is to describe and 
evaluate heritage significance of the 10 Oxford View Cones, as 
protected by the Oxford Local Plan (2001-2016) and the Oxford 
Core Strategy, in order to understand how they can be most 
effectively managed in the future. In that respects, the Site is 
affected by Carfax height restriction zone which limits building 
heights over a 1,200m radius around Carfax Tower and partially 
to the South by the Raleigh Park viewing corridor. 

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

75AECOM

113



Appendix 2 - Network Rail Station Design Principles (Document attached)

Document no. BLDG-SP80-002 

Station Design Principles for Network Rail  

Station Design Principles for Network Rail Document no. BLDG-SP80-002 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 2 of 43 

Contents:

Station Design Principles for Network Rail .................................................................. 1 
1  Executive summary ................................................................................................ 3 
2  Purpose ................................................................................................................... 4 
3  Scope....................................................................................................................... 4 
4  References .............................................................................................................. 5 
5  Background ............................................................................................................ 6 

5.1 Capacity.................................................................................................. 6 
5.2 Legislation .............................................................................................. 6 
5.3 Design stages and approvals ................................................................. 7 
5.4 Government review................................................................................. 8 
5.5 Technology and innovation ..................................................................... 9 
5.6 BIM and asset information .................................................................... 10 
5.7 Customer focus and feedback .............................................................. 10 

6  Design policy and principles ............................................................................... 12 

6.1 Safety and security by design ............................................................... 13 
6.2 PPM targets and reliability .................................................................... 17 
6.3  Inclusiveness and accessibility ............................................................. 18 
6.4 Capacity and future proofing................................................................. 19 
6.5  Intermodal exchange and wayfinding ................................................... 20 
6.6 Whole life cost and operation ............................................................... 22 
6.7 System approach .................................................................................. 23 
6.8 Sustainability ........................................................................................ 24 
6.9 Urban integration, heritage and stakeholder interface .......................... 26 
6.10Standardised approach ........................................................................ 27 
6.11Retail, social and business .................................................................. 28 
6.12Passenger experience and delight ....................................................... 29 

7  Future guidance ................................................................................................... 31 

7.1 Documentation ..................................................................................... 32 
7.2 Master plans ......................................................................................... 32 
7.3 Standardisation ..................................................................................... 32 

8  Appendix A – Definitions ..................................................................................... 35 
9  Appendix B- Applicable legislation, standards & guidance ............................. 38 

Reference page

DRAFT - Oxford Station SPDDraft for review

76 AECOM

114



Station Design Principles for Network Rail Document no. BLDG-SP80-002 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 3 of 43 

1 Executive summary 
This guidance document is the vehicle for Network Rail in defining a station design 
policy for new and existing station buildings. It reaffirms a commitment to an 
architecture that will reflect the synthesis of ‘Firmness, Commodity and Delight’1.
The document sets the 12 principles for delivering station designs by which 
Network Rail will assess the submissions of its suppliers, in section six of this 
document.

The imperative to review, update and consolidate Network Rail’s existing design 
guidance is necessary to keep pace with both legislation and policy but also to go 
beyond the pragmatic and consider the tangible benefits that design quality brings. 
The objective is to provide a centralised source of design information on stations 
that is easily accessible both internally and externally to Network Rail. 

In a time when passenger expectations are rapidly increasing, the provision of 
safe, accessible and inclusive station environments are to be provided as a 
minimum. Allied to this are a sustainable whole life-whole system approach to 
asset design, construction, operation, maintenance and decommissioning, all of 
which are required for effective asset management.

Network Rail Station Design Principles 

Figure 1     Good Station Design 

1 Vitruvius 27BC as translated by Henry Wotton 

Station Design Principles for Network Rail                  Document no. BLDG-SP80-002 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 4 of 43 

There is also the necessity to look ahead and consider how technology is changing 
the means of design production.  There are fundamental shifts in the move from 
bespoke solutions to standard products for station building. Standardisation shall 
be refined by a transparent definition of criteria so that the delivery of stations will 
be simpler, efficient and more adaptable to change. 

2 Purpose 

Network Rail currently owns and manages 19 of the busiest stations in the UK and 
this number is increasing. As infrastructure owner of approximately 2,500 
franchised stations, Network Rail is also delivering major station enhancements 
throughout the country as part of the CP5 programme, including but not limited to: 

 Access for All 
 National Station Improvement Programme 
 Thameslink 
 Crossrail  

This document aims to set the objectives for station guidance, research, 
development and innovation within Network Rail. 

This guidance also seeks to provide a route map for establishing a more 
standardised approach to the design, procurement and delivery of stations in the 
UK.

3 Scope  
This guidance is of relevance to individuals who are involved in new construction, 
refurbishment, renewal, repair & maintenance, operation, decommissioning or 
demolition of a structure in or associated with a Network Rail station to include:  
buildings, platforms, canopies, footbridges, subways, shelters, forecourts, retail 
and car parks. 

We aim to provide an overall structure and programme for the review and update 
of design guidelines for stations and facilities for the travelling public. The objective 
being to establish coherent guidance for anybody concerned with design of railway 
stations and associated commercial property:

 Sponsors   
 Project managers  
 Maintainers 
 Station facility operators (SFO) 
 Designers - architects and engineers 
 Contractors and suppliers  

Reference page

Draft for review DRAFT - Oxford Station SPD

77AECOM

115



About AECOM
AECOM is a premier, fully integrated professional and technical 
services firm positioned to design, build, finance and operate 
infrastructure assets around the world for public- and private-
sector clients. The firm’s global staff — including architects, 
engineers, designers, planners, scientists and management 
and construction services professionals — serves clients in 
over 150 countries around the world. AECOM is ranked as the #1 
engineering design firm by revenue in Engineering News-Record 
magazine’s annual industry rankings, and has been recognized 
by Fortune magazine as a World’s Most Admired Company. The 
firm is a leader in all of the key markets that it serves, including 
transportation, facilities, environmental, energy, oil and gas, 
water, high-rise buildings and government. AECOM provides a 
blend of global reach, local knowledge, innovation and technical 
excellence in delivering customized and creative solutions that 
meet the needs of clients’ projects. A Fortune 500 firm, AECOM 
companies, including URS Corporation and Hunt Construction 
Group, have annual revenue of approximately $19 billion.

More information on AECOM and its services can be found at 
www.aecom.com.

Follow us on Twitter: @aecom

aecom.com

116



22

Oxford Station SPD 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report 
Regulation 9 (Screening) Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regs 2004 

January 2017

1. Introduction
1.1 This report has been produced to determine the need for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and the Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations for the proposed Oxford Station Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD). 

1.2 The purpose of this document to undertake a screening assessment that meets the requirements of 
the European Legislation, applied in the UK through the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations (SI No. 1633).  The Regulations do not require an assessment of the planning 
merits of the proposals at this stage, instead the requirements is to ascertain whether or not a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment is required.  This process is completely distinct from the planning 
process and governed by an entirely different set of Environmental Regulations. 

1.3 The policy framework for the Oxford Station SPD is found in the Oxford Core Strategy (2011), and the 
West End Area Action Plan (2008). 

1.4 The SPD will be subject to public consultation in accordance with the relevant regulations and the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

2. Requirement for SEA 
2.1 Previously all statutory land-use plans, including Supplementary Planning Documents, required a 

Sustainability Appraisal which incorporated the requirements for Strategic Environmental Assessment. 
This was a requirement under UK Government legislation.  However, the 2008 Planning Act1 and 2012 
Regulations2 removed the UK legislative requirement for the sustainability appraisal of Supplementary 
Planning Documents.  Despite no longer requiring sustainability appraisal, SPDs may still require SEA.3  
CLG Guidance states: 

“Supplementary planning documents do not require a sustainability appraisal but may in exceptional 
circumstances require a strategic environmental assessment if they are likely to have significant 
environmental effects that have not already been assessed during the preparation of the Local Plan.” 

1 Planning Act 2008 – Paragraph 180(5d)
2 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
3 http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-
appraisal/sustainability-appraisal-requirements-for-local-plans/

117

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal/sustainability-appraisal-requirements-for-local-plans/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal/sustainability-appraisal-requirements-for-local-plans/


22

2.2 The requirement for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is set out in the regulations4.  There is 
also practical guidance on applying European Directive 2001/42/EC5.  These documents have been 
used as the basis for this screening report.  Regulation 5 sets out three types of plans that require SEA:

- The plan is for town and country planning and sets the development framework for future consent 
of projects listed in annexes I or II of the EIA Directive6 (There is an exemption for a plan dealing 
with the use of a small area at a local level OR a minor modification of a plan7);

- The plan requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment 
- The plan sets the future development consent framework that is not in the above two categories 

but has been determined to be likely to have significant environmental effects. 

2.3 The proposed SPD will be for town and country planning and sets the development framework for 
future consent of a project within annex II of the EIA Directive. The relevant section of the EIA 
Directive is Annex II(10b) Urban development projects8.  

3. Screening 
3.1 The ODPM practical guidance provides a checklist approach based on the SEA Regulations to help 

determine whether SEA is required.  This guide has been used as the basis on which to assess the need 
for SEA as set out below.  Figure 1 overleaf9 (taken from government guidance) illustrates the process 
that has been followed. 

4 Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004  (no. 1633)
5 A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive 
6 Regulation 5(2) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (no. 1633)
7 Regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (no. 1633)
8 Schedule II of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011
9 Taken from: A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (2005), ODPM – page 13

118



22

Figure 1: Application of the SEA Directive to plans and programmes 

3.2 Table 1 below sets out the 8 questions identified in the diagram above and provides an answer with 
regard to the proposed Oxford Station SPD. 

Table 1 – Application of the proposed SPD: Is an SEA required? 

Establishing the need for SEA Answer Reasons Next step

1 Is the SPD subject to preparation 
and/ or adoption by a national, 
regional or local authority OR 
prepared by an authority for 
adoption through a legislative 
procedure by Parliament or 
Government? (Article 2(a))

Yes The SPD is to be adopted by 
Oxford City Council 

Proceed to 
question 2

2 Is the SPD required by legislative, 
regulatory or administrative 
provisions? (Article 2(a))

No Proceed to 
question 3

3 Is the SPD prepared for agriculture, 
forestry, fisheries, energy, industry, 
transport, waste management, 

Yes The SPD will be for town and 
country planning purposes and 
sets a framework for the 

Proceed to 
question 4

119



22

Establishing the need for SEA Answer Reasons Next step

telecommunications, tourism, town 
and country planning or land use, 
AND does it set a framework for 
future development consent of 
projects in Annexes I and II to the EIA 
Directive? (Article 3.2(a))

development consent of projects 
listed in Annexes I and II of the 
EIA Directive10

4 Will the SPD, in view of its likely 
effect on sites, require an 
assessment under Article 6 or 7 of 
the Habitats Directive? 
(Article 3.2(b))

No A Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening was undertaken to 
support the West End Area 
Action Plan.  This concluded that 
there would be no significant 
impacts on the integrity of the 
Oxford Meadows SAC.  See 
Appendix 2. 

Proceed to 
question 5

5 Does the SPD determine the use of 
small areas at local level, OR is it a 
minor modification of a plan subject 
to Article 3.2? (Article 3.3) 

No The SPD determines the use of a 
small area but as it is the railway 
station, it is likely that this is of 
more than local significance. 

Proceed to 
question 8

6 Does the SPD set the framework for 
future development consent of 
projects (not just projects in Annexes 
to the EIA Directive)? (Article 3.4)

Yes The SPD sets the framework for 
future development consent of 
projects. 

N/A

7 Is the SPD’s sole purpose to serve 
the national defence or civil 
emergency, OR is it a financial or 
budget plan, OR is it co-financed by 
structural funds or EAGGF 
programmes 2000 to 2006/7? 
(Article 3.8, 3.9)

N/A N/A N/A

8 Is it likely to have a significant effect 
on the environment (Article 3.5)

No? See Table 2 below for the 
detailed reasoning

10 The EIA Directive (85/337/EEC) as amended in 1997, 2003 and 2009

120



22

3.3 Table 2 below sets out the criteria for determining the likely significance of effects on the environment 
taken from Schedule 1 of the Regulations11 and applies them to the proposed Oxford Station SPD.

Table 2 – Criteria for determining the likely significance of effects on the environment 

Criteria Oxford City Council’s Assessment 

1 Characteristics of the plan or programme 

1a The degree to which the 
plan or programme sets a 
framework for projects 
and other activities, either 
with regard to the 
location, nature, size and 
operating conditions or by 
allocating resources

The Oxford Station SPD will set the framework for the development 
of the Railway station site.  The SPD will sit underneath the “parent” 
document – the West End Area Action Plan.  In order to supplement 
the policies in the Plan, the SPD must reflect and be based on its 
policies. 

The railway station was indicated as a key site for redevelopment in 
the West End Area Action Plan, along with Frideswide Square in 
policy WE6.  In fact there are several projects coming together 
including the redevelopment of both of these sites which warrant 
the joined up thinking that would be provided through the 
production of a Supplementary Planning Document.   Primarily 
focused on design, the SPD will supplement the policy within the 
West End AAP.  The objective of the SPD is to co-ordinate the 
forthcoming projects thus ensuring a high quality of infrastructure 
delivery which maximises benefits and value to all. 
 

1b The degree to which the 
plan or programme 
influences other plans and 
programmes including 
those in a hierarchy

The National Planning Policy Framework provides the following 
glossary definition of Supplementary Planning Documents: 

Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan.  
They can be used to provide further guidance for development on 
specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design.  Supplementary 
Planning Documents are capable of being a material consideration in 
planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. 

The objective of the SPD is to co-ordinate several schemes with the 
aim of ensuring a higher quality of development and infrastructure 
delivery which maximises the benefits to all.  As such, and because 
of the focus on higher quality development, it is not anticipated that 
the Oxford Station SPD will add unnecessarily to the financial 
burdens of development.   Instead it is intended to help applicants 
make successful application(s).  This is in accordance with Paragraph 
153 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

The SPD will have less material weight than the Core Strategy and 
the West End Area Action Plan.  It will only be able to expand on 
existing policies and will not be able to introduce any new policies.  
The SPD will be at the bottom of the hierarchy and will have no 
impact on the content of those documents above it. 

11 Criteria taken from Schedule 1 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004

121



22

Criteria Oxford City Council’s Assessment 

1c The relevance of the plan 
or programme for the 
integration of 
environmental 
considerations in 
particular with a view to 
promoting sustainable 
development.

The SPD will help with the delivery of plan policies and help meet 
with the City Council’s objectives contained in the Core Strategy and 
West End Area Action Plan, both of which were developed to deliver 
sustainable development.  It is intended to promote sustainable 
development by ensuring that development fulfils the economic, 
social and environmental dimensions as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

Encouraging rail travel as an attractive sustainable mode of travel 
will help to encourage a modal shift away from the car.

1d Environmental problems 
relevant to the plan or 
programme

The following environmental problems are associated with the area 
covered by the SPD. 

- Flood Risk 
- Cultural Heritage (views, Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments, listed buildings) 
- Potential for land contamination
- Air Quality 

Each will be dealt with in turn.

Flood Risk:  A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was 
undertaken to support the West End Area Action Plan in 2007 and 
updated as part of the review of the City-wide level 1 SFRA in 
February 2011.  Although the West End AAP does not specifically 
allocate development sites within the West End Area, it notes that 
the land area needed for the likely redevelopment of the Oxford 
Station site is all within Flood Zone 1, however given its size – over 
1ha – a site specific flood risk assessment would be required.  

It is expected that any flooding and flood risk issues would be dealt 
with at the application stage since the main sites indicated for 
development within the area (Becket Street Car Park and the 
Railway Station) both fall predominantly within Flood Zone 1.  
Appendix X shows the flood zone map for the West End which was 
updated as part of the city-wide SFRA in March 2011.  It is worth 
noting that as the site falls predominantly within Flood Zone 1 then 
no alternatives need to be considered to help reducing flood risk.  

Cultural Heritage:  There are several features of the historic 
environment which are of interest on and near the site.  There are 
two Scheduled Ancient Monuments in the vicinity of the site.  The 
first is the Swing Bridge to the north of the site and the second is in 
the gardens of the Said Business School.  The site also lies within the 
City Centre Conservation Area and there is a Listed Building Close by 
in the form of the Church.  It is envisaged that any potential impacts 
as a result of the development process would be picked up at the 
planning application stage.  The role of the SPD is to co-ordinate 

122



22

Criteria Oxford City Council’s Assessment 

several developments that will be coming forward, and add value in 
design terms.  There existing policies within Oxford’s Local Plan, and 
the SPD to ensure that these important aspects of the historic 
environment are protected (and enhanced) as part of any 
forthcoming development proposals.

Potential for land contamination:   As part of the site consists of 
former railway sidings there is the potential for land contamination.  
This should be investigated as part of the planning application 
process.  Any contamination would either be removed or sealed in, 
and so the development is likely to have either a neutral or positive 
impact.  

Air Quality:  The whole of the city centre is considered an Air Quality 
Management Area.  Improving rail access by making enhancements 
to the station, in conjunction with other plans (e.g. proposed 
Seacourt park and ride expansion) are likely to reduce reliance on 
the private car (in the centre of Oxford) and as such improve air 
quality in the city.  

1e The relevance of the plan 
or programme for the 
implementation of 
Community legislation on 
the environment (for 
example, plans and 
programmes linked to 
waste management or 
water protection). 

There are unlikely to be significant impacts. 

2 Characteristics of the effects of the area likely to be affected

2a The probability, duration, 
frequency and 
reversibility of effects

The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations breaks down the environment into a series of 
constituent parts.  These are as follows: biodiversity; population; 
human health; fauna; flora; soil; water; air; climatic factors; material 
assets; cultural heritage including architectural and archaeological 
heritage; landscape; and the inter-relationship between these 
issues.

A Sustainability Appraisal was undertaken at the planning stage – 
the West End Area Action Plan.  The West End Area Action Plan 
addressed the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of 
effects.  It is considered that the SPD does not add substantively to 
the policies in the AAP, but instead supplements them in order to 
co-ordinate forthcoming developments to ensure good design 
provide high quality infrastructure.  Section 1d above provides an 
assessment of the likely impacts of the SPD.  The impacts of the SPD 
in all the categories required for this assessment are likely to be 
neutral or positive.   

123



22

Criteria Oxford City Council’s Assessment 

2b The cumulative nature of 
the effects

There are no likely cumulative impacts as a result of the production 
of the Oxford Station SPD.   There is likely to be a positive cumulative 
impact due to projects such as the expansion of the Seacourt Park 
and Ride site.  The Seacourt Park and Ride expansion is likely to 
reduce the number of vehicles entering the city centre and as such, 
the creation of a public transport hub at the station could have a 
positive impact on air quality.  

2c The trans-boundary 
nature of the effects

There will be no trans-boundary effects in the sense of between 
countries.  On a more local level, trans-boundary effects with 
neighbouring authorities are unlikely to result in significant 
environmental effects beyond those identified in the SA of the West 
End Area Action Plan. 

2d The risks to human health 
or the environment (for 
example, due to 
accidents) 

None identified. 

2e The magnitude and spatial 
extent of the effects 
(geographical area and 
size of the population 
likely to be affected)

The site area is over 1ha.  The site area is above that which would be 
categorised as an “urban development project” in Schedule 10 of 
the EIA Regulations.   An EIA would therefore need to be considered 
for this project.  If an EIA was required for this project it would deal 
appropriately with any relevant site-specific socio-economic and 
environmental matters. 

The size of the current population of the area is small.  
Environmental Impacts have already been assessed as part of the 
Sustainability Appraisal for the West End Area Action Plan.  

2f The value and 
vulnerability of the area 
likely to be affected due 
to:
i) Special natural 

characteristics or 
cultural heritage; or

ii) Exceeded 
environmental quality 
standards or limit 
values; or

iii) Intensive land-use

The SPD will supplement existing policies in the Core Strategy and 
West End Area Action Plan.  It is envisaged that the SPD will firm up 
the types and quantum of development that will come forward as 
part of the Oxford Station redevelopment.  

i) Special natural characteristics are discussed in 
paragraph 3.5-6 (below).  Cultural heritage is discussed 
at 1d (above).  There are likely to be impacts of a 
significance which can be addressed without the need 
for SEA. 

ii) The SPD is not likely to exceed environmental quality 
standards or limit values.  This is further described in 
paragraphs 3.5-6 on HRA (below). 

iii) The development is likely to intensify the land-use but 
currently the station site does not represent the best 
use of land for a prime city centre location.  

2g The effects on areas or 
landscapes which have a 
recognised national, 
Community or 

None identified. 

124



22

Criteria Oxford City Council’s Assessment 

international protection 
status. 

3.4 In order to work out whether or not an SEA would be required on the Oxford Station SPD, it was 
necessary to first review the Sustainability Appraisal for the West End Area Action Plan.  

Table 3 reviews the Sustainability Appraisal of the Sites and Housing Plan in relation to the Oxford Station site. 

SEA Directive Topics.  
(The environment is defined by 
Schedule 2 paragraph 6 of the  
Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004)

Summary of previous SA findings or undertaken as part of the 
West End Area Action Plan.  

Biodiversity/ Flora/ Fauna The site is currently a brownfield site in the city centre with little 
known ecological value.   As far as the impact on European Sites is 
concerned, the whole of the West End was subject to a Habitat 
Regulations Assessment screening which screened out the need for 
further assessment in relation to the Oxford Meadows SAC.  As part 
of the SPD process there will be opportunities to improve 
biodiversity through appropriate green infrastructure.  Any 
opportunities should be fully investigated through the SPD and 
planning application process and do not represent likely significant 
effects on the environment that would trigger the requirement for a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

Population The West End AAP suggests that housing could be an appropriate 
use on the Becket Street Car Park.  There will not be a significant 
increase in population over and above what was planned for in the 
Core Strategy as a result of production of this SPD. 

Human Health The site is within 800m of a GP surgery 
Soil The land is Previously Developed Land (PDL).  It consists of various 

different buildings including the railway station and car park.  There 
is the potential for contamination along the railway sidings.  Any 
investigations will need to be considered as part of the planning 
application.

Water A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for the West End 
Area Action Plan.  This suggested indicative uses for the various uses 
based on their flood zones.  The Oxford Station SPD suggests 
appropriate uses for the site.  The majority of the Station Site is in 
Flood Zone 1.  

Air The whole of the city area is classed as an Air Quality Management 
Area.   The Oxford Station SPD would assist improvements in rail 
travel which would assist in increasing the modal shift to rail travel 
and away from the private car.  This is likely to improve traffic flows 
and as such is likely to have a positive impact on air quality. 

Climatic factors Climatic factors were considered as part of the Core Strategy, and 

125



22

West End Area Action Plan.  Any opportunities for renewable energy 
on ways to mitigate or adapt to climate change should be fully 
investigated through the SPD and planning application process and 
do not represent likely significant effects on the environment that 
would trigger the requirement for a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA).

Material Assets The site is well served by public transport as it includes the railway 
station.  The site is within 800m of a school.  

Cultural Heritage, including 
architectural and archaeological 
heritage

The site lies within the City centre conservation area.  There are two 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments in very close proximity to the site – 
the Swing Bridge to the north and Rewley Abbey.  The site is also 
within the City Centre conservation area.  There may also be impacts 
on views into and out of the site however these are protected by 
local policy designations.  The West End Area Action Plan SA 
considered the impacts of development within the West End on 
cultural heritage.  Any residual impacts should be dealt with 
satisfactorily at the planning application stage without triggering the 
need for an SEA of this SPD. 

Landscape The site does not lie within one of the city’s view cones however it 
does sit within the “high buildings area”.  This is a local policy 
designation and as such would not trigger the requirement for an 
SEA. 

Inter-relationships between the 
above issues 

See above for inter-relationships. 

HRA Screening Summary 

3.5  A Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening was carried out for the West End Area Action Plan.  
The HRA Screened out the strategic site of the West End Area for all impacts (HRA makes an assessment 
against the conservation objectives for the site to ensure that there will be no significant effect on the integrity 
of a European Site).  The HRA Screening can be found at Appendix 2. 

3.6 Given this HRA Screening, it is considered that no further HRA work is necessary to support the SPD.  
 

4. Conclusions

4.1 The proposed Station SPD will supplement the existing policies set out in the West End AAP (See 
Appendix 1).  The Station SPD will form part of the framework for the development of the site.  It will 
sit underneath the “parent” document – the West End AAP.  The Station SPD will become a material 
consideration when determining planning applications. 

4.2 In order to supplement the policies in the West End Area Action Plan , the Oxford Station SPD must 
reflect and be based on any relevant policies within the Sites and Housing Plan.  

4.3 To recap, therefore, Regulation 5 sets out three types of plans that require SEA:

126



22

- The plan is for town and country planning and sets the development framework for future consent 
of projects listed in annexes I or II of the EIA Directive12 (There is an exemption for a plan dealing 
with the use of a small area at a local level OR a minor modification of a plan13);

- The plan requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment 
- The plan sets the future development consent framework that is not in the above two categories 

but has been determined to be likely to have significant environmental effects. 

4.4 Looking at each in turn, the site sets the development framework for future consent of projects listed 
an Annex II of the EIA Directive.

4.5 The Plan does not require a Habitat Regulations Assessment (see Appendix 2) and paragraphs 3.5-6 
above.  

4.6 Finally, the plan is not likely to have significant environmental effects – see table 2 for details. 

4.7 It is not anticipated that the Station SPD will add unnecessarily to the financial burdens of 
development.  Instead it is intended to help applicants make successful applications and provide a co-
ordinated approach to infrastructure delivery.  This is in accordance with Paragraph 153 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

4.8 This Assessment therefore concludes that no Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Station SPD is 
required.  In accordance with the SEA Regulations, the consultation bodies will be notified for their 
comments. 

12 Regulation 5(2) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (no. 1633)
13 Regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (no. 1633)

127



22

Appendix 1 – List of policies directly relevant to the Oxford Station SPD 
Other relevant policies are included within the documents in Oxford’s Local Plan.  This includes the Core 
Strategy, the Sites and Housing Plan and the saved policies within the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016. 

West End Area Action Plan policies 

Policy WE6

Frideswide Square and the railway station forecourt

Frideswide Square and the railway station forecourt will be improved to become more attractive, warming and 
better functioning spaces.

Planning permission will be granted for development that improves the capacity of the railway station 
as long as it is well designed, welcoming, easy to use and well connected to the existing station.  It is essential 
that any development of the railway station improves it for passengers and creates a strong sense of arrival to 
Oxford. 

128



22

Appendix 2: Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening: Correspondence with 
Natural England 

Rebecca Tibbetts,
Natural England,
Foxhold House,
Crookham Common,
Thatcham,
Berkshire,
RG19 8EL

Planning Policy

01865 252718 or 01865 252163

planningpolicy@oxford.gov.uk

Please ask for: Sarah Harrison or 
Steve Pickles

 

12th January 2007

Dear Ms Tibbetts,

Appropriate Assessment of Oxford’s West End Area Action Plan

The Planning Policy department at Oxford City Council is currently working on an Area Action Plan (AAP) for 
Oxford’s West End. In case you are not aware, the West End is the southwest quarter of the City centre, 
bounded by Hythe Bridge Street, Oxpens Road, St. Aldates and the railway line. The area covered is shown on 
the attached plan. It is expected that 600 new units of residential accommodation will be developed in the 
area, as well as new student accommodation, new tourist facilities and some new offices. A key aim of the 
West End AAP will be to improve the public realm and green spaces in the area, offering enhanced 
recreational opportunities. You may have come across the preferred options document, but if not, 
information is available on our website at http://www.oxford.gov.uk/planning/west-end-aap.cfm. The draft 
Area Action Plan will be submitted for Examination to the Secretary of State in June. 

The area covered by the West End Area Action Plan is at its closest point 800 metres from the southern edge 
of Port Meadow, which forms part of the Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation. For this reason the 
City Council has carried out a Screening of likely impacts on this European site, which is contained below, and 
which concludes that there is unlikely to be any significant impact and that an Appropriate Assessment is not 
therefore required. I would be grateful if you would let me know whether you agree with this conclusion.  

Appropriate assessment of plans that could affect Special Areas of Conservation (SAC’s) for habitats (SACs) is 
required by article 6 (3) of the European Habitats Directive, which states:

129

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/planning/west-end-aap.cfm


22

‘Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site but likely to have a 
significant effect theron, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects, shall be subject to 
appropriate assessment of its implications for the site in view of the site’s conservation objectives. In the light 
of the conclusions of the assessment of the implications for the site and subject to the provisions of paragraph 
4, the competent national authorities shall agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will 
not adversely affect the integrity of the site concerned and, if appropriate, after having obtained the opinion of 
the general public.’ 

The Habitats Directive applies the precautionary principle to SACs. Plans and projects can only be permitted if 
it can be shown that they will have no significant adverse effect on the integrity of the site in question. They 
may still be permitted if there are no alternatives to them and there are imperative reasons of overriding 
public interest as to why they should go ahead. In such cases, compensation will be necessary to ensure the 
overall integrity of the site network.

Relevant European Sites

Figure 1 shows the location of the area covered by the West End Area Action Plan and the nearest European 
sites. There are three SACs within 15 kilometres of the area covered by the West End Area Action Plan.  These 
are:

 Oxford Meadows: which is located 800 metres away at the closest point;
 Cothill Fen: which is located 7 kilometres away;
 Little Wittenham: which is located 15 kilometres away.

It is considered that the West End Area Action Plan could not have an adverse impact on either Cothill Fen or 
Little Wittenham. Cothill Fen is an alkaline fen dependent on a high water table and calcareous, base-rich 
water supply. As Cothill Fen is in the catchment of the River Ock which is a different catchment, it could not 
have an adverse impact on this site. Little Wittenham has been designated because it contains two ponds 
with large populations of great crested newts.   As development in Oxford’s West End will not affect the 
habitat in the ponds or the newts foraging habitat around them, the West End Area Action Plan could not 
have an adverse impact on this site. These two sites have therefore been excluded from further assessment in 
this screening exercise.

Oxford Meadows: Qualifying features and Environmental Requirements 

The citation for the Oxford Meadows SAC states that:

‘Oxford Meadows includes vegetation communities that are perhaps unique in reflecting the influence of long-
term grazing and hay-cutting on lowland hay meadows. The site has benefited from the survival of traditional 
management, which has been undertaken for several centuries, and so exhibits good conservation of 
structure and function. Port Meadow is the largest of only three known sites in the UK for creeping marshwort 
Apium repens.

Qualifying habitats: The site is designated under article 4 (4) of the Directive 992/43/EEC) as it hosts the 
following habitats listed in Annex I:

 Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis)

Qualifying species: The site is designated under article 4 (4) of the Directive (92/43/EEC) as it hosts the 
following species listed in Annex II:

130



22

 Creeping marshwort Apium repens.

Environmental Requirements

The following key environmental requirements to support the SAC’s integrity were identified at an appropriate 
assessment screening workshop carried out for the South East Plan:

1. Maintenance of traditional hay cut and light aftermath grazing.
2. Absence of direct fertilisation.
3. Minimal air pollution.
4. Absence of nutrient enrichment of waters; good water quality.
5. Balanced hydrological regime – alteration to adjacent rivers may alter flooding regime and reduce 

botanical diversity.

A further workshop on appropriate assessment for the Oxford Core Strategy was held on the 20th October 
2006 at which the additional issue of ensuring that recreational pressures are maintained at a reasonable level 
was also raised as an issue.

Possible Impacts of the West End Area Action Plan (AAP)

A34 goes through the SAC

Table 1. Likely impacts of AAP on environmental requirements of Oxford Meadows

Environmental 
Requirement of Oxford 
Meadows

Likely impact of AAP Likely risk to site 
integrity

1. Maintenance of 
traditional hay cut and 
light aftermath grazing.
2. Absence of direct 
fertilisation.

None – related to activities directly at the site, 
which AAP will not affect. 

No

3. Minimal air pollution Additional development in the West End may 
increase traffic movements into Oxford. 
However, the area is very sustainably located 
with excellent public transport links as the 
railway station and Gloucester Green Bus 
Station are located within the area covered by 
the AAP.  The area is also readily accessible 
from other parts of Oxford by walking and 
cycling and the AAP proposes to improve these 
links. There will be very limited residential and 
commercial parking and no increase in public 
parking, with the intention of helping to ensure 
car use is not increased. Given the large 
number of vehicles which travel along the A34 
the impact on pollution levels deriving from this 
source of increased traffic from the West End is 
considered to be imperceptible. 

Little or no impact.

4. Absence of nutrient 
enrichment of waters: 
good water quality.

Although relatively close to the Oxford 
Meadows, Oxford’s West End is downstream of 
the site, so any pollution of surface water run 

Little or no impact.

131



22

off could not affect the Oxford Meadows. 
Sewage treatment will be dealt with at 
Sandford Sewage Treatment Works, which is 
located just outside Oxford on its southern 
boundary, downstream of the SAC.

5. Balanced hydrological 
regime

Water to serve development in the West End 
would come from Farmoor reservoir, which 
derives its water from the Thames. There is the 
potential for water abstraction from the 
Thames to affect the hydrology of Oxford 
Meadows. Water levels in the Thames have not 
dropped enough to affect the meadows since 
the drought of 1976, but climate change and 
increased water abstraction could potentially 
lead to this in the future.  However, use of 
water for development of the West End would 
be a tiny proportion of the total extracted from 
the Thames and in itself is not likely to have a 
significant impact.

The West End AAP Preferred Options 
Document states that ‘to cater for development 
in the West End, alternative flood-plain 
capacity may be needed. It could be provided 
within the West End, or may be more 
appropriately located outside the area, further 
upstream.’ If the compensation was provided 
upstream it is possible that the works could 
affect the hydrology of Port Meadow.

Unlikely to be significant 
impact in terms of water 
abstraction. If flood 
compensation is 
provided upstream of 
the West End, it will be 
important to ensure that 
appropriate mitigation 
measures are included 
to prevent it having an 
adverse impact on the 
hydrology of the Oxford 
Meadows. Flood 
compensation is 
currently being 
investigated as part of a 
SFRA of the West End.

6. Balanced use for 
recreational pressures 

Public consultation carried out by Scott Wilson 
as part of their ‘Oxford City Green Space Study’ 
revealed that people are willing to walk 
approximately 1,900 metres to important green 
spaces and 750 metres to neighbourhood sites. 
As the West End is 800 metres from the 
southern end of Port Meadow it is likely that 
some people will use this area of the SAC for 
recreational purposes. Extensive public use is 
already made of Port Meadow for informal 
recreation without an adverse impact on Apium 
repens, the species for which it has been 
designated a SAC. This species is not 
particularly sensitive to trampling and also 
thrives in the wettest areas, where there is 
least recreational pressure for most of the year. 
The remaining areas of the SAC are at least 
3,500 metres away beyond Port Meadow, and 
it is considered that recreational use of these 
areas is unlikely to increase significantly as a 
result of implementation of the West End AAP.  

A key aim of the West End development will be 
to improve the public realm and green spaces 

Unlikely to be significant

132



22

in the area, offering enhanced recreational 
opportunities. Key of these will be the creation 
of a linear park along Castle Mill Stream, 
improvements to Oxpens Field and to the path 
along the Thames. Amenity space and play 
areas to serve the new residential development 
will also be required. It is expected therefore 
that many recreational needs will be met within 
the West End, which will reduce the pressure 
on Port Meadow. There are also already 
extensive alternative areas of green space that 
residents of the West End would be able to use 
including Grandpont Nature Park; Christchurch 
Meadows; the University Parks; Oxpens 
recreation ground; the Thames path long 
distance trail and the canal towpath.

Possible ‘in combination’ impacts

Table 2 shows other plans, programmes and underlying trends, which could affect the environmental 
requirements of Oxford Meadows and lead to ‘in combination’ impacts.

Table 2. Likely ‘in combination’ impacts on environmental requirements of Oxford Meadows

Environmental 
requirements of 
Oxford Meadows

Likely Impact of Other Plans, projects and Trends Likely ‘in combination’ 
risk to site integrity

1. Maintenance of 
traditional hay cut 
and light aftermath 
grazing.
2. Absence of direct 
fertilisation.

The A34 goes through the Oxford Meadows Special 
Area of Conservation. Improvements/widening to the 
A34 could potentially have a significant impact on the 
SAC through land take. The draft South East Plan states 
that ‘Premium bus routes with frequent, high quality 
services will also be needed to link the country towns to 
Oxford, supported by bus priority measures and remote 
park and ride. There is also a need for improved rail 
services on the A34 corridor, particularly as this is 
unlikely to be widened and the government is 
considering demand management measures. East West 
Rail is crucial to linking the sub-region to Milton Keynes 
and supporting development at Bicester. So is 
enhanced capacity at Oxford station (linked to essential 
resignalling work), if this busy rail corridor is to cope 
with growth in passenger and freight traffic in the face 
of limited capacity on A34.’ The importance of these 
measures is further emphasised by the report in the 
Oxford Times on 15th December 2006 that ‘experts at 
the Highways Agency predict that by 2026 the A34, 
between the M40 and Didcot, will become one of the 
most congested roads in the South-East….the A34 is 
already operating above capacity and … Oxford city, the 
only major hub in the region, attracts more than 22,000 
car based commuters from the outlying districts every 
day.’ 

By taking the 
opportunity to make 
more efficient use of 
the land near the 
station/bus stations, 
the West End Area 
Action Plan will help to 
reduce pressure on the 
A34. However, it also 
represents a unique 
opportunity to secure 
improved rail and bus 
facilities in central 
Oxford, which are 
likely to be key in 
avoiding the need for 
further widening of the 
A34.

133



22

3. Minimal air 
pollution

The table below shows where air pollution levels at 
Oxford Meadows in 1999/2000 exceeded the site’s 
critical load. Pollution loads were within the critical load 
for acid deposition, ammonia, nitrogen deposition and 
SO2, but near capacity for ozone. Compared to most 
other European sites in the South East region, Oxford 
Meadows is relatively unaffected by pollution. Air 
pollutant levels in the South East are expected to go 
down until about 2010 – 2015 due to improving 
technology (particularly for cars), after which they are 
likely to rise again.

pollutant
deposition / critical 
load

acid deposition 0.433

ammonia 0.163

N deposition 0.772

NOx 0.99

ozone 1.26

SO2 0.18

Source: http://www.apis.ac.uk, 

Note:  The critical air pollutant loads that a given site 
can accommodate depends on the type of site.  In this 
case, Oxford Meadow has been assumed to be 
unimproved hay meadow.

Key:  deposition / critical load

<0.25 0.25-
0.74

0.75-
0.99

1-1.24 1.25-
1.99

2+

Development of 47,200 new homes in Oxfordshire as 
proposed in policy H1 of the draft South East Plan and 
80,000 new homes and 2 million square metres of new 
business floorspace in South Hampshire is likely to 
increase traffic levels on the A34 and cause reduced air 
quality. 

Air pollution is likely to 
worsen at the Oxford 
Meadows site due to 
increased traffic levels, 
particularly on the A34. 
The West End AAP 
proposes very limited 
residential and 
commercial parking 
and no increase in 
public parking, with 
the intention of 
helping to ensure car 
use is not increased. It 
is unlikely therefore to 
significantly contribute 
to these increased 
pollution levels.

4. Absence of 
nutrient enrichment 
of waters; good 
water quality

As the area covered by the West End AAP is 
downstream of the Oxford Meadows, it will not 
adversely impact on nutrient enrichment or water 
quality in combination with other plans. 

Little or no impact.

5. Balanced Development in Oxfordshire and Gloucestershire, Natural England has 

134

http://www.apis.ac.uk/


22

hydrological regime including that in the West End, that uses water from 
the River Thames catchment upstream of Oxford 
Meadows could affect the hydrology of the meadows.

Gravel extraction to meet the increased primary 
aggregate targets (South East Plan Policy M3) could 
affect the hydrology of the site.

The Environment Agency’s flood alleviation scheme for 
Oxford, which is likely to consist of enlargement of 
existing watercourses and/or creating flood relief 
channels, may affect the flooding regime of the River 
Thames. 

stipulated that a key 
requirement of the 
Oxford flood relief 
scheme is that it does 
not have an adverse 
impact on the Oxford 
Meadows hydrological 
regime. Similarly it is 
important that other 
plans that could impact 
on it are also subject to 
appropriate 
assessment, but their 
impact is beyond the 
scope of this 
assessment. Given the 
scale of water 
abstraction from the 
Thames and the 
relatively small scale of 
development in the 
West End it is not 
considered likely that it 
would cause a 
perceptible effect on 
the hydrological 
regime of the Oxford 
Meadows, in 
combination with 
other plans.

6. Balanced use for 
recreational 
pressures

There has been extensive development in the Oxford 
canal corridor in recent years, but this is now largely 
complete. Few other sites have been allocated for 
residential development within 1,900 metres of the SAC 
in the ‘Oxford Local Plan 2001 –2016’, though 
Wolvercote Paper Mill has been allocated for a mix of 
employment and employment generating uses. Further 
residential development within this zone could also 
occur if the Safeguarded Land at Peartree was allocated 
for residential use in the Oxford Core Strategy. 
However, while this covers 16 hectares, it is more likely 
to be developed for employment uses, which is the 
current preferred option in the Core Strategy. There are 
few other opportunities for residential development in 
north Oxford owing to the extensive area of the Oxford 
flood plain, while access from the existing residential 
areas of north Oxford is limited by the severance 
created by the main Oxford to Birmingham railway line. 

Unlikely to be 
significant

135



22

Suggested Avoidance Measures

Widening of the A34
There are currently no proposals by the Highways Agency to widen the A34. The road through Oxford is, 
however, already at capacity and forecasted to become through Oxford one of the most congested roads in 
the south east. While the development proposed in the West End Area Action Plan is unlikely to have a 
significant impact on traffic levels on the A34 and the issue of whether in the long term widening is more 
likely, it does provide a unique opportunity to improve public transport facilities in central Oxford, and thereby 
reduce the likelihood of such a widening to become necessary.

Ensure that the West End Area Action Plan makes provision for improving rail and bus transport facilities 
in the West End and does not increase public parking, with very limited residential and commercial 
parking so as to encourage residents, with the intention of ensuring that car use is not increased.

 

Air pollution

The Environment Agency’s advice14 on traffic related pollution is that it needs to be considered if a road 
carrying a significant proportion of new traffic related to the plan runs within 200 metres of a European site. In 
the case of the West End Area Action Plan, this will generate some new traffic that will pass along the A34 
through the Oxford Meadows SAC. No precise information is available on the volumes of traffic involved. 
However, it is likely to be very small in terms of the overall levels of traffic along the road. The West End is also 
located in a very sustainable location, in transport terms, probably more so than almost any other location in 
Oxfordshire given its location in the centre of Oxford, in an area which includes the railway station and the 
Gloucester Green Bus Station. Given that large numbers of people commute into Oxford the provision of 600 
homes in the heart of Oxford is likely to help reduce commuting in contrast to development in other places 
close to the A34 that are further away from Oxford, such as Bicester and Didcot. The West End Area Action 
Plan also provides the opportunity to improve rail and bus facilities in Oxford, thus encouraging more people 
to travel by public transport and to further limit public and private parking. Therefore it is considered that 
provided the West End Action Plan does incorporate measures to promote public transport use and limit 
travel by car, it will not significantly increase traffic along the A34 and exacerbate pollution levels in the 
vicinity of the Oxford Meadows SAC.

Recommend that further information is obtained from the highway authority on whether there is likely 
to be an increase in traffic generation along the A34 arising from development in the West End Area 
Action Plan and to ensure that the submission document includes measures designed to improve the use 
of public transport by improvements to the railway station; bus terminals and by restricting public and 
private parking in the West End.
 
Water quality

As development in the West End is downstream of the Oxford Meadows it is considered that it will not lead to 
any deterioration in water quality on the Oxford Meadows.

Hydrological Regime 

The City Council has adopted a Natural Resource Impact Analysis Supplementary Planning Document (NRIA 
SPD). This requires new developments to look at the issue of minimising the use of water resources, and 
encourages new developments to look at measures such as water-saving devices; rainwater 
collection/harvesting and grey water recycling. The preferred target is to achieve a 30% reduction of average 

14 English Nature (16 May 2006) letter to Runnymeade Borough Council, ‘Conservation (Natural Habitats&c.) Regulations 
1994, Runnymeade Borough Council Local Development Framework

136



22

water use. Given also the scale of development is small scale compared to the extent of development in other 
areas of the Thames catchment, it is considered that the impact on the Oxford Meadows hydrological regime 
would be insignificant. As these measures are already in the NRIA SPD, no further action is required.

Recreational Pressures

The impact on the Oxford Meadows SAC is unlikely to be significant as there are other areas of green space 
closer at hand that can also be used. A key aim of the West End development will be to improve the public 
realm and green spaces in the area, offering enhanced recreational opportunities. Key of these will be the 
creation of a linear park along Castle Mill Stream, improvements to Oxpens Field and to the path along the 
Thames. Amenity space and play areas to serve the new residential development will also be required. It is 
expected therefore that many recreational needs will be met within the West End. 

While the recreational impact from development in the West End on the Oxford Meadows SAC is unlikely 
to be significant, the West End AAP will ensure that new recreational provision is made within the area 
which will help to encourage people to also use other areas for recreational purposes and thereby reduce 
recreational pressure.  

In conclusion, our own screening of the likely impacts of development of the West End on the Oxford 
Meadows Special Area of Conservation has indicated that there are unlikely to be any significant impacts and 
that an Appropriate Assessment is therefore not required.  I would be grateful if you would consider this issue 
and let me know whether you agree with this conclusion.

Yours sincerely,

Sarah Harrison

Senior Planning Officer

137



22

Appendix 3:  West End Area Action Plan Flood Map (2011) 

138



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description

Legal challenge There is a risk of a 

legal challenge to 

the SPD once 

adopted

Threat If successful the 

High Court would 

rule that the SPD be 

quashed wholly or in 

part

03.04.1

7

Fiona 

Piercy

3 2 3 2 2 1

Not consulting on 

the SPD

Failure to undertake 

public consultation 

Threat Failure to consult on this 

SPD would seriously 

threaten its legal status 

and open it up to legal 

challenge

If successful the 

High Court would 

rule that the SPD be 

quashed wholly or in 

part

03.04.1

7

Fiona 

Piercy

3 2 3 2 2 1 It is a legal requirement in 

preparing an SPD to 

undertake public 

consultation

Appendix 3: Risk Register

Date 

Raised

Owner Gross Current Residual Co

m

me

nts

Controls

Any person with sufficient 

interest may apply to the 

High Court for permission 

to apply for a judicial 

review of the decision to 

adopt it. Applications 

should be made no later 

than 3 months after the 

date of adoption. They 

can be made after ttime 

but it is unusual for a 

Court to allow a challenge 

after 3 months

The adopted Local Plan 

comprises the Core Strategy, 

Sites and Housing 

Allocations and the West 

End AAP. Within this context 

the West End AAP was 

prepared as a policy 

framework to guide future 

development and change  

the West End area of the 

City. The AAP was 

considered to be both a 

policy and delivery tool, and 

identified both the Oxford 

Railway Station and Becket 

Street car park as future 

development sites. The Draft 

Oxford Station SPD is 

139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 20 June 2017
Report of: Head of Community Services
Title of Report: Community leases 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To establish clear criteria and processes for the award of 

a community lease and to approve terms for new leases 
for Bullingdon, Headington, Risinghurst and Florence Park 
Community Centres

Key decision: Yes
Executive Board 
Member:

Cllr Dee Sinclair, Board Member for Culture and 
Communities

Corporate Priority: Strong, Active Communities
Policy Framework: Community Centres Strategy 2016 to 2020.

Recommendation: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1 Agree the process and criteria for awarding a community lease 
2 Approve terms for new leases for Bullingdon, Headington, Risinghurst and 

Florence Park Community Centres and delegate authority to the Executive 
Director of Sustainable City in consultation with the Monitoring Officer to 
complete the leases.

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Proposed lease terms 
List of community leases
Criteria for a community lease

Appendix 4 Risk Register

141

Agenda Item 6



Introduction

1. The Council has a significant property portfolio, which is used to meet a range of   
financial, regeneration and community objectives. 

2. The Council’s commercial properties are leased at market rates, based on the rent 
levels established in the Oxford commercial market. Setting an appropriate rent for 
properties that are held by the Council for the delivery of wider social or community 
policy objectives requires a different approach.

3. This report builds on the Council’s current method of dealing with such leases, and 
recommends ways in which the Council can balance a level of control of its assets 
while also providing freedom for community organisations to sustainably serve their 
communities and deliver on the social objectives that stem from the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. The report recommends a method by which the Council can maintain 
transparency in relation to the financial support that is given to these community 
organisations.

4. In October 2015 the City’s Executive Board agreed a policy for the future grant and 
management of the Community Association leases. Four of the Community 
Associations (Bullingdon, Headington, Risinghurst and Florence Park) are currently 
“holding over” on an expired lease which has protected status within the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1954. It was agreed that terms for these four leases would be agreed 
with each Association in consultation with the Council Leader, the Executive Member 
and the local Ward Councillors. This report proposes terms for these four leases 
which are shown in appendix one. Confirmation is sought from the City Executive 
Board that the proposed terms are appropriate and acceptable. As the detailed terms 
are still being finalised with the Associations it is recommended that the City 
Executive Board  delegates authority to the Executive Director of Sustainable City in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer to make such amendments as the Director 
determines are required and to complete the leases.

Community leases

5. Community leases are granted to tenants whose work is aligned to supporting the 
delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan; these tenants do not generally pay the 
market rent. Instead, a reduction from the market rent is calculated to reflect the 
value of the services provided by the organisations concerned to the community.  

6. The Council’s preferred approach to community leases is for tenants to pay the 
market rent and for the Council to award a grant which reduces the net cost of the 
rent; the lease agreement underpinning that arrangement will normally contain a 
break clause requiring one year’s notice. This approach ensures transparency as the 
grant is recorded as such in the Council’s budget. This approach also allows the 
Council to change its approach to subsidy in accordance with its changing priorities 
and the Council’s financial position. The annual break clause is, however, a potential 
disadvantage to the community groups involved as it reduces their level of security of 
tenure and the reliability of their longer term financial position.

7. Secure leases, where the tenant has security of tenure under the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1954, usually gives the right to a renewal of the current lease on the 
expiry of the term, but they clearly reduce the Council’s ability to ensure that the 

142



community asset is being used in a way that meets the Council’s policy objectives, 
and if regeneration opportunities arise can prevent them from proceeding. Therefore, 
in most circumstances, the Council seeks to avoid granting new secure leases. 

8. The table below summarises the main current community leases; appendix two 
shows a more detailed table including the terms of the leases. 

Facility 
type

Lease 

Leisure 
centres

Fusion Lifestyle’s lease runs to 2024. The lease is part of the leisure contract. 

Sports 
pavilions

There are no leases in place for any of our pavilions. We are exploring the 
possibility of leasing Grandpont Pavilion to Hinksey Park FC and Cutteslowe 
Lower Pavilion to Summertown Stars FC.

Community 
centres 

Council policy is that Community Associations should not pay rent for their 
premises in recognition of the social value they deliver. Five Community 
Associations have secure leases giving them a right to renew on substantially 
the same terms, but in these cases the Council could decide to renew at a 
market rent if the way in which the premises were being used at that time were 
not aligned to the Council’s social objectives. 

Awarding a community lease

9. The majority of current community leases have been agreed on an ad hoc basis 
when the lease comes up for renewal. This has led to some inconsistencies as no 
clear criteria have been used when agreeing a new lease. Appendix three proposes 
a set of clear criteria for the award of future community leases. 

10.Once these or alternative criteria have been agreed, Council will have to determine 
the level of standardisation that it wishes to secure in future lease agreements. The 
issues that have caused most concern for community organisations in agreeing new 
leases are:

a) The method of offering a rent subsidy:
The alternative approaches are:

 Market rent, with the subsidy fully paid by grant
 Market rent ,with the subsidy meeting part of the cost
 A reduced rent fully paid by the tenant
 A nil or peppercorn rent, nominally payable by the tenant 

b) Break clauses 
11.For the City Council, break clauses in leases of any type are important in ensuring 

that assets are not locked in to very long term commitments to the leasing 
organisations. For community organisations as tenants, however, the downside is 
that it may make it more difficult to access external grant funding. Most major funders 
will not fund an organisation or a project if there is a break clause which could mean 
that the asset is removed from its intended use within a certain number of years. 
Community groups also have understandable concerns that changes in Council 
policy could result in them losing their premises.

143



12. In considering how best to deal with the issues arising from break clauses, the 
following options have been identified:

a) Automatic inclusion of a break clause with a year’s notice. 
b) Inclusion of a break clause accompanied by a set of specific circumstances which 

would lead to the clause being triggered.
c) Inclusion of break clauses at 10 and 20 years in line with the secure community 

centre leases.
d) Inclusion of a break clause that can be changed in cases where an external funding 

source requires a longer period of guaranteed tenure e.g. “if the community group 
obtain over £100,000 of external funding for an initiative that is formally endorsed by 
the Council’s Executive Director and Board Member for Communities the break 
clause will be removed for the period covered by the funding.” Sport England have 
confirmed they are comfortable with this clause. For other funders we may need to 
agree a specific waiver on a case by case basis, but this clause shows our intent and 
provides the ability to do so. 

e) Exclude the break clause for buildings that remain within their predicted lifespan for 
the duration of the lease.

13. It is proposed that options (a) and (d) should be developed as the standard lease 
policy for community organisations.

14.Most funders require the applicant to have a lease over 20 years for larger awards, 
so it is proposed that our standard community lease is 25 years.  

15. It is also proposed that officers and members should meet with groups that have a 
community lease each autumn to discuss the progress and challenges they have had 
over the past year and the plans for the year ahead, including opportunities for 
external funding. An update report will then be presented to CEB so elected 
members are fully updated on how these subsidies are being used. 

16.A lease will ordinarily have provisions for a rent review at set periods during the lease 
term and this is often a cause for concern for community groups. It is proposed that 
these increases should always be part of the budget setting process to make sure a 
One Council view is taken. When the Council increases rental costs and the 
community group’s rent is covered wholly or partially by a grant, the increased rental 
costs should be reflected in a commensurate increase in the grants budget; unless 
the Council takes a conscious decision in the budget setting process not to do so and 
to increase the costs of renting community focussed facilities. 

17.As part of its grants programme to support cultural organisations in the city, the 
Council currently provides annual rent subsidies to three organisations – Modern Art 
Oxford (£70,000), Arts at the Old Fire Station (£5,000) and Fusion Arts (£5,000). 
These organisations will be covered by the same arrangements that are set out 
above.

Environmental
18.We are consistently seeking to maximise the energy efficiency and environmental 

awareness of all tenants in community buildings.

144



Financial implications
19.Where the Council awards a subsidised community lease, it is making a decision to 

forego a potential higher rental income in exchange for increased social value. It is 
important that the level of subsidy should be transparent and that the social benefits 
are demonstrable so the Council can assess how well this investment meets its 
corporate objectives. 

20.The report is not requesting any adjustments to the current budget.  

Legal
21.The changes within the report will become clauses within community leases when 

they are put in place/ renewed. 

Level of risk
22.Appendix four includes the risk register 
Equalities impact 
23.The terms of all leases reflect the Council’s policy commitment to ensuring that all its 

community facilities are open to all and operate on a fully inclusive basis.  
Summary 
24.This report sets out a consistent and transparent approach to the granting of leases 

to community bodies that occupy Council-owned buildings and which are delivering 
services which are consistent with the Council’s policy objectives.

Report author Ian Brooke

Job title Head of Community Services 
Service area or department Community Services
Telephone 01865 252705
e-mail ibrooke@oxford.gov.uk 

Background Papers:  
1) Community Centres Strategy, 2016-2020 

2) Community Centre lease report, CEB Oct 2015 

145

mailto:ibrooke@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix one
Proposed lease terms for the four Community Associations currently 

holding over on protected leases

Bullingdon, Headington, Risinghurst and Florence Park Community Associations 
all have leases of their community centres under which they enjoy security of 
tenure under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. The contractual terms of these 
leases have all expired and the Associations are therefore “holding over” under 
the terms of their leases. The Associations are entitled to be granted new leases 
broadly on the same terms as their current leases but at a market rent. Under 
the current leases no rent is payable.

It is proposed that the new leases will be at a peppercorn rent. The leases will 
contain break clauses which either the Council or the Association may exercise 
on the 10th and 20th anniversary of the lease in order to protect the Council’s 
interest in the property and its use. If the Council were to exercise this provision, 
an Association would have a right of renewal at a market rent under the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1954.

The leases will contain detailed forfeiture clauses that the Council will be able to 
invoke if there are serious or prolonged breaches of the key requirements of the 
leases.

The key terms proposed for the leases are as follows:

 A protected tenancy under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954
 25 year term
 Each party has the right to break on the 10th or 20th anniversary (no 

pre-conditions attached to the break)
 For Florence Park, Headington and Risinghurst; if there is a major 

maintenance issue that would cost over £100,000 to rectify then the 
Council may break the lease

 The break clauses may be waived in the circumstances set out in 
section 12d of this report

 Peppercorn rent
 The Council will continue to meet the cost of external and structural 

repairs and the cost of buildings insurance
 Standard forfeiture (termination) provisions on a tenant’s breach of 

significant covenants or insolvency. In the event of remediable 
breaches, the tenant has 6 months in which to remedy the breach.

 Subletting of parts of the building may be permitted with the Council’s 
consent which will not be unreasonably withheld. Any subleases will 
not have security of tenure under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

147



This page is intentionally left blank



Organisation Start date End date Lease type Current rent paid Reason for discount /comments 

Grant funded to pay all rent

Rose Hill Advice Centre Feb-16 N/A Tenancy at Will £3,000 A free service to provide advice in a priority area

Agnes Smith Advice Centre £7,250 Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Donnington Doorstep Family Centre £700 They only pay a ground rent as they own the building 

Film Oxford £5,000 Their work supports the Council's Cultural Strategy 

Modern Art Oxford £70,000 Their work supports the Council's Cultural Strategy 

Oxford Community Work Agency £8,100 Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Emmaus Oxford £5,000 Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Reduced rent 

Leys CDI N/A Tenancy at will £11,500 Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

No rent 

Community Associations with 

security of tenure):

West Oxford May-17 May-24
Protected 

lease
Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Bullingdon Sep-01 Sep-06
Protected 

lease
Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Headington Mar-03 Mar-08
Protected 

lease
Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Risinghurst Mar-02 Mar-12
Protected 

lease
Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Florence Park Jul-00 Mar-12
Protected 

lease
Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Community Associations with no 

security of tenure (x8):

Regal Mar-87
On 12 

months 
Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Donnington Nov-86

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Littlemore

On 12 

months 

notice 

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Cutteslowe Oct-86

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

South Oxford Nov-86

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Barton Nov-86

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

NOA Oct-86

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Asian Cultural Centre

Jun-90

On 12 

months 

notice

Licence Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Leisure centres 2009 2024 None secure Nil The lease is part of the leisure contract with Fusion Lifestyle 

Parasol N/A N/A Tenancy at will Nil Their work supports the Council's corporate objectives 

Not yet agreed

Sports pavilions

Old Fire Station

Donnington Scouts

Rose Hill Scouts

Ridgefield Scouts

Falcon Donnington Rowing Club

Key:-

Tenancy at will - The tenure can be terminated at ant time by either the landlord, or tenant and it exists without a contract, or lease

Protected lease - The lease is protected under the 1954 Landlord & Tenant Act 

License - Licenses provide permission for a property to be used, without giving security of tenure.

Appendix 2: Community leases (last updated 15.5.2017)

149



This page is intentionally left blank



.

Appendix 3 – Criteria for the award of a community lease

The applicant organisation is:

 Contributing to the agreed Council priorities for communities (alignment of objects 
and strategy/work to Council priorities)

 Delivering services to City residents on an open and equal basis, taking account of 
the need to tackle the social and economic inequalities in our communities 

 . 
 Making clear efforts to deliver a good quality of service provision, including outreach, 

and continuous improvement policies 

 Well- managed and effective and conducts regular self-evaluations

 Able to show sound finances and a clear financial and business plan

 Willing to provide the Council with an annual update on its performance and the 
plans it has for the year ahead in a face to face meeting

 Not realistically able to pay market rent without detriment to service delivery.

151



This page is intentionally left blank



Title
Risk 

description

Opp/ 

threat
Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status

Progress 

%
Action Owner

Corporate 

objectives 

Delivery risk Threat Community leases do 

not maximise asset 

support the Council's 

objectives 

The Council does 

not obtain good 

value from its 

community assets 

Oct 2016 Head of 

Service

3 2 2 2 2 1 None We have created a new 

criteria for community 

leases that we will 

publish on our website. 

The lease holders also 

need to have a plan in 

place,

On-going 

governance

Open 75% Communities 

Officer

Lease charges Delivery risk Threat The Council is unable to 

afford to provide 

premises below market 

rents 

Community 

Associations are 

unable  to afford 

the lease charges 

March 201 6 Head of 

Service

3 2 3 2 3 2 None In-depth understanding 

of the social value.  

Business plans in place 

that are effectively 

delivered. 

On-going 

governance

Open 50% Communities 

Officer

External 

funding 

Delivery risk Threat The unsecure leases  

make it hardener to 

obtain external funding 

Community 

organisations are 

not able to attract 

external funding 

Oct 2016 Head of 

Service

3 2 2 2 2 1 None We have developed a 

clause that enables the 

break clause to be 

removed for the period 

of the external funding 

On-going 

governance

Open 75% Communities 

Officer

Security of 

tenure

Delivery risk Threat The new lease 

conditions are not 

agreeable to community 

groups 

The leases are 

not progressed 

and community 

associations do 

not have security 

and are unable to 

attract external 

funding 

Oct 2016 Head of 

Service

3 2 3 2 3 1 None We have consulted and 

listened to community 

groups and balanced 

their needs with the 

financial responsibilities 

of the Council

On-going 

governance

Open 80% Communities 

Officer

Transparency 

and fairness

Delivery risk Threat Preferential agreement 

is given to certain 

community groups 

The Council's 

subsidy is not 

effective targeted 

where it will have 

the greatest 

impact 

Oct 2016 Head of 

Service

3 3 3 2 2 1 None We have created a new 

criteria for community 

leases that we will 

publish on our website. 

The leases also need to 

have a plan in place that 

is reviewed annually.

On-going 

governance

Open 75% Communities 

Officer

Social value Delivery risk Threat Lack of effective 

resources such as 

skilled trustees

Facilities do not 

maximise the 

social value

13 Mar 17 Head of 

Service

3 2 2 2 2 2 None Robust leases and 

support to Community 

Associations in line with 

the Community Centres 

Strategy 

On-going 

governance

Open 70% Communities 

Officer

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

Appendix Four: Community leases 

Risk Implications

153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 20 June 2017
Report of: Assistant Chief Executive
Title of Report: Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report 2016/17

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To report on the progress made on the Oxford City 

Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2016/17
Key decision: Yes 
Executive Board 
Member:

Cllr Tom Hayes, Board Member for Community Safety 

Corporate Priority: Strong and Active Communities
Policy Framework Corporate Plan

Recommendation: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Note the key achievements of the Safeguarding work delivered through 
Oxford City Council  during 2016/17

2. Agree the Safeguarding Action Plan 2017/18 set out in Appendix 1

Appendices
Appendix 1 Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2017/18
Appendix  2 Oxford City Council’s participation in Safeguarding Boards 

and Working Groups

Background 
1. For Oxford City Council safeguarding and the wellbeing of children and 

vulnerable adults is a corporate priority and the Council is actively striving 
towards best practice in this area of work. The Council is acutely aware that the 
needs in the city are very different to elsewhere in Oxfordshire. In particular in 
relation to abuse, neglect, PREVENT (the prevention of radicalisation 
programme), modern slavery, and the many other forms of exploitation. It is also 
aware of the impact of poverty on safeguarding risk.

2. Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is a core responsibility of 
Oxfordshire County Council. The development, delivery and quality monitoring of 
this area of service provision is the responsibility of the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

155

Agenda Item 7



Children Board (OSCB) and Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board (OSAB). 
Oxford City Council is represented on both of these Boards and as a key partner 
actively contributes to safeguarding and the promotion of health and wellbeing of 
children and vulnerable adults within the city. 

Introduction

3. This report aims to:
 Highlight the key achievements and progress made in relation to the 

safeguarding work delivered by Oxford City Council this year inclusive of 
the recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee on 16 June 2016.

 Share the results of the external safeguarding self-assessment 2016 
(Section 11).

 Focus on areas identified for further improvement in 2017/18: collated 
within an action plan attached at Appendix 1.

 Consider challenges and risks in relation to external service changes and 
actions identified within the plan.

Self-Assessment 2016 (Section 11)

4. The Council is legally required to complete an annual self-assessment to 
evidence standards in the quality of our safeguarding work. This year the Self- 
Assessment Audit was a joint audit between the OSCB and OSAB. The Council 
is required to evidence its standard of work in the following areas:

1. Leadership, Strategy and Working Together
a. Senior management have commitment to the importance of 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and adults 
with care and support needs

b. There is a clear statement of the agency’s responsibility 
towards children and adults with care and support needs and 
this is available to all staff

c. Local Safeguarding Board Effectiveness

2. Commissioning, Service Delivery and Effective Practice
a. Service development takes into account the need to safeguard 

and promote welfare and is informed, where appropriate, by the 
views of children and adults with care and support needs & 
families

b. There is effective inter-agency working to safeguard & promote 
the welfare of children and adults with care and support needs

c. There is effective information sharing
d. Commissioning arrangements are robust, effective and cost-

effective
e. Thematic Issue: Transport of children and adults with care and 

support needs

3. Performance & Resource Management
a. There is effective training on safeguarding & promoting the 

welfare of children and adults with care and support needs for 
all staff working with or, depending on the agency’s primary 

156



functions, in contact with children and adults with care and 
support needs

b. Safer recruitment procedures including vetting procedures and 
those for managing allegations are in place

4. Outcomes for, and Experiences of, People Who Use Statutory 
Services

a. People’s experiences of safeguarding

Oxford City Council’s Assessed Standards were as follows:

Standard\Agency 1A 1B 1C 2A 2B 2C 2D 2E 3A 3B 4A
Oxford City 
Council B G B G G B G B G B G

Blue – the standard/compliance point is fully met and can be evidenced as completed
Green – the standard/compliance point is near completion or fully met but cannot be 
evidenced at this point. 
Amber – the standard/compliance point is not met but work has begun or work is 
underway but has experienced delays in completion. 
Red – the standard/compliance point is not met, work is not underway and there are 
issues with commencing work.

The full Section 11 Assessment is available in the link below

www.oxford.gov.uk/safeguardingselfassessment 

Key achievements to note 2016/17

5. The Action Plan 2016/17 included recommendations from:

 The Section 11 Self-Assessment
 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board Serious Case Review
 Oxford City Council’s Scrutiny Committee

6. All of the actions identified within Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 
2016/17 have been completed or are in progress. Details are provided below.

 Working in Partnership

7. The council’s external partnership working continues to strengthen through 
regular attendance at strategic and operational Boards and Working Groups. 
These include OSCB and OSAB Working Groups which drive forward the Boards 
key areas of work on Performance Management, Policy Development and 
Training. (See Appendix 2).

8. The Council’s Policy and Partnership Manager has also actively participated in a 
number of operational steering groups on behalf of the districts, including the 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and helped shape the new model for 
MASH. 

157

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/safeguardingselfassessment


9. Active participation in these groups provides the Council with an opportunity to 
ensure that it knows what changes are taking place, that it is clear about the 
impact of the changes on its service areas and that it is able to influence the 
development of services in the city.

Safeguarding Training Programme

10.Oxford City Council has a comprehensive safeguarding training package. Total 
number of staff that have received safeguarding training between 01/04/16-
31/03/17 is 624.
  

11.Participation in the appropriate level of safeguarding training is compulsory and 
this is tracked and monitored through Itrent (the Council’s Human Resources ICT 
System). 

12.A safeguarding training package has been developed and delivered for elected 
members through the year. All current members have attended one of these 
sessions.

13.Oxford City Council will be recognised within the OSAB annual report for its good 
practice in responding to the identified safeguarding training needs and actively 
sourcing and delivering it.

Licensing standards

14.Oxford City Council has led the development of the Joint Operating Framework 
for Taxi Licencing. The aim is to have standard requirements for safeguarding 
measures for all taxi services across the Oxfordshire local authorities. It includes 
an agreed level of checks, standard training packages and improved information 
sharing across agencies. This is now well developed and monitored by OSCB.

Language schools

15.Cllr Dee Sinclair and the Community Safety Team have played a key part in the 
Language School Forum this year, driving forward a set of actions to further 
develop partnerships with language schools and encourage a consistent 
safeguarding framework in language schools across the city. A full report on this 
work was presented to Scrutiny Committee in December 2016. 

Hotel Watch

16.Oxford City Hotel Watch was established to build closer relationships with 
Thames Valley Police, Oxford City Council and the hotel industry. It is aimed at 
helping to identify offences that take place in hotels and other forms of 
accommodation and to protect vulnerable people from exploitation.

Central recording system

17. It is essential moving forward that the Council is able to centrally collate concerns 
raised within teams as well as external referrals /requests for assessment/welfare 

158



checks. This would give the Council the ability to recognise pockets across the 
city that perhaps have high numbers of safeguarding concerns and be able to 
feed this knowledge into local plans when developing service provision.
  

18.This will remain a priority for the year ahead as the Council has experienced 
challenges with the proposed IT system planned to enable us to implement a 
central recording system,. The problem stems from the need to ensure 
information contained within the system is secure. 

Safeguarding co- coordinator role

19.This role actively supports internal and external partnerships and has taken a 
lead in the support and progression of the Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan.

20.Areas of focus this year have been:

 Review and updating of internal training packages and undertaking an 
evaluation of the City Council’s Training Programme

 Securing funding and the delivery of ‘Mental Capacity Training’ for key frontline 
staff (to ensure that staff are aware of their legal responsibilities under the 
Mental Capacity Act and for them to have the knowledge to apply them in their 
everyday practice)

 Designing a format for a central data base for tracking concerns and referrals 
made

 Contributing to the development of external assessment tools and OSAB training 
packages

 Collating and presenting reports on behalf of the districts councils (on training)
 Working across the Council’s service areas to guide consistency of approach
 Facilitating and developing the role of the Named Safeguarding Officers Group
 Completion of the Section 11 Self- Assessment
 Completing a safeguarding audit of the Youth Ambition service.

Priorities to focus on 2017/18

21.The year ahead is one of challenge and change. The structure of Oxfordshire 
County Council’s services both for children and adults at risk have been 
redesigned. This has included closure of some prevention and early intervention 
services. The impact of these changes on children and vulnerable adults are as 
yet unclear and will need to be closely monitored and evaluated.

22.  These changes and the developing outcomes will influence our safeguarding 
responsibilities and work priorities in the coming year. The Safeguarding Action 
Plan 2017/18 is attached as Appendix 2.

23.The key areas of focus include:

 Ensuring that our policies and procedures are up to date and reflect 
changes internally and externally.

159



 Ensuring that our Safeguarding Training Programme continues to meet 
the needs of staff , is kept up to date and evaluated.

 Ensuring that departmental safeguarding policy and procedures align with 
the corporate policy and procedures and introduction of a central reporting 
system.

 Developing a Safeguarding Communication Strategy that delivers key 
Safeguarding messages throughout the year (to staff and local residents) 
and to ensure that relevant information is provided in a child friendly 
format.

 Ensuring that there is effective and integrated working with the Oxford 
Community Safety Partnership Strategies and Plans.

 Reviewing procurement and grant processes to ensure that they are 
compliant with safeguarding requirements.

 Agreeing and prioritising which safeguarding assessment tools are to be 
used (for example Child Sexual Exploitation and Neglect) and to enable 
staff to use them effectively.

 Ensuring volunteers are provided with opportunities to have the 
safeguarding training they require. 

Risks and Challenges

24.Due to the fast pace of change, we will need to ensure:

 Changes to services, policies and procedures are well communicated to staff 
across the organisation 

 Staff are able to use the new assessment tools when required.
 The sharing of safeguarding information is not impacted by the changes taking 

place in Oxfordshire County Council’s service delivery.
 IT structure/support is able to support the implementation of a central recording 

system without additional cost.

Financial implications

25.The Council has committed within the budget to make an annual contribution 
towards the running costs of the OSCB of £10,000 and the OSAB of £10,000. 
The City Council has two active trainers who contribute to the OSCB training 
pool. 

Legal issues

26.There are no legal implications arising from the report.

Equalities impact 

27.There are no proposed changes to Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Policy.

160



Report author Daniella Granito

Job title Safeguarding Coordinator
Service area or department Assistant Chief Executive
Telephone  07483010758
e-mail dgranito@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers:
1 Oxford City Council Section 11 Self- Assessment 2016

161



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Oxford City Council Safeguarding Action Plan June 2017-June 2018

Key Influences/inputs
 Corporate Plan
 The Section 11 Self-Assessment Audit
 Woods Review
 OFSTED Report Oxfordshire County Council
 Youth Ambition Audit 
 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board (OSCB) Business Plan
 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults (OSAB) Business Plan
 City Council Children and Young Peoples Plan 

This year the Section 11 Self- Assessment Audit was a joint audit between the OSCB and OSAB. It was also more thorough than it 
has been previously.

The Action Plan Framework is based on the Section 11 Standards and it is aimed at moving the Council from a ‘green’ rated 
standard to a ‘blue’ rated standard (from good to best practice).

Area identified 
for Improvement

Action Measure Outcome Impact Lead Completio
n date

Leadership,
Strategy and 
working 
together

Policy and Procedure

Review positions/responsibilities in relation to 
attendance to identified safeguarding meetings.

Scope out strategic and 
operational meetings. 
Discussion and 
allocation of meetings.

Agreed role 
attendance to each 
meeting. Regular 
attendance.

Emerging 
issues 
identified/com
municated and 
managed.

VJ June 2017

163



Complete a review of Oxford City Council 
Safeguarding Policy. Integrate the key external 
service changes

Implement a central recording system for 
safeguarding concerns (SharePoint)

Provide training to staff on the new reporting 
system

Integrate the agreed safeguarding champion 
structure

Draft to progress through 
programme boards.
New reporting 
programme up and 
running

Continue to explore 
options for IT system

.Dates set and available

Identified staff to 
complete bespoke 
champion training

Active new policy 
available on 
website

Quarterly report 
evidencing use of 
system, 

Guidance manual 
for staff on 
reporting online 
available on 
intranet
Delivered training 
across City Council 
departments on 
using on line 
system

Active champions, 
providing one to 
one advice and 

One clear 
policy being 
applied across 
departments 
standardised 
consistent 
approach.

Ability to 
evidence 
referral 
journey. Staff 
knowledgeable 
and up to date 
with process 
and procedure. 

Ability to 
identify under 
and over 
reporting in 
vulnerable 
groups and 
departments

Resilient 
structure. 
Stronger 

DG

DG

LG/
GW

DG

June 2018

June 2018

June 2018

164



Develop in partnership with OSCB safeguarding 
templates for community organisations

Align department safeguarding policy and 
procedure with central functions. Ensure input 
from relevant departments.

Integrate safeguarding into the work of the  
Sustainable City Board

Communications

Develop a safeguarding communication strategy 
that delivers relevant key messages throughout the 
year

Attendance to workshop. 
Participate in draft 
templates.

Visible on the agenda of 
City Executive Board

Put forward proposal to 
Communications Team 
as silver priority for the 
coming year

guidance across 
Oxford City Council

Signed off template 
at OSCB training 
subgroup

Discussed and 
agreed at City 
Executive Board

Draft 
Communication 
Strategy for 
safeguarding and 

internal 
partnership 

Templates 
being used by 
resident 
associations, 
community 
groups 
commissioned 
through Oxford 
City Council

Organisational 
agreement

Visible current 
issues for staff. 
Raised 
awareness.

DG

VJ

DG

July 2017

165



Develop and design in collaboration with young 
people a safeguarding information inclusive of 
information on what safeguarding issues are and 
how to raise a safeguarding concern

Develop and design a children and young person 
friendly complaint information tool

Links to the Community safety partnership

Language schools
Review current plan and capacity commitment to 
language school work

Sessions with young 
people

Draft information 

.

key messaging 
throughout the year

Printed information 
readily available at 
sessions and on 
the internet.

Provide a clear 
structure for 
key messaging 
from serious 
case reviews 

Children and 
young people 
using services 
and have a 
raised 
awareness of 
safeguarding 
issues. Gained 
understanding 
of where to go 
for help and 
how to access 
it.

HL

HB

RA

Sept 17

?

166



Hotel watch/taxi licensing

Promote safeguarding of vulnerable adults and 
children in Hotels, Guesthouses & B’B’s across the 
city under the OSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Sub-
group and national campaign ‘Say Something if you 
See Something’.  
Domestic abuse

Child Sexual Exploitation and exploitation

Continue to work with OSCB CSE (Child Sexual 
Exploitation & Exploitation) Sub-group and 
Kingfisher Team in delivering the CSE Action plan 
aims

To develop effective community engagement to 
promote safeguarding and awareness of issues 
such as CSE, Human Trafficking and Prevent

Annual review of all 
hotels, Guesthouses, 
B&B’s and Short Let 
accommodation.  

Regular attendance at 
CSE sub-groups and 
associated meeting and 
carryout any agreed 
actions 

Develop an 
information sharing 
network to tackle 
the exploitation of 
vulnerable 
individuals with 
partners to reduce 
crime, identify gaps 
in safeguarding 
and identify 
relevant training or 
support agencies.  
Hold annual 
conference to 
highlight issues 
identified by the 
membership.  

Clear framework in 
place

Ability to 
recognise the 
signs of 
vulnerability 
and how to 
report it.  This 
would give 
owners/manag
ers/staff and 
visitor to feel 
confident of 
their stay in 
the city.

Children, 
Parent & 
Carers and the 
wider 
community are 
aware of the 
risks of CSE

LL

LL

LL

On-going

On-going

On going

167



Review further implications with regard to 
vulnerable adult’s responsibilities.

RA

Commissionin
g service 
delivery and 
effective 
practice

Visible current issues to staff to raise 
awareness. Provide a clear structure for key 
messaging from serious case reviews.

Complete a safeguarding Audit of Youth Ambition 
services.

Procurement
Review of safeguarding standards in relation to 
contracting and contract monitoring

Agreed programme of 
areas to cover

Complete audit
Written report with 
recommendations 
for consideration

DG/
HL

AD/
DP

June 17

Dec 17

168



Ensure all grant and commissioned services are 
required to and evidence suitable safeguarding 
policy and procedure before funding is committed.

Agree and prioritise which external assessment 
tools are to be used within Oxford City Council 
centrally and department specific.

Ensure staff attend the required training to enable 
them to effectively and confidentially use the tools 
within their roles.

Develop a consistent process across Oxford City 
Council delivering learning across the City Council 
from Serious case reviews.

Training

Annual review of training needs and content 

Measure training outcomes in practice and assess 

Included in written 
guidance and application 
process

Safeguarding officers 
Meeting held to discuss 
tools 
Identify central tools, 
department tools, staff 
clear about 
responsibilities, confident 
to use. 

Identify relevant training, 
advertise dates

Clear framework for 
delivering messages. 
Meaningful and relevant 
to services.

Agreed tools to 
use.
Available on 
keeping people 
safe page

Staff attending 
training

Quarterly sub 
training group 
meeting – plan and 
support the 
delivery and 
development of 
internal training 
packages

JT

169



effectiveness of training staff.

To promote the support available to staff through 
the Employee Assistance Programme ‘Work Well’ 
and to develop further support where required

Continued data reports to service heads from HR. 

Continue to Work with the OSCB and OSAB 
Training Groups/ workshops to develop training 
programmes that meet the needs of our staff.

Continue to deliver internal safeguarding 
awareness briefing throughout the year

Collate training 
completion figures at 
year end. Review on-
going training needs and 
refreshers continue to 
collate and evaluate 
feedback forms after 
sessions

Provide a collective 
report to 
safeguarding 
raining sub group 
to continually 
improve our 
training by listening 
to staff feedback

Safeguarding 
staff 
questionnaire 
evidence 
increase in 
staff using 
forms.

Performance 
and resource 
management

Ensure our volunteers are included in the 
opportunity to attend the safeguarding awareness 
briefing sessions.

Record attendance and completion

Centrally collate volunteer roles/information

Categorise volunteer  type
 Need for safeguarding training.
 Vulnerability/risk support

Information to be 
regularly provided to 
volunteers about 
safeguarding sessions 
available.

Expand key 
messaging and 
safeguarding 
updates and 
information to our 
community of 
volunteers.

ST

ST/
DG

170



Outcomes and 
experiences of 
service users 
using statutory 
services.

Have clear actions in relation to young carers ?

Ensure that staff who require it engage in the Think 
family approach agenda

Document Control

Document Oxford City Council
Safeguarding Action Plan 2017-18 

Owner Tim Sadler, Executive Director, Community Services

Author Daniella Granito
Safeguarding Co ordinator

Date last reviewed April 2017
Next Review Date 
Due 
Version 1

Name: ‘Oxford City Council Safeguarding Action Plan’

171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Oxford City Council participate in the following

Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Children Board

   Board

Executive

Performance and quality assurance

Training

Working Groups
Negelct
MASH

Serious Case Reviews and learning sessions

Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Board

Executive

Performance and quality assurance

Training

Working Groups
Vulnerable Adults

Community Safety Partnership

Board

CSE

Domestic Violence?

Hoarding

ChildrensTrust

Board

Education Attainment Working Group

Strategic Schools Partnership

173



This page is intentionally left blank



  Performance Summary   
Green = target met Scrutiny Committee Trends compare relative performance with 
Amber = within tolerance   Prd: previous month 
Red = outside tolerance    Prev Year End: previous March 
  Mar-2017 Year on Year: the same period from the previous year 
  
Measure Owner Result 

2015/16 
Latest Data Year End 

Target 
2016/17 

RAG Trends Comments 

Ref Description Target Result Prd 
Prev 
Year 
End 

Year 
on 

Year 
An Efficient and Effective Council   
  
BI002a The number of training 

places and jobs created as 
a result of Council 
investment and leadership 

Nigel 
Kennedy 

466 Number 470 
Number 

1009 
Number  

470 Number G    Year end result includes the City Deal funded Oxfordshire 
Apprenticeship figures for Oxford City over the last year 

BI002b The number of Council 
apprenticeships created 
through Council investment 
for those who live in Oxford 

Simon 
Howick 

22 Number 15 Number 21 Number 15 Number G 
 

      There is funding in place to run apprenticeship cohorts and they 
are on fixed term contracts for two years. We recruited 21 last 
September and they will continue until next September when we 
start recruiting again 

CS001 The % of customers 
satisfied at their first point of 
contact 

Helen 
Bishop 

81.95% 82.00% 88.59% 82.00% G       Customer satisfaction results in March achieved 89.98% 
satisfaction which means we finished the year on 88.59% 
satisfaction.  
 
1699 telephony customers (around 9% of our answered calls) 
provided feedback and rated satisfaction at 99.29%. 480 
customers surveyed the Web and rated satisfaction at 58.54%. 
Positive comments about our web pages were booking a bulky 
waste collection, Oxfords population and trial of free food caddy 
liners.  Negative comments were Contact Us page, Gas 
servicing, requesting additional or replacement recycling and 
waste bins, view and comment on planning applications. 
 
For February’s results both our telephony and web survey results 
were ranked in the Top 10 of the Gov-Metric league which 
benchmarks survey results across 70 different council’s 

FN033 Delivery of the council’s 
cost savings and income 
targets 

Nigel 
Kennedy 

Not 
Recorded 

1,758,000 
Number 

1,749,000 
Number 

1,758,000 
Number 

R   0 0 The outturn position on this performance indicator is marginally 
below target due to some income targets not being met and the 
budgeted procurement saving not being fully achieved in year 

WR001 Number of people moved 
into work by the Welfare 
Reform Programme 

Paul 
Wilding 

45 Number 39 Number 70 Number 39 Number G       A successful campaign to make people aware of the Benefit Cap 
change,  led to a large increase in caseload, and a 
corresponding increase in the number of people achieving 
employment outcomes 

BIT019i % all contact carried out 
online 

Helen 
Bishop 

26.3% 30.0% 34.1% 30.0% G       Close of year performance was 4.1% above target. This was 
delivered through a 33% increase in the volume of online 
transactions over 2015/16, a 6.4% reduction in telephone calls 
and a 17% reduction in face to face visits 

175

A
genda Item

 8



BIT021 Number of authorised 
procurement practitioners in 
Service Areas 

Caroline 
Wood 

22 Number 35 Number 31 Number  35 Number R     

 The corporate training programmes has been on hold due to 
staff changes within Procurement & Payments Team 

CE001 Car Park income received 
against target for the year 

Roy 
Summers 

£7,307,609 £7,386,243 £7,387,226 £7,386,243 G       Parking income has generally performed well over the last 
financial year, although there have been significant challenges in 
the city that have negatively impacted income. Car parks located 
in the north of the city were adversely affected by engineering 
work and patronage in the city centre was lower than anticipated, 
primarily due to the major Westgate construction project. 
However, despite these issues, the parking account has 
achieved budget expectation 

CE002 Commercial property 
income received against 
target for the year 

Jane 
Winfield 

£11,702,773 £9,000,000 £11,804,341 £9,000,000 G       The figure is the total amount of all invoices raised for the current 
year in respect of the commercial portfolio. Whilst Finance can 
provide a figure for income received which includes VAT, they 
are not currently able to provide a figure for income excluding 
VAT 

CH001 Days lost to sickness Simon 
Howick 

6.81 days 6.00 days 7.59 days 6.00 days R      The Council continues to manage attendance carefully and over 
the course of the last year revised the Attendance Management 
Policy to assist with reducing absence. Absence was particularly 
high over the Winter period and there have been a number of 
long term absences, which have been brought to conclusion 

CS003 Customers getting through 
first time on Councils Main 
Telephone Service lines 

Helen 
Bishop 

91.50% 95.00% 93.77% 95.00% R       Performance: –  
20,252 calls were offered into the Contact Centre in the month 
which was 4,464 calls more than February and 285 calls less 
than the same period last year. We answered 19,582 of them 
(96.69%) so finished the year on 93.77% of calls 
answered.  Apart from Elections, Tenancy and Universal Credit, 
all other services increased in call volume in March. In particular 
Council Tax, Benefits and Rents saw the biggest increases due 
to end of year bills going out. 
 
ICT: 
System issues have continued to cause downtime with 44 hours 
of CSOs time lost in March, mainly due to lagan connectivity 
issues.   
Progress has continued to be slow to roll out the laptops due to 
problems experienced when setting them up, including profiling 
issues. We also stopped the roll out for 3 weeks from mid-March 
whilst we focused on ensuring we had enough resource to cope 
with the impact of end of year bills going out. We have produced 
a report detailing all of our outstanding ICT issues and are 
working closely with them to address these 

CS025 Percentage of Business 
Rates Collected 

Tanya 
Bandekar 

98.32% 99.00% 97.87% 99.00% R      

Our reported result for 16/17 was 97.9% that was just over £1m 
short of the challenging target of 99%. However the net debit 
included £524k of debt relating to the old Westgate shopping 
area that remained in the 2010 Valuation List. Discounting that 
figure, collection rate moves on to 98.44%. During 16/17 
excellent progress was achieved in reducing the arrears carried 
forward from £3,313k to £1,226k, a drop of 63% 

176



CS054 Time taken to determine 
DHP applications 

Paul 
Wilding 

7 Working 
Days 

Not Set 9 Working 
Days 

Not Set G       Periodic value exceeds target due to end of year & need to 
renew DHP for existing customers. Target for year met 

LG002 Achieve the electoral 
registration household 
registration rate 

Jeremy 
Thomas 

96.90% 96.00% 96.2%  96.00% G    The target was achieved despite the difficulties experienced 
because of the way IER is conducted 

LP187 Effective delivery of the 
capital programme: >80% 
of development milestones 
achieved 

Ian Brooke 86% 86 % 88% 86 % G       Key milestones of Horspath have been achieved such as 
planning approval and S106 approval 

BV009 Percentage of Council Tax 
collected 

Tanya 
Bandekar 

97.61% 98.20% 97.87% 98.20% R      In 2016/17 we achieved our best ever result collecting 97.87% of 
the year’s net Council Tax. This eclipsed the previous best result 
of 97.67% in 2014/15. In monetary terms we were £259k short of 
the challenging target of 98.2%. With regular remittances being 
received from the two Bailiff Companies under the enforcement 
contract that started in Sept we are well equipped to tackle the 
challenges posed by 2017/18 where the average tax increase is 
4.2 

LP208 Town Hall Income Ian Brooke Not 
Recorded 

£582,000 £918,393 £582,000 G   0 0 Bottom line showing a profit of £561k versus a budget of £486k 

WR002 Customers supported to 
remove barriers to 
employment 

Paul 
Wilding 

Not 
Recorded 

234 
Number 

216 Number 234 Number R   0 0 Given that WR001 target was exceeded, under-recording is a 
partial cause for undershoot here. Many team customers also 
entered caseload from December 2016 & there has not been 
enough time to achieve results with those who are a long way 
from the labour market 

WR003 Customers supported to 
improve financial capability 

Paul 
Wilding 

Not 
Recorded 

100 
Number 

85 Number 100 Number R   0 0 Under-recording is a partial cause for undershoot here. Personal 
budgeting support referrals for Universal Credit have not been 
included in this measure in 2016/17 - they will be in 2017/18 as 
UC is rolled out to wider groups of claimants 

Cleaner Greener Oxford   
  
ED002 ED002: Implementation of 

measures to reduce the city 
council’s carbon footprint by 
5% each year 

Paul 
Robinson 

637 Tonnes 248 Tonnes 254 Tonnes 248 Tonnes G      

Completion of Multifunctional Devices upgrade across estate 
estimated reduction in associated CO2 emissions =18tCO2/year. 
Completion of the Covered Market High Street corridor LED 
lighting upgrade (31tCO2/year). Total reported = 49tCO2/year.  
Energy billing error savings: For the period 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017 there were 197 closed queries with a total saving 
value of £129,502 
 

NI191 The amount of non-
recyclable waste produced 
in the city per household 
decreases each year 

Geoff 
Corps 

409.50 kgs 423.00 kgs 392.69 kgs 423.00 kgs G      

Lots of work is being carried out to reduce refuse waste and 
increase recycling across the city. This data may change once 
year end reconciliation takes place 

NI192 Household waste recycled 
and composted (YTD) 

Geoff 
Corps 

46.90% 47.50% 48.83% 47.50% G     

Lots of work is being carried out to reduce refuse waste and 
increase recycling across the city. This data may change once 
year end reconciliation takes place 

LP205 Number of environmental 
enforcement activities 

Ian Brooke Not 
Recorded 

1,200 
Number 

1,284 
Number 

1,200 
Number 

G   0 0 Several enforcement operations conducted by the team this 
month to target environmental issues across the city 

177



NI195a Percentage of streets with 
litter levels that fall below 
Grade B (YTD) 

Geoff 
Corps 

0.00% 1.75% 0.00% 1.75% G     

Year to date 0 out of 960 streets inspected were below grade B. 
In March none of the 80 streets were below grade B 

NI195b Percentage of  streets with 
detritus levels falling below 
Grade B (YTD) 

Geoff 
Corps 

0.42% 3.00% 0.00% 3.00% G       Year to date 0 out of 960 streets inspected were below grade B. 
In March none of the 80 streets were below grade B 

NI195c Percentage of streets with 
Graffiti levels falling below 
Grade B (YTD) 

Geoff 
Corps 

0.21% 1.00% 0.00% 1.00% G       Year to date 0 out of 960 streets inspected were below grade B. 
In March none of the 80 streets were below grade B 

Meeting Housing Need   
  
PR002 Proportion of appeals 

allowed % on major 
developments averaged 
over 2 years 

Patsy Dell Not 
Recorded 

5% 0%  5% G 
 

  Performance reflects successful application of the Council’s local 
plan policies through the planning process, including at appeal 

NI157a Processing of planning 
applications as measured 
against targets for major 
application types 

Patsy Dell 74.0% 70.0% 100.0%  70.0% G 
 

   

Performance reflects successful application of the Council's local 
plan policies through the planning process, including at appeal 

NI157b Processing of planning 
applications as measured 
against targets for minor 
application types 

Patsy Dell 66.0% 70.0% 91.0% 70.0% G 
   

Performance reflects successful application of the Council's local 
plan policies through the planning process, including at appeal 

NI157c Processing of planning 
applications as measured 
against targets for other 
application types 

Patsy Dell 68.0% 80.0% 95.0% 80.0% G 
   

Performance reflects successful application of the Council's local 
plan policies through the planning process, including at appeal 

Strong and Active Communities   
  
LP119 The number people taking 

part in our youth ambition 
programme 

Ian Brooke 6,640 
Number 

5,500 
Number 

6,202 
Number 

5,500 
Number 

G       The year-end target of 5,500 has been exceeded with a year end 
provisional total of 6202. We are still waiting for some of the 
funded programmes to return their data and this total may rise 
further 

NI008 The % increase in the 
number of adults taking part 
in sport as measured by 
Sport England’s Active 
People Survey 

Ian Brooke 31.5% 31.8% 31.8% 31.8% G      

Sport England no longer use this indicator 

PC027 PC027: Increase the 
Number of people engaging 
with the Council’s social 
media accounts 

Peter Holt 2,500 
Number 

420 
Number 

3,519 
Number 

1,000 
Number 

G 0    

We increased the number of followers across the City Council’s 
accounts by 2,687, compared to a target of 1,000. The biggest 
increases were on the corporate channels, but it’s pleasing to 
see that almost across the board follower numbers went up. 
Over the last months, the Communications Team has been 
training staff in how to better run their social media accounts 

PC004 PC004: Grow level of active 
participation in dance 
through programme of 

Claire 
Thompson 

9,485 
Number 

7,200 
Number 

12,478 
Number  

7,200 
Number 

G 
 

   Dance for Parkinson's - 170 
Baby Boogie - 252 
Spring Festival - 4,749 

178



events  
Activities over the year include Dancin' Oxford Spring, Summer & 
Autumn dance festival events, Dance for Parkinson's 
programme, outdoor dance platforms (e.g. Cowley Road 
Carnival & Christmas Light Festival) and Baby Boogie events 
meaning we have exceeded the target 

Vibrant and Sustainable Economy   
  
BI001 The % of Council spend 

with local business 
Caroline 

Wood 
64.90% 52.00% 35.00%  52.00%  R    The year-end figure does not include significant local spend on 

the Tower Block project. These figures will be available for the 
new financial year and we should be much closer to the target 

       
 

 

179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Committee Operating Principles 2017/18

Operating Principle Comment

10 Committee meetings are 
provided during the year to fit with 
the City Executive Board cycle.   

Meetings are provided in this way to allow pre-
decision scrutiny of City Executive Board 
decisions.

The Committee does not have to meet on all 
occasions provided and is able to add meetings 
at different times if this proves necessary.

Standing Panels and Review 
Groups will be commissioned to 
conduct more detailed scrutiny 
work.

The Scrutiny Committee will hold the Executive 
and Senior Officers to account publicly at 
committee meetings but will also set Standing 
Panels and Review Groups to consider 
selected issues in more detail. 

Standing Panels will be set each year and will 
meet up to 5 times to consider items and 
decisions that fall within a specified remit. 
Review Groups will be established to consider 
a specific topic or issue over a series of 
meetings before reporting back to the 
Committee. 

The organisation has capacity to support either:
 2 Standing Panels and 3 Review Groups; or
 3 Standing Panels and 2 Review Groups

Standing Panels and Review 
Groups do not have to be 
politically balanced but the 
Committee will use the following 
guide for appointment.

All Standing Panels and Review 
Groups should have between 3 
and 6 elected members:
 3 members – 1 from each 

political group or 2 from the 
administration plus 1 other.  

 4 members – 1 from each 
political group plus another 
administration member.  

 5 members – 1 from each 
political group plus another 
administration member.  
Committee agree the 5th 
member.  

The membership of Standing Panels and 
Review Groups will be set by the Scrutiny 
Committee and drawn from all non-executive 
members.  

No substitutions will be allowed on Standing 
Panels or Review Groups.

181

Agenda Item 9



 6 members - 1 from each 
political group plus another 
administration member and 
another opposition member.  
Committee agrees the 6th 
member.  

If a political group does not wish to 
take up a place the Scrutiny 
Committee will agree the 
allocation of that place.

Detailed scrutiny work will be led 
by committee members.

Chairs of Standing Panels will be elected at the 
first meeting of the Standing Panel in the 
municipal year and must be a member of the 
Scrutiny Committee. In the event that a 
Standing Panel is unable to elect a Chair, this 
decision will be referred to the next meeting of 
the Scrutiny Committee.

The Scrutiny Committee will appoint Chairs of 
Review Groups and where possible, these 
should also be members of the Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Chairs of Standing Panels, Review Groups and 
any other themed Lead Members appointed by 
the Scrutiny Committee will report back to the 
Committee on progress and outcomes.

Scrutiny Chairs will be invited to present their 
reports and recommendations to the City 
Executive Board.

Standing Panels may have a 
degree of autonomy from the 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

The general principle is that the Scrutiny 
Committee commissions and scopes the work 
of Standing Panels and Review Groups and 
therefore has final agreement on their 
recommendations. There may be occasions 
where this is not possible and Standing Panel 
reports will go directly to decision makers, e.g. 
reports that relate to a City Executive Board 
decision. 

All scrutiny reports to the City Executive Board 
that do not relate to a decision on the Council’s 
Forward Plan and are not time critical will go to 
the Scrutiny Committee for final approval first, 
unless the Committee agrees otherwise.
  

182



As a first principle all scrutiny will 
be done in public. 

Standing Panel meetings will be open to the 
public.  

Review Groups will meet in public or private as 
the subject matter dictates.

The scrutiny work plan will consist 
of a number of issues for 
consideration informed by 
consultation with all councillors 
and Senior Officers.  A criteria 
agreed by the Committee will be 
used as a guide to prioritise 
consideration. 

Items will be taken forward as resources allow 
and scoped before Review Groups are 
commissioned.

The scrutiny work plan will be reviewed at every 
meeting so that it can be adjusted to reflect the 
wishes of the Committee and take account of 
any changes to the latest Forward Plan.

The management of the scrutiny 
work plan will be with the whole 
Committee with the Chair and 
Vice-Chair taking an 
“organisational role” between 
meetings.
 

The Forward Plan will continue to be used as a 
tool to select items for pre-decision scrutiny.

Scrutiny Members or any 4 other members will 
be able to put an item on the agenda of a 
Scrutiny Committee.  All Councillor Calls for 
Action and Call Ins will be considered at a 
public meeting of the Scrutiny Committee.

Members of the public can also suggest a topic 
for inclusion in the scrutiny work plan.

Scrutiny will provide as much notice as possible 
(min. 6 weeks) when  commissioning reports 
from the organisation.

Residents and other specialists 
will be co-opted onto the 
Committee, Standing Panels and 
Review Groups as the subject 
matter dictates.  

If the Committee feel that a Standing Panel, 
Review Group or Committee debate will benefit 
from the advice or views of a citizen or expert 
these individuals can be appointed as non-
voting members. 

Residents and experts can also be invited to 
provide evidence to scrutiny.

Communication The Scrutiny Chair will report regularly to 
Council on the work of the Scrutiny Committee.  
The Committee may also wish to produce an 
annual report.

183



This page is intentionally left blank



Preparation for the 2017/18 Scrutiny Work Plan

The Scrutiny Committee agrees a work plan every year detailing selected issues that affect Oxford or its people.  Time is allowed within this plan to 
consider topical issues as they arise throughout the year as well as City Executive Board decisions.  Listed below are items outstanding from the 
previous plan, items the Committee has previously asked for and new suggestions provided by members and officers. 

When selecting and prioritising items for inclusion in the scrutiny work plan, members are asked to apply the following criteria:
- Is the issue controversial / of significant public interest? (C)
- Is it an area of high expenditure? (E)
- Is it an essential service / corporate priority? (P)
- Can Scrutiny influence and add value? (I)

To guide the Committee in its decision making the Scrutiny Officer has rated the items against these criteria – the results are not intended to 
represent the views of the Committee:

2 = Yes / High 
1 = Moderate / Indirectly 
0 = None / Little

Items for Scrutiny Committee

Outstanding items 
from 2016/17

CEB 
item Description & reason outstanding Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
1. Disabled Students’ 

Allowance / support 
for young disabled 
people

No To consider the impacts of cuts to Disabled 
Students’ Allowance in the city / take a wider look 
at support for young disabled people more 
generally. Not prioritised for review.

Andrew Brown, 
Scrutiny Officer

2 1 1 0 4 Do not include 
/ Review 
Group 

2. Assessing disabled 
impacts in planning

No To consider how the Council assesses the 
impacts on disabled people of new developments 
and changes of use. Slipped due to capacity.

Patsy Dell, Head of 
Planning & Regulatory 
Services

2 1 2 2 7 Commission 
report

3. Oxford Design 
Review Panel 

No To consider the work and effectiveness of the 
Oxford Design Review Panel. Delayed to later in 
2017 due to a contract review.

Patsy Dell, Head of 
Planning & Regulatory 
Services

2 1 2 1 6 Commission 
report

4. NHS Sustainability & 
Transformation Plan 
(STP)

No To consider health transformation plans and 
Oxford’s health priorities to feed into the phase 2 
consultation. Added mid-year.

Andrew Brown, 
Scrutiny Officer

2 1 1 1 5 Do not include 
/ Refer to 
health scrutiny

185

A
genda Item

 10



5. East Oxford 
Community Centre 
Scheme

Yes To present an improvement scheme for the East 
Oxford Community Centre following public 
consultation. Dependent on CEB timetable.

Vicky Trietline,
Development Project
Management Surveyor

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

6. Sustainability 
Strategy 2017

Yes The report will recommend approval of the draft 
strategy for public consultation. Timing dependent 
on CEB timetable.

Mai Jarvis,
Environmental Quality 
Team Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

7. City Centre Strategy Yes This report requests CEB to approve the City 
Centre Strategy. Timing dependent on CEB 
timetable.

Fiona Piercy, Assistant 
Chief Executive, 
Regeneration & 
Economy

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

8. Low emissions taxi 
infrastructure scheme

Yes The Council has been awarded funding for 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure for the use 
of hackney carriages and private hire taxis.
Timing dependent on CEB timetable.

Jo Colwell, Service 
Manager - 
Environmental 
Sustainability

1 2 1 1 5 Do not include

Annual / returning 
items

CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
9. Recycling No To consider annual recycling rates data and 

incentives aimed at increasing recycling.
Stuart Pohler, 
Recycling & Waste 
Operations Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Site visit

10. Guest houses No To reprioritise the original recommendations of 
the Guest Houses Review Group followed by a 
progress update report to the Committee.

Richard Adams,
Community Safety &
Resilience Manager

2 1 2 1 6 One panel 
meeting & 
update report

11. Devolution plans for 
Oxfordshire

No To consider a 12 month progress update on the 
implementation of the recommendations of the 
Devolution Review Group.

Caroline Green, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
update report

12. Health inequalities No To consider a 12 month progress update on the 
implementation of the recommendations of the 
Health Inequalities Panel.

Val Johnson, Policy & 
Partnerships Manager

2 1 2 1 6 Commission 
update report

13. Equality and diversity 
in the Council 
workforce

No To consider a 12 month progress update on the 
implementation of the recommendations of the 
Equality and Diversity Review Group.

Chris Harvey, OD, 
Learning & HR Support 
Manager

2 1 2 1 6 Commission 
update report

14. Council performance 
(3 items)

No To track Council performance on a quarterly basis 
against a selection of corporate and service 
measures.

Jan Heath, Business 
Development & 
Support Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
reports

15. Discretionary 
Housing Payments 
(DHP) spend

No To monitor Discretionary Housing Payments 
spend mid-way through the year.

Paul Wilding, 
Programme Manager 
Revenue & Benefits

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

186



16. Public Spaces 
Protection Orders 
(PSPOs)

No To consider data on the numbers of interventions 
and enforcement actions taken 

Richard Adams,
Community Safety &
Resilience Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

17. Public safety and 
addressing ASB on 
Oxford’s waterways

No To consider a progress report one year on from 
the CEB decision to focus on addressing issues 
at four identified hotspots.

Richard Adams,
Community Safety &
Resilience Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

18. Graffiti No To consider the graffiti and how the Council can 
remove unwanted graffiti and receive an update 
on graffiti prevention projects.

Doug Loveridge 
(Streetscene) and 
Alison Cassidy (ASBIT) 

2 1 2 2 7 Commission 
report 

19. Fusion Lifestyle 
performance 16/17

No To consider an annual performance dashboard 
for leisure services in the city.

Lucy Cherry, Leisure & 
Performance Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report

20. Air Quality No To consider the Oxford Annual Status Report for 
2016, progress in addressing poor air quality & 
partnership working.

Jo Colwell, 
Environmental 
Sustainability Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report 

21. Oxfordshire Growth 
Board

No To monitor agendas and minutes published by the 
Growth Board.

Andrew Brown, 
Scrutiny Officer

2 1 1 1 5 Do not include 
/ Appoint 
observer

22. Review of DHP 
Policy

Yes To propose changes to the Discretionary Housing 
Payment Policy

Paul Wilding, 
Programme Manager 
Revenue & Benefits

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

23. Planning Annual 
Monitoring Report 
2016/17

Yes To consider the Planning AMR for 2016/17 before 
it is presented to CEB.

Mark Jaggard, Planning 
Policy Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

24. Update on the 
Corporate Plan 2016-
2020

Yes To consider an update on the Corporate Plan 
before it is presented to CEB.

Caroline Green, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

25. Commissioned 
Advice Strategy 
2018-2021

Yes To update the Board on the progress made in 
developing a new commissioned advice strategy.

Paul Wilding,
Programme Manager 
Revenue & Benefits

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

26. Grant Allocations to 
Community & 
Voluntary Orgs18/19

Yes To consider the proposal for next year’s grant 
allocations before it is presented to CEB for 
decision.

Julia Tomkins, Grants 
& External Funding 
Officer

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

27. Grant Allocations – 
Monitoring Report for 
2016/17

Yes A monitoring report on the reported achievements 
resulting from grant allocations to community and 
voluntary groups

Julia Tomkins, Grants 
& External Funding 
Officer

2 2 2 1 7 CEB report to 
Committee

28. Fusion Annual 
Service Plan 18/19

Yes To consider the annual service plan for leisure 
services in the city before it is presented to CEB.

Lucy Cherry, Leisure & 
Performance Manager

2 2 2 1 7 CEB report to 
Committee

187



New suggestions CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
29. Impacts of the 

Westgate Shopping 
Centre 

No To consider the impacts of the new Westgate 
Centre on the city centre economy including 
parking and city centre management.

Fiona Piercy; 
Regeneration 
Programme Director

2 2 2 1 7 Review Group 
/ Commission 
Report

30. Restorative justice No To consider the use of restorative justice to 
resolve low level cases of antisocial behaviour, 
and training and coordinating volunteers in RJ.

Richard Adams,
Community Safety &
Resilience Manager

2 1 2 1 6 Review group / 
Commission 
Report

31. Childhood obesity No To investigate childhood obesity in Oxford and 
how the Council could support tackling this.

Andrew Brown, 
Scrutiny Officer

2 1 1 1 5 Review group / 
Refer to Heath 
Scrutiny

32. Streetscene services No To consider the performance of Streetscene 
services.

Doug Loveridge, 
Streetscene Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Site visit

33. Dog fouling No To consider the issue of dog fouling. Doug Loveridge, 
Streetscene Manager

2 1 2 2 7 Consider in 
Streetscene

34. Oxford Town Hall No To consider how to improve the profile and 
accessibility of the Town Hall to the public.

David Hunt, 
Commercial Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report

35. Planning 
enforcement

No To consider how the Council enforces breaches 
of planning conditions.

Patsy Dell, Head of 
Planning & Regulatory 
Services

2 1 2 2 7 Commission 
report

36. Oxford Living Wage No To consider how the Council is promoting the 
Oxford Living Wage to local employers and what 
more can be done.

Caroline Green, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report

37. Impacts of benefit 
changes

No To consider the impact of benefit changes on 
people in oxford and council tax and rent arrears.

Tanya Bandekar; 
Revenue & Benefits 
Service Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Consider in 
DHP and Rent 
Arrears items

38. Isolation among the 
elderly

No To consider the issue of social isolation among 
older people in Oxford and how the Council could 
provide support and add value.

Ian Brooke, Head of 
Community Services

2 1 2 1 6 Commission 
report 

39. Residents’ parking No To consider whether and where more controlled 
parking zones are needed if a workplace parking 
levy is introduced in the city.

Shaun Hatton, Chief 
Operations Manager

2 1 1 0 4 Do not include

40. School places No To consider the number and distribution of school 
places.

Andrew Brown, 
Scrutiny Officer

2 1 1 0 4 Do not include

41. Review of 
Community Grants 
programme

Yes To request agreement for an approach which 
expands the 3 year Community and Voluntary 
Sector grant programme from April 2018

Julia Tomkins, Grants 
and External Funding 
Officer

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Committee

188



Items for Housing Panel meetings

Outstanding items 
from 2016/17

CEB 
item Description & reason outstanding Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
42. Leaseholder 

relationships
No To consider relationships with leaseholders 

including the views of individual leaseholders.
Delayed due to court proceedings.

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report

43. Regulating the 
private rented sector

Yes To consider options to designate a Selective 
Licensing scheme in the City to improve the 
management of properties in the private rented 
sector.  Timing dependent on CEB timetable.

Ian Wright, 
Environmental Health 
Service Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

44. Flexible tenancies Yes To scrutinise any decisions on the local 
implementation of national plans to end secure 
tenancies and introduce flexible tenancies.
Timing dependent on CEB timetable.

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 1 7 CEB report to 
Panel

Annual / returning 
items

CEB
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
45. Housing 

Performance 
(3 items)

No To consider quarterly reports on performance 
against a set of selected housing measures.

Stephen Clarke, Head of 
Housing

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
reports

46. Tenant involvement No To consider a 12 month progress update on the 
implementation of the Panel’s recommendations 
on tenant involvement.

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
update report

47. University housing 
needs

No To consider how the Panel’s recommendations 
have been taken forward in the Local Plan 
Preferred Options document

Mark Jaggard, Planning 
Policy & Design, 
Conservation &Trees 

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
update report

48. Tenant satisfaction No To consider the outcomes of any tenant surveys 
commissioned by the Council. 

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

49. Rents performance No To monitor Council rents performance including 
current and former tenant arrears.

Tanya Bandekar, 
Revenue & Benefits 
Service Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

50. Tower block 
refurbishment 
programme

No To consider progress updates on the Tenant 
Scrutiny Panel’s review of the tower block 
refurbishment programme.

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Tenant rep to 
update Panel 
on progress

189



51. Housing Investments 
– update report

Yes To consider an update report on the action plan 
and outputs of the housing investments 
programme.

Martin Shaw, Property 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

52. Allocation of 
Homelessness 
Prevention Funds in 
2018/19

Yes To agree the allocation of the homelessness 
prevention funds with the purpose of meeting 
the objectives of the homelessness strategy.

Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

53. Home Choice Rent 
Guarantee Scheme 
Pilot Review

Yes Review of the 2 year pilot (using 18 months of 
data as needed) to know if this pilot is to 
continue.

Paul Wilding, Revenue & 
Benefits Programme 
Manager

2 1 2 2 7 CEB report to 
Panel

New suggestions CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
54. Tenancy 

Management
No To consider TM functions including void property 

management and changes to the management 
of issues in sheltered schemes.

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

55. Building the housing 
for the future

No To consider the need to build homes fit for the 
future and the need to provide accommodation 
for the increasing older population with 
compound needs including dementia.

Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report

56. Impacts of foreign 
investors on housing 
availability

No To consider the impact of foreign investors and 
other absent owners on Oxford's housing 
availability.

Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
report 

57. Tenancy Strategy & 
Policy Statement

Yes To request CEB approval to go out to public 
consultation on the draft Tenancy Strategy & 
Policy Statement 2018

Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

58. Housing and 
Homelessness 
Strategy

Yes To consider the consultation draft and final 
combined housing and homelessness strategy.

Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

59. Draft Empty Property 
Strategy

Yes To consider the consultation draft and final 
empty property strategy.

Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

190



Items for Finance Panel meetings

Annual / returning 
items

CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
60. Budget 2018/19 Yes To review the Council’s annual budget, medium 

term financial plan, HRA business plan, capital 
programme and fees and charges.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 2 2 2 8 Review group

61. Budget Review 
2017/18 
recommendations

No To consider a 12 month update report on the 
implementation of the Panel’s Budget Review 
2017/18 recommendations.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

1 2 2 2 7 Commission 
update report

62. Fundamental Service 
Reviews

No To consider the outcomes of year 2 of the 
Council’s four year programme of reviewing how 
services are delivered.

Jan Heath, Business 
Development & Support 
Manager

1 2 2 2 7 Commission 
report

63. Brexit
(2 items)

No To monitor and consider the impacts of Brexit on 
the Council and the local economy.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 2 2 1 7 Commission 
reports

64. Budget monitoring 
(3 items)

Yes To monitor spend against budgets and projected 
outturn on a quarterly basis.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

1 2 2 2 7 CEB reports to 
Panel

65. Capital Strategy 
2018/19

Yes To consider the Council’s Capital Strategy for 
2018-19 and the capital gateway controls.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

1 2 2 2 7 CEB report to 
Panel

66. Treasury 
Management: Annual 
report

Yes The report is submitted twice a year:
·December 2017 – Half Year
·September 2018 – Full Year

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy Manager

1 2 2 2 7 CEB reports to 
Panel

67. Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 2018/19

Yes To present the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2018/19 together with the Prudential 
Indicators.

Bill Lewis, Financial 
Accounting Manager

1 2 2 2 7 CEB reports to 
Panel

New suggestions CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
68. Building Control No To consider the competitiveness of the Council’s 

Building Control service and options for 
increasing the service’s market share.

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy Manager

1 2 2 2 7 Audit & Gov 
report to Panel

69. Monitoring social 
value

No To consider the case for integrated financial, 
social and environmental accounting.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 1 1 2 6 Commission 
report

70. Council Tax Support 
Scheme

Yes To consider the annual review of the Council 
Tax Support Scheme.

Paul Wilding, Revenue & 
Benefits Programme 
Manager.

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

191



71. Discretionary 
Business Rates 
Support Scheme

Yes To consider the allocation of additional funding 
to support those businesses most affected by 
the revaluation.

Tanya Bandekar, 
Revenue and Benefits 
Service Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

72. Review of Financial 
Inclusion Strategy

Yes To update the Financial Inclusion Strategy 2014-
2017.

Paul Wilding, Revenue & 
Benefits Programme 
Manager 

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

Items for Scrutiny Shareholder Panel meetings

Item CEB 
item Description Lead Officer C E P I Sum Suggested 

approach
73. Housing Company 

business plan – 
sensitivity analysis

No To consider a sensitivity analysis of the OCHL 
business plan, modelling of different tenure mix 
options and responses to written questions.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Service

2 2 2 2 8 Commission 
report

74. Governance 
implications of 
Council owned 
companies

No To receive an update following consideration by 
the Audit and Governance Committee of the 
long term risks and governance issues 
associated with Council-owned companies.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

1 2 2 2 7 Audit & Gov 
report to Panel

75. Local Authority 
Trading Company

Yes Update to the business case for the creation of 
Oxford Direct Services. To consider:
• Which services should be transferred,
• Which if any staff should transfer,
• Client side arrangements as appropriate.

Simon Howick, Service 
Transformation Manager

2 2 2 2 8 CEB report to 
Panel

76. Shareholder / CEB 
decisions relating to 
Oxford City Housing 
Ltd

Yes To scrutinise decisions of the Shareholder 
Group for OCHL, which will meet at least 
annually to consider company performance and 
make shareholder decisions.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 2 2 2 8 Shareholder 
Group reports 
to Panel

77. Shareholder / CEB 
decisions relating to 
Oxford Direct 
Services

Yes To scrutinise decisions of the Shareholder 
Group for Oxford Direct Services, which will 
meet at least annually to consider company 
performance and make shareholder decisions.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 2 2 2 8 Shareholder 
Group reports 
to Panel

78. Shareholder / CEB 
decisions relating to 
OxWED

Yes To scrutinise decisions of the Shareholder 
Group for OxWED in respect of the Council’s 
50% holdings in the joint venture company that 
will redevelop the west end of the city centre.

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

2 2 2 1 7 Shareholder 
Group reports 
to Panel

192



Draft Agenda Schedules

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

4 JULY 2017 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS 

Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Lead Officer

Fusion Lifestyle 
performance 2016/17

No To consider an annual performance dashboard 
for leisure services in the city.

Leisure, Parks and Sport Lucy Cherry, Leisure & 
Performance Manager

City Centre Strategy Yes This report requests CEB to approve the City 
Centre Strategy.

Planning and Regulatory Fiona Piercy, Assistant 
Chief Executive

Grant Allocations – 
Monitoring Report for 
2016/17

Yes A monitoring report on the reported 
achievements resulting from grant allocations 
to community and voluntary groups

Customer and Corporate
Services; Culture and 
Communities

Julia Tomkins, Grants & 
External Funding Officer

Review of Community 
Grants programme

Yes To request agreement for an approach which 
expands the 3 year Community and Voluntary 
Sector grant programme from April 2018

Customer and Corporate
Services; Culture and 
Communities

Julia Tomkins, Grants and 
External Funding Officer

31 JULY 2017 (PROVISIONAL) – No reports currently scheduled

FINANCE PANEL 

6 JULY 2017 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS

Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Lead Officer

Budget monitoring No To note the outturn position at the end of the 
2016/17 Council year.

Finance, Asset 
Management and Public 
Health

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Services

Council Tax Support 
Scheme

Yes To consider the annual review of the Council 
Tax Support Scheme.

Customer and Corporate 
Services

Paul Wilding, Revenue & 
Benefits Programme 
Manager.

193



HOUSING PANEL 

10 JULY 2017 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS

Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Lead Officer

Housing Performance 
2016/17 quarter 4

No To consider performance against a set of 
selected housing measures at the end of the 
2016/17 Council year.

Housing Stephen Clarke, Head of 
Housing

University housing needs No To consider how the Panel’s recommendations 
have been taken forward in the Local Plan 
Preferred Options document

Planning and Regulatory Mark Jaggard, Planning 
Policy & Design, 
Conservation &Trees

Regulating the private 
rented sector

Yes To consider options to designate a Selective 
Licensing scheme in the city to improve the 
management of the private rented sector.  

Planning and Regulatory Ian Wright, Environmental 
Health Service Manager

Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy

Yes To consider the consultation draft and final 
combined housing and homelessness strategy.

Housing Dave Scholes, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager

Tower block refurbishment 
programme

No To consider progress updates on the Tenant 
Scrutiny Panel’s review of the tower block 
refurbishment programme.

Housing Bill Graves, Landlord 
Services Manager

SHAREHOLDER PANEL 

13 JULY 2017 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS

Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Lead Officer

Housing Company 
business plan – sensitivity 
analysis

No To consider a sensitivity analysis of the OCHL 
business plan, modelling of different tenure mix 
options and responses to written questions.

Finance, Asset 
Management and Public 
Health

Nigel Kennedy, Head of 
Financial Service

Local Authority Trading 
Company

Yes Update to the business case for the creation of 
Oxford Direct Services. 

Simon Howick, Service 
Transformation Manager

194


	Agenda
	3 Report back on recommendations
	4 Planning and Regulatory Services improvement plan
	Appendix 1 - Serrvice Improvement Plan Update
	Appendix 2 - Development Management Performance Overview

	5 Oxford Railway Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Appendix 1_Oxford Station SPD
	cover.pdf

	Appendix 2 _Oxford Station SPD SEA Screening FINAL
	Appendix 3 Risk_Assessment

	6 Community Leases
	Appendix 1_ Proposed lease terms
	Appendix 2 - list of community leases 15.5.17
	Appendix 3_  Criteria for the award of a community lease
	Appendix 4 -  Risk Implications community leases 15.5.17

	7 Safeguarding Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1_Safeguarding Action Plan 17-18
	Appendix 2_Safeguarding groups

	8 Performance Monitoring - quarter 4
	9 Scrutiny Operating Principles 2017/18
	10 Preparation of the 2017/18 Scrutiny Work Plan

